
National Park Authority  - 7 August 2020 1

BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

Dear Member

A meeting of the NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY will be held ON FRIDAY, 7TH 
AUGUST, 2020 AT 10.00 AM when your attendance is requested.

Link for Members:  https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154 

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins

Chief Executive

PLEASE NOTE THAT THE NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY FILMS AND
WEBCASTS ALL ITS PUBLIC MEETINGS LIVE  - 

http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/ 

Fire Evacuation Advice

In the event of a fire, please exit the building via the main staircase,

and assemble in the car park at Assembly Point 3

1 CORRESPONDENCE 

To receive and consider the attached Schedule of Correspondence and any 
recommendations thereon (below).

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 

Public Document Pack

https://call.lifesizecloud.com/2288154
http://www.breconbeacons.public-i.tv/core/


National Park Authority  - 7 August 2020 2

If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that you 
inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can be 
recorded in the minutes.
 

3 MINUTES (Pages 5 - 18)

1. To approve the following minutes and authorise the Chair to sign them
as a correct record:
 
National Park Authority 26 June 2020
 
2. To receive the following minutes:
 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 31 January 2020

4 PUBLIC SPEAKING 

To give opportunity for members of the public to address the meeting in 
accordance with the Authority’s Public Speaking Scheme.

 

5 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a verbal report on meetings and events attended by the Chairman 
since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

6 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S ANNOUNCEMENTS 

To receive a report from the Chief Executive on meetings attended and 
progress made on Authority business since the last meeting of the Authority.
 

A: DECISION ITEM: CHIEF EXECUTIVE

7 2020/21 BORROWING LIMIT APPROVAL AND PRUDENTIAL 
CODE INDICATORS (Pages 19 - 28)

8 EMPLOYER'S DISCRETIONS - POWYS PENSION FUND (Pages 29 - 
46)



National Park Authority  - 7 August 2020 3

9 APPOINTMENT OF SUPPLIERS (Pages 47 - 50)

10 STATE OF THE PARK REPORT 2020 (Pages 51 - 150)

11 WELL-BEING OBJECTIVES 2020/21 (Pages 151 - 154)

12 WELSH LANGUAGE PROMOTION STRATEGY (Pages 155 - 164)

B: DECISION ITEM: PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY

13 CRICKHOWELL AND LLANGATTOCK CONSERVATION AREA 
(Pages 165 - 322)

C: ITEMS FOR INFORMATION

14 MEMBER REPORTS 

To receive any reports from members.

15 GIFTS & HOSPITALITY 

16 ANY OTHER BUSINESS 

Any other business that the Chair considers of sufficient urgency and has been
notified to him in advance.

SCHEDULE OF CORRESPONDENCE

1. To receive apologies for absence

2. Such other correspondence as, in the opinion of the Chairman, is of such urgency 
as to warrant consideration.

Any enquiries about this agenda should be addressed to Julia Gruffydd or Angharad 
Hawkes 01874624337



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 1 26 June 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY NATIONAL 
PARK AUTHORITY HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 26TH JUNE, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr Ratcliffe (Chair), Cllr M Jones, Cllr Phil Pritchard, Cllr E Roderick, Cllr McNicholas and Cllr 
James Evans

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Torfaen

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr James Marsden, Mr Julian Stedman, Mr Christopher Coppock, Mrs Sue Holden, Ms Liz Davis 
and Canon Aled Edwards

In Attendance

Angharad HawkesSean O'Connor, Monitoring Officer
Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 2 26 June 2020

Apologies

39/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed all to the second remote meeting of the Authority.  He advised that 
the public could watch this live via a link from the website.
 
No apologies for absence were received but Mr Edwards advised he would need to leave 
at 11am for another meeting, but would rejoin after that.

40/20 Declarations of Interest 

Cllr G Thomas declared a personal interest in a report on Penderyn Quarry in the Chief 
Executive’s announcements, in relation to his role as local member and his ongoing 
involvement in the site.  The Monitoring Officer confirmed that this was not a decision 
item.

41/20 Minutes 

A member had advised of minor inaccuracies which would be amended before the 
minutes were published.
 

RESOLVED:  To approve the minutes of the NPA held on 26 
May 2020 as amended and authorise the Chair to sign them 
as a true record;

 

42/20 Public Speaking 

There were no requests to speak.

43/20 Chairman's Announcements 

The Chair reported that he had been working closely with the Chief Executive and the 
Welsh Government.

44/20 Chief Executive's Announcements 

The Chief Executive had circulated his report.
 
A member asked that the remit for a forthcoming meeting with Natural Resources Wales 
be broadened to include pollution and the impact on Special Areas of Conservation 
(SACs) in the Park.
 
In response to a question the Chief Executive advised that his announcements were not 
part of the agenda but an update for members on meetings he had attended; he asked 
members to liaise directly with officers if they had further questions.
 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 3 26 June 2020

Several members asked about the progress with the Change Programme and the need to 
make a start on reappraisal and engagement, to include recruitment to the Management 
Team, with the aim of this being in operation by December.  The Chief Executive 
responded that as the work on COVID-19 reduced he would be able to complete his 
report to members in the next two weeks.  A member pointed out that some changes 
had already been implemented through the reduction in funding to the Sustainable 
Development Fund.

45/20 Corporate Plan 2020/21 

Members considered the final draft of the Corporate Plan which had benefited from the 
input they had made at Policy Forum on 19 June.  A member commented that the 
reference to the Change Programme was still a little vague and that the indicator should 
be the conclusion of the changes.  The Chief Executive agreed that a completion date 
would be helpful for all concerned but a member disagreed and said that ways of working 
were still being discussed and a change in culture and leadership style would take time.
 
Reference was made to the historic landscape ambitions and the potential challenges of 
delivering that in the current year, given the impact of COVID-19.  There would be 
reliance on others to help in this delivery. A member felt that further discussion on the 
definition of historic environment was needed and it was agreed that this should be 
considered by the Policy Forum.  The review of national positions on heritage by Cadw 
and others was considered to be timely in this respect
 
The references to working with a wider range of local businesses was welcomed, as was 
the focus on young people.
 
In response to a question the officer advised that work on the 2021/22 Corporate Plan 
would commence in the autumn once the retrospective Annual Report had been 
completed.  The process had differed this year due to the review of the National Park 
Management Plan.  The Chief Executive added that the routinely last minute notice of 
funding from Welsh Government was also a challenge.
 
A member highlighted the importance of working with partners who were aware of the 
culture of the area rather than external bodies who were less empathetic.
 

RESOLVED:  That Members approve the Corporate Plan 
for 2020/21.

46/20 Amendment to Terms of Reference of Audit and Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr E Roderick declared a personal interest in this item given his own membership of the 
committee.
 
Members considered a proposal to change the composition of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee to regularise an appointment made at the last Authority meeting and reflect 
the reduction in size of the Authority.
 
Some members considered that the composition needed further thought through and that 
the Governance and Member Development Working Group should be asked to look at 

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 4 26 June 2020

this, exploring best practice elsewhere.  Others felt that this was a minor bureaucratic 
point and should be progressed.  
 
 

RESOLVED:  
 
a)    That the Governance and Member Development 

Working Group be asked to review the composition of 
the Audit and Scrutiny Committee;

 
b) That Cllr Edwin Roderick be removed as a member of 

Audit and Scrutiny Committee pending further 
recommendations on the composition of the 
committee.  

 
 

47/20 Amendments to Appointments Committee 

Members considered a proposal to widen the remit of the Appointments Committee to 
include design and oversight of a performance review process for the Chief Executive.  
The Chief Executive advised that he was fully supportive of this.
 
A member asked for the word ‘appraisal’ to be added into the remit, to read 
‘performance appraisal framework’.
 
A member welcomed the proposal and its alignment to JNC procedures.  A view was 
expressed that the composition of the committee should include the chairs of the Policy 
Forum and the Governance and Member Development Working Group as the existing 
remit did not reflect the Authority as it currently operated.  One member felt that those 
members with appropriate professional skills should be on the Appointments Committee 
and a suggestion was made that the composition of the committee be discussed by the 
Governance and Member Development Working Group.
 
The Chair of the Policy Forum declared a personal interest although the Monitoring 
Officer advised that the Authority was not making a decision on the composition today.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)     To approve additions to the terms of reference of the 

Appointments Committee in respect of an appraisal 
process for the Chief Executive as outlined in the 
report, subject to the word ‘appraisal’ being added;

 
b)     That the Governance and Member Development 

Working Group be asked to consider the composition 
of the Appointments Committee.

48/20 Establishment of an Accommodation Working Group 

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 5 26 June 2020

Cllr J Evans declared a personal interest in light of his cabinet responsibility on Powys 
County Council and the potential for conflict of interest on future sites for the Authority.
 
Members considered a proposal to formalise the remit of the Accommodation Working 
Group to include two current workstreams.
 
Comments were made that the absence of a planning representative on the group was 
appropriate given that they may be involved in future planning applications, but also that 
given the potential discussions on funding there should be a finance officer on the group.  
The Chief Executive advised that planning advice would be sought at the appropriate 
stage, and that the financial aspect would be discussed at the Governance and Member 
Development Working Group on 3 July as part of proposals to establish a projects 
board.  He said that the Scheme of Delegation applied regardless of the level of the 
working group/committee.
 
Comments were made that there were too many officers on the group but was advised 
that officers would attend according to the business of the meeting and the expertise 
required.  This needed to be made clearer in the composition.
 
Asked about advice on design matters the Chief Executive confirmed that this expertise 
would need to be bought in.
 

RESOLVED:  To establish the Accommodation Working 
Group and agree terms of reference as outlined in the 
report and subject to clarity on the composition.

49/20 Welsh Language Standards Compliance Report 

Mr A Edwards rejoined the meeting during this item.
 
The Welsh Language Officer represented a report on the Authority’s compliance with the 
Welsh Language Standards and set this in the context of other Welsh language 
workstreams.
 
The Welsh Language Champion acknowledged the work that had gone into compliance 
and highlighted the importance of staff and members being able to speak some Welsh and 
understand the culture and history.
 
A member noted the standards in relation to meetings but asked about the role of 
members. The Democratic Services Manager responded that the Authority had agreed 
standards on its internal meetings with the Welsh Language Commission and asked 
members on appointment which would be their preferred language.  She had also worked 
with the Welsh Government to make one of the two recent member appointments 
Welsh essential.  
 
A member referred to the work of the Welsh Language Working Group but said that in 
reality the post of Welsh Language Officer should be full time.  While he was happy to 
speak in English in meetings he asked for respect for the Welsh language.
 

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 6 26 June 2020

In response to a question about Welsh speakers viewing the webcasts, officers advised 
that providing simultaneous translation would require significant resources, both financial 
and staffing.  The Welsh Language Standards did not require this as a matter of course for 
Authority meetings but the Authority would provide translation if a member of the public 
wished to address the meeting in Welsh.  It was agreed that the Welsh Language Working 
Group would discuss these matters.
 
A member appreciated the support given to the Welsh language which he felt should be 
reasonable, proportionate and fitted with stakeholder engagement.
 
It was suggested that these issues be considered in the 2021/22 Corporate Plan.  A 
number of members expressed interest in the online learning modules.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)    To ratify the annual compliance report before it is 

published on the Authority’s website.
 
b) To recognise the work which has, and is being 

undertaken by Officers in relation to the Welsh 
Language Standards with which the Authority is legally 
bound to comply.

 
c) To note the accomplishments highlighted at the top of 

the Compliance Report and the fact that both a 
Promotion Strategy and Welsh in the Workplace are 
currently being drafted.

50/20 Member Reports 

Cllr J Evans drew members’ attention to the Shop Local Campaign currently being run by 
Powys County Council, which encouraged people to shop locally in recognition of shops 
which had supported local communities during the COVID-19 lockdown. 

51/20 Gifts & Hospitality 

No declarations were made.

52/20 Access to Information 

RESOLVED: To exclude the press and public from the 
meeting during consideration of item 14 in accordance 
with section 100A of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended, on the
grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraphs 12, 13 and 17 of 
Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972.

53/20 Update June 2020 on Foel Deg Boundary Management 

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
National Park Authority 7 26 June 2020

Members received an update on the Foel Deg Boundary issue.  It was noted Cooke and 
Arkwright had prepared a report on asset liability which would need to be reviewed by 
Audit and Scrutiny Committee.

54/20 Any Other Business 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the National Park Authority

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 1 31 January 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY AUDIT AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE HELD AT CONFERENCE ROOM, PLAS Y FFYNNON, 

CAMBRIAN WAY, BRECON LD3 7HP ON FRIDAY, 31ST JANUARY, 2020

PRESENT:

Blaenau Gwent

Carmarthenshire
Cllr Andrew James

Powys

Monmouthshire
Cllr Ann Webb

Merthyr Tydfil

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Torfaen

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr James Marsden and Mrs Sue Holden

In Attendance

Mr Julian Atkins, Chief Executive
Elaine Standen, Finance Manager
Mr Paul Funnell, IT and Systems Manager
Mrs Julia Gruffydd, Democratic Services Manager

Apologies

Cllr G Thomas, Cllr McIntosh and Cllr Madge

Page 13



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 2 31 January 2020

1/20 Correspondence 

The Chair welcomed members and officers to the meeting and also welcome Helen 
Cargill from the Authority’s internal auditors TIAA.  She asked that best wishes be sent to 
Cllr Graham Thomas who was unable to attend today.

2/20 Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

3/20 Minutes 

RESOLVED:  That the minutes of the Audit and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting held on 25 October 2019 be 
approved and the Chair authorised to sign them as a 
correct record.

4/20 Action Tracking 

Members considered the outstanding actions from previous meetings and highlighted the 
need to draw up an action plan from the final version of the Climate Change Position 
Statement. Actions should then appear in project plans as well as the Corporate Plan.  
The Chief Executive advised that officers had hoped to bring the draft Corporate Plan to 
the Authority on 11 February but this had been delayed by the need to allocate resources 
to addressing the unfunded pressures money from the Welsh Government.

5/20 Public Speaking Scheme 

No requests to speak had been made.

6/20 Q3 Budget Performance 

The Finance Manager presented the Quarter 3 budget report and referred to the 
additional £611,000 from Welsh Government to be spend or committed before the end 
of the financial year.  She advised this was a significant burden on staff during the change 
programme and would need to be managed to avoid any impact on delivery.  Some 
strategic decisions were needed in order to be able to spend money available for 
mitigating the impact of climate change.  She also advised that variance might creep in 
partly due to key posts missing due to the change programme.  Officers were working on 
new projects, building on existing projects to avoid endangering delivery.  It was suggested 
that funding might be delegated to external partners to deliver on climate change and the 
Chief Executive agreed that there was potential to do this. He highlighted the issue that 
additional funding was capital rather than revenue and any agreement to change this 
would need to be negotiated with Welsh Government. Members stressed the need for a 
more strategic method of delivering projects in a short space of time and assessing which 
were not top priority.  It was noted that the Welsh Park Chief Executives were talking to 
Welsh Government about the length of budget cycles which needed to be longer term. 
 

Page 14



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 3 31 January 2020

A member concluded that the organisation was constipated due to its culture, lack of 
empowerment or will on part of some officers, and chronic lack of forward business 
planning despite the high level direction agreed on 29 Oct 2019.
 
Members questioned the methodology used on the monitoring report and did not accept 
that a project with zero expenditure could be classed as on track.  There was a need to 
plan capital expenditure long term, linked to vision and strategic direction to deliver 
purposes and duty.  The current delays in preparing the State of the Park Report (SOPR) 
and National Park Management Plan were not acceptable.  The IT and Systems Manager 
advised that he had attempted to give an update on this at the Authority meeting in 
December but there had not been time.  He was acutely aware of the need to progress.  
He advised that the Senior Leadership Group was working on project ideas to score, set 
against funding opportunities to plan longer term and ensure a realistic approach to 
delivery.  The Chief Executive advised that the Nature Landscapes Partnership had 
potential for significant sums to deliver on green infrastructure, and this would be the 
focus of the bid.  He noted the comments on the culture of the organisation and would 
review this. 
 
The Finance Manager explained the methodology for the colour coding in the budget 
report which was based on quarterly budget profiling and expressed confidence that 
projects would be delivered.  She acknowledged the piecemeal portfolio of projects and 
said confidence and certainty was needed that officers would be here in 12 months to 
deliver.  Members did not accept the explanation, nor the personal assurances that 
projects would be delivered, and did not accept that uncertainty was a valid reason for 
projects not being progressed. A number of projects should be assessed as red rather 
than green and it was the Finance Manager’s job to do this. A member felt that while staff 
were employed they must deliver, never mind the future.  
 
A member concluded that the report on resources showed there is scope to do 
something dramatic in a strategic direction with strategic leadership.  He cited the 
example of Meithrin Mynydd where there had been zero spend as a symptom of the 
cultural problem.  A member urged officers to think creatively about capital versus 
revenue and suggested that perfectionism could be a problem in the Authority and 
projects had a tendency to get bogged down in tenders and mapping exercises.  Officers 
assured members that the team did take opportunities and that this culture was needed 
across the organisation.  A member suggested that there were things that could be 
effected quickly by approaching landowners to capitalise on their ability to manage land to 
deliver our priorities, including fencing and woodland regeneration.
 
Referring to the draft budget for 2020/21 presented at the Authority meeting on 24 
January a member said that this needed substantive work and should be deferred until the 
Authority meeting on 31 March.  The Chief Executive advised that that the budget needed 
to be approved at the Authority meeting on 11 February in order to issue the levy to 
constituent authorities.
 

RESOLVED:  Not to accept the Quarter 3 budget 
monitoring report. 

7/20 Pension Fund Triennial Valuation 

Page 15



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 4 31 January 2020

Members noted the Pension Fund Triennial Valuation which would result in a £50,000 
saving for the next three years.
 

RESOLVED:  That the contents of the enclosed reports be 
accepted by the Committee

8/20 Wales Audit Annual Audit Letter 

Members received the Annual Audit Letter for 2018/19.  A member asked about the level 
of reserves and whether resources could be spent on projects that could ideally bring a 
return on investment or attract match funding.
 
The Finance Manager advised that the level of reserves should not fall below £500,000 but 
approximately £300,000 could be redeployed. In response to a question about whether 
members could instruct officer to reallocate Welsh Government capital funding to 
revenue the Chief Executive advise that this would need discussion with Welsh 
Government and a clear audit trail.
 
A member said that it would be difficult for the Authority to approve the budget on 11 
February as he felt there was a lack of a detailed action plan and strategic direction.  
There needed to be an intense period of action and delivery planning with proposals 
presented to the Authority on 31 March giving assurance as to how the budget would be 
spent.  The IT and Systems Manager explained that officers were currently working on 
this and wasn’t clear what was missing.  The member felt it bizarre that given the 
directives from the Welsh Government and Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
that the budget proposed to spend five times the resources on the second purpose than 
on the first purpose.  A member cautioned against reducing the reserves unless spend was 
certain to bring a return.  She suggested that the Policy Working Group might discussion 
this as a strategy.
 
The Chief Executive reiterated the need to have an approved budget in order to issue the 
levy. The draft budget presented to the Authority on 24 January made assumptions about 
the original change programme, and he had now set out some alternatives.
 

RESOLVED:  That the committee receives the Annual 
Audit Letter

9/20 Internal Audit progress report Q3 

Ms Cargill presented the third quarter Block 2 internal audit report and went through the 
outstanding actions.  At the next meeting she would present her annual report which 
would give an overall opinion of risk controls.  This was the final year of TIAA’s contract 
with the Authority and she advised that the company was also working for Pembrokeshire 
Coast National Park Authority and she would be discussing any opportunities that this 
might present.
 
A member asked whether the audit of health and safety had elicited any complaints of 
bullying, and Ms Cargill advised that they did not do a detailed audit of wellbeing but could 
consider this in future given the priority currently being given to mental health.
 

Page 16



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 5 31 January 2020

A question was also asked about the Authority’s lone working policy and received details 
of some of the procedures in place.  The Chief Executive would advise further.  A 
member asked about outstanding actions on the recruitment policy and what she 
preferred to call the reward and benefit policy, which she felt would be better done now 
than waiting for the change programme to be implemented.  The Chief Executive would 
raise this with the HR consultant when appointed.
 

RESOLVED:
 
a)  That Members receive the internal auditor’s report;
b) That outstanding actions be noted.

10/20 Performance and Risk review - quarter 3 

The IT and Systems Manager presented the Quarter 3 performance and risk report and 
thanked colleagues for the data they had supplied.  He advised that Ffynnon would cease 
at the end of June and an alternative reporting mechanism would need to be found that 
met specifications of members and officers, which would join performance and risk, 
connected to objectives and using a more engaging way to present information, which 
would replace the three reports before members today.
 
A member objected to some of the comments in the report which explained performance 
levels which he did not feel to be appropriate.  He criticised the inconsistent reporting in 
terms of colour coding and while he liked the format, it was not yet fit for purposed as 
there was no baseline or smart objectives.  The officer responded that this would be a 
matter for the Chief Executive and his new Corporate Governance Team to address but 
he was confident that they could deliver an effective new system.
 
A member felt that if these comments were not the collective view of the Corporate 
Governance Team then they were not appropriate to be put in the public domain.  She 
was disappointed that the Chief Executive had not monitored the comments.  The Chief 
Executive said that while he had reviewed it he had not scrutinised it in detail, although 
there were some comments that he agreed with.
 
The point was made by one member that he found it disrespectful of officers to bring a 
report of insufficient quality; he referred to one example of first purpose work where 
discussions had taken place but no actions or impacts recorded.  Officers acknowledged 
the need for better wording and noted members’ comments that both the progress and 
the outcomes needed to be measured, and said that this would be addressed when 
designing the new system.
 
Members opted to receive the report only.

11/20 Complaints, Freedom of Information and Compliments 

Members received reports updated since the last meeting.

12/20 Role of Audit and Scrutiny Committee 

Page 17



Brecon Beacons National Park
Audit and Scrutiny Committee 6 31 January 2020

The Democratic Services Manager advised that both internal and external audit 
recommended a review of effectiveness of committees as a matter of good governance.  
There was general agreement that the remit was appropriate and she had witnessed a 
significant level of challenge earlier in the meeting, but she asked for members’ views on 
their role and whether they felt they needed any further development or support.
 
A member felt the role was simple, to provide assurance to the Authority that available 
resources were being aligned to achieve purposes and duty and the needs of external 
policy drivers against meaningful, measurable target that were reported transparently with 
evidence with a clear baseline.  If the committee was doing this then there was no need 
for additional scrutiny studies.  In line with points he had made earlier in the meeting he 
felt it was difficult for the committee to do this.
 
Officers said that this could be turned round and the member offered to help.  
 
One member felt that some additional guidance to officers on the RAG (Red, Amber 
Green) system in terms of percentages would give greater consistency for members to 
analyse.  The Chair of Governance and Member Development Working Group felt that 
there had been confusion amongst some members in the governance survey about what 
the committee did.  She agreed that they did not need to carry out scrutiny but they 
could improve the quality of performance reporting and urged officers to think about the 
context of reporting and consider benchmarking with other organisations.

13/20 Election of Interim Deputy Chair of Audit and Scrutiny Committee 

The Democratic Services Manager advised that committee member Ian Rowat, who was 
currently Deputy Chair, would be finishing his term of office on 31 March 2020. This 
would need an interim appointment of Deputy Chair.  The Chair invited nominations.
 

RESOLVED:  That Cllr A James be appointed interim 
Deputy Chair of Audit and Scrutiny Committee from 1 
April 2020 until the Annual General Meeting of the 
Authority on 26 June 2020.
 

The Chair thanked Mr Rowat for his hard work over the last eight years. Members would 
have a further opportunity to recognise his contribution at the Authority meeting on 31 
March.

14/20 Other Business 

The Chair advised that there was no further business and closed the meeting.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Audit and Scrutiny Committee

Page 18



1.0 Treasury Management Report 2019/0 and Borrowing Approval 
2020/21

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 7 August 2020

Report Author Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager

Contact Details 01874 620467

Purpose of Report Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Decision to retain existing precautionary borrowing limits is 
essentially neutral as the Authority is debt-free but is a 
requirement of CIPFA’s Prudential Code for treasury 
management.

List of  Enclosures none

Recommendation(s) a) That the Authority continues the present arrangements in 
relation to operational and authorised borrowing limits and 
Treasury Management for 2020/21

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Prudential Code, published by CIPFA  (The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy) requires the Authority to regularly monitor a number of indicators to ensure 
that:

o It is in a healthy financial position 
o It can afford any borrowing that it is planning.
o It has a clear strategy for managing its resources in the coming year.  

1.2  AFFORDABILITY 

No applicable indicators as the authority is debt-free

Page 19

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk


1.3  PRUDENTIAL BORROWING LIMITS

The Authority is currently debt free.  Most of the recommended indicators are not applicable. 

However the Authority is required under the Code to set Authorised and Operational limits 
for external debt. 

Authorised Limit - this is the authorised limit for all borrowing plus that for other long-term 
liabilities such as finance leases. It is recommended that the limit of £500,000 continue 
to be used.  This would be used, if required, to finance any short-term cash flow shortfall and 
also to cover the notional liability arising from entering into a leasing agreement which falls 
under the definition of a finance lease.

The Authority has not, to date, needed to borrow for cash flow purposes but may acquire a 
notional liability if any finance leases are entered into.

Operational Boundary – this is based on the Authority’s probable level of borrowing and in 
theory may occasionally be breached. It acts as an early warning of unexpected increases of 
borrowing. Breaches should be monitored by the Finance Manager and reported to Members.

 It is recommended that the Operational Boundary continue to be set at nil.  If a 
notional liability did arise on entering into a finance lease under accounting rules or an urgent 
requirement for funds necessitated short-term borrowing, the Finance Manager would advise 
the Authority.

1.4 TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY AND INDICATORS

These indicators are designed to ensure that an Authority does not expose itself to 
unacceptable risks in relation to interest rate fluctuations on sums either borrowed or 
invested by the Authority.   As interest rates continue to be very low, income receivable 
from this source is limited and expected to be so for the coming year.

As stated above those indicators relating to borrowing have no application to the Authority 
while it is debt free.   As noted, Bank of England interest rates remain very low (0.01%) and 
expected to remain so in the medium term.   Access to significantly higher rates is only possible 
with the Authority’s current banking services provider if balances are invested for fixed terms 
of 6 months or more or in notice accounts.  

The receipt of Welsh Government Funding in March 2017, March 2018, March 2019 and 
October 2019 to be spent over a number of financial years on a range of projects has added to 
the balances held in earmarked reserves by the Authority and helped to increase the cash 
surplus held.  To ensure that more interest can be earned from the funds, an amount of £2 
million is held in a Barclays 95-day notice account.  Consideration is being given to investing 
additional funds in this account.  This account currently earns an additional 0.2% above the Bank 

Page 20



of England Base Rate and has enabled a substantial increase on budgeted interest income.     
Funds can be transferred into the current account at short notice but with loss of interest.  The 
estimated interest receivable included in the budget for the coming year has not been increased 
to ensure that the Authority is not reliant on continuing to hold large reserves to generate a 
high interest income.  The estimate for interest receipts in 2020/21 could be increased during 
the year as income is confirmed.

All other surplus funds are automatically transferred to a Barclays bank savings account on an 
immediate access basis which attracts a minimal level of interest.  The Authority’s basic banking 
services are currently free of charge, which is worth an estimated £3,000 per annum in reduced 
costs.  

The recommended limits for the coming year for fixed and variable interest investments are 
shown in the table below.   There is a minimal risk that an unexpected increase in variable 
interest rates might mean a small loss of income if the Authority’s surplus funds had already 
been placed on deposit at a fixed rate.  The options for investing surplus funds will continue to 
be monitored during the year, subject to developments in interest rates.  All the Authority’s 
accounts track the Base Rate.

2019/20

Actual

2019/20

Estimated

Total interest receivable on cash and bank balances. £28,939 £4,800

Upper limit* for fixed rate 0% 0%

Upper limit** for variable rate 100% 100%

Effective range within which interest exposures 
will be managed :

Fixed rate (% of total invested) 50% 50%

Variable rate 100% (ie all investment) or*** £4.1m £4.2m

*the maximum proportion of the authority’s surplus cash which can be invested in fixed 
interest accounts, eg bonds and treasury deposits.

**the maximum proportion of the authority’s surplus cash which can be invested in variable 
Interest rate accounts, eg deposit accounts.

*** estimated maximum cash balance plus £2.1m in 95-day notice account (variable rate 
linked to Base Rate).

Page 21



1.4 Risks
Risks may arise from instability in financial markets and failures of financial institutions and, as a 
small Authority, BBNPA’s ability to mitigate these risks by spreading investments across a range 
of institutions and financial products as a larger body would do is very limited.  However, it can 
minimise risk by placing its funds only with banks which have a very high credit rating from the 
established ratings agencies.  Barclays Bank PLC has consistently high and stable ratings.  The 
Authority’s LGPS Pension Fund investments are held and managed by Powys County Council in 
accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) 
Regulations.  The economic impact of Covid19 and the departure of the UK from the EU continues 
to create great uncertainty and instability in financial markets.  Core funding for the Authority is 
also likely to come under further pressure due to the impact on Welsh Government budgets of the 
cost of Covid19.  

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a)  That the Authority continues the present arrangements in relation to operational and 
authorised borrowing limits and Treasury Management policy for 2020/21.

Page 22



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 1

The Single, Integrated, Impact Assessment (SIIA) toolkit incorporating Welsh Language, Equalities, Well Being of Future Generations Act, Risk Management and Resources, supporting effective decision 
making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation.  There are a number of pieces of legislation that the National Park Authority is subject to, which require us to carefully consider how we make 
decisions:

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 

This specifies that the Authority must have due regard to: 
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and those who do not;
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not.
And must:
 Remove or minimise disadvantages experienced by people due to 

their protected characteristics
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups.
 Encourage people with protected characteristics to participate in 

public life or in other activities where their participation is 
disproportionately low. 

The Act describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and 
promoting understanding between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Meeting the duty may involve 
treating some people more favourably than others, as long as this 
does not contravene other provisions within the Act.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act will from April 2016 require all 
public bodies to demonstrate that we are improving social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing, whilst also looking to the future, 
planning for the long term and ensuring that we don’t compromise the 
ability of future generations to be able to do the same.  This is called 
sustainable development.

The Act sets out 7 Wellbeing Goals:  
 A Prosperous Wales
 A Resilient Wales
 A Healthier Wales
 A More Equal Wales
 A Wales of Cohesive Communities
 A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language
 A Globally Responsible Wales

We have to demonstrate how we are contributing to all of these goals 
and following the 5 Sustainable Development principles:
Long term, Integration, Collaboration, Involvement and Prevention

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

 Gives the Welsh language official status in 
Wales 

 Establishes the principle that the Welsh 
language should be treated no less 
favourably than the English language

 Requires public authorities to comply with 
standards relating to Welsh language 
provision

The Policy Making Standards relate to assessing 
the impact of policies and decisions on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and on treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language. 
The Authority must therefore consider the 
Welsh Language when we are developing 
policies and strategies or when considering new 
ways of providing services.

Integrated Risk Assessment (Legislative Frameworks) - Whilst there is no formal legislation which stipulates that we must formally manage our risks, it is good practice to undertake risk management, a 
process whereby we assess, evaluate and take action on risks in order to increase the probability of success and reduce the likelihood of failure. This process should include regular monitoring to ensure 
control of our identified risks where required.  The outputs from effective risk management include compliance, assurance and enhanced decision making.  These outputs provide benefits by way of 
improvements in the efficiency of our operations, successful delivery of our projects and the implementation of our corporate objectives.

Risk management is a continuous process that supports the development and implementation of our corporate planning and budget setting processes.  Plans typically focus on a desired future, which is 
underpinned by a set of reasonable assumptions.  However, each of these assumptions carries a level of uncertainty and risk.  Using identified risks in the corporate planning and budget setting 
processes will ensure that we make informed decisions based on the current level of risk, and are fully aware of how the risks could either have a negative impact on our ability to deliver our objectives, 
or expose opportunities that we can exploit.  Achieving our targeted performance is dependent upon our ability to manage our risks.  As we deal with a changing legislative and policy framework we 
need to become shrewder about the risks we take so we can sustain our services with a continually reducing budget.  Equally importantly we must be aware of the risks to avoid to ensure we protect our 
customers, reputation and financial stability.

P
age 23



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 2

Service Area Financial Governance Report Author Elaine Standen Director who has approved 
this assessment Julian Atkins

Summary of Recommendation
That the Authority continues the present arrangements in relation to operational and authorised borrowing limits and Treasury Management for 2020/21

1.   How does your recommendation impact on the Authority’s Corporate Goals?

Authority Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

i. Managing Park landscapes to maximise 
conservation and public benefits N

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity
n

iii. Providing opportunities for outdoor 
access and recreation n

iv. Raising awareness and understanding of 
the Park n

v. Building and maintaining sustainable 
communities, towns and villages n

vi. Sustainable economic development
n

2.  How does your recommendation impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals?

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

A prosperous Wales:
Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated people, generates 
wealth, provides jobs.

n

P
age 24



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 3

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

A resilient Wales:
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems that 
support resilience and can adapt to change (eg climate 
change).

n

A healthier Wales:
People’s physical and mental well-being is maximised and 
health impacts are understood.

n

A Wales of cohesive communities:
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and well connected. n

A globally responsible Wales:
Taking account of impact on global well-being when 
considering local social, economic and environmental well-
being.

n

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language:
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are promoted and 
protected.

n

A more equal Wales:
People can fulfil their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances.

Does the recommendation 
affect a large amount of 
people? Please give any 
evidence

Does the recommendation 
affect a small group of people 
in a significant way? Please 
give any evidence

How will the recommendation take into account the 
differing needs of protected characteristics or address any 
negative impact? Please give details

Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage or civil partnership
Race
Religion or Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Pregnancy and Maternity

No No 

P
age 25



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 4

3.  How does your recommendation impact on the Sustainable Development Principles?

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Balancing short term 
need with long term 
and planning for the 
future.

N

Working together 
with other partners 
to deliver.

N

 Involving those 
with an   interest 
and seeking their 
views.

N

Putting resources 
into preventing 
problems 
occurring or 
getting worse.

N

Positively 
impacting on 
people, economy 
and environment 
and trying to 
benefit all three.

N

4.  Welsh Language

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

P
age 26



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 5

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

Standard 88
What effects will the policy have (positive or negative) on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

N

Standard 89
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that the policy decision would 
have positive effects or increased positive effects on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

 

N

Standard 90
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that it would not have adverse 
effects or would have reduced adverse effects on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

N

5. Resource Implications  

Resource Please give details
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

6. Governance and Improvement

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

Improvement: How will the decision be 
monitored and evaluated to lead to future 
improvements?

N

Governance: Will the decision lead to 
improved governance? N

P
age 27



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 6

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

Privacy:  Will  there be any implications for 
personal information relating to individuals: N

7. What are the risks associated with this recommendation?

Description of risk Impact 
(severity)

Probability 
(deliverability)

Inherent 
Risk Summary of possible controls Target 

Impact
Target 
Probability Target Risk

None
Does it have potential to impact on another service area?

8.  Is there additional evidence to support the Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIA)?

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

9.  Impact Assessment Summary and Judgement

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in Committee Report)

Decision to retain existing precautionary borrowing limits is essentially neutral as the Authority is debt-free but is a requirement of CIPFA’s Prudential Code for treasury management.

P
age 28



Employer’s Discretions – Powys Pension Fund

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority 

Date 7 August 2020

Report Author Elaine Standen

Job title Finance Manager 

Contact Details Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To submit for approval the updated Employer’s discretions in 
relation to retirement, prior to advising the Powys Pension 
Fund Administrator

Single Integrated 
Assessment

The employer’s discretions are a continuation of current practice 
and allow some flexibility to respond to individual circumstances.  
Specific decisions taken in relation to individual cases will require a 
specific consideration of equality impacts as part of the business 
case.

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 Local Government Pension Scheme Draft 
Employer’s Discretions 

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a)  That the Employer’s Discretions set out in Enclosure 1be 
approved

1.0 Introduction or Background

The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) is a statutory pension scheme and its rules are 
laid down under Act of Parliament. However, Scheme regulations do allow an employer certain 
discretion to enhance members’ benefits.  The Authority is a member of the Powys Pension 
Fund and subject to the requirements of the Fund’s Administrator.

Scheme employers participating in the LGPS in England or Wales are required to formulate, 
publish and keep under review a Statement of Policy on certain discretions which they have the 
power to exercise in relation to members of the LGPS.

There are only a limited number of discretions but the employer is required to have a written 
policy statement because if the discretions are exercised there would be a cost to the employer 

Page 29

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Elaine.standen@beacons-npa.gov.uk


for either allowing early access to benefits or effectively enhancing the benefits the member 
receives.

The national LGPS is a comprehensive scheme giving specific rights to employees and the 
employer only has discretion in certain narrowly defined areas.  

2.0 Proposals

The discretions have been discussed and approved by the Corporate Governance Team

3.0 Financial or Staffing Implications

Where flexibility has been built into the policy to allow specific discretions to be exercised, a 
full business case would need to be provided to ensure that the service and financial 
implications had been considered.  The draft policies do not commit the Authority to grant any 
discretionary payments but leave flexibility in appropriate, e.g. compassionate, cases.

4.0  Privacy, Equality and Sustainability Implications

The equality implications of making discretionary payments in specific instances would need to 
be carefully considered on a case by case basis and may involve consideration of confidential 
information relating to an individual.

5.0 Conclusion

The attached policy is in line with past practice and continues to allow flexibility to deal with 
individual circumstances.  

RECOMMENDATION:

a)  That the Employer’s Discretions set out in Enclosure 1 be approved

Page 30



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 1

The Single, Integrated, Impact Assessment (SIIA) toolkit incorporating Welsh Language, Equalities, Well Being of Future Generations Act, Risk Management and Resources, supporting effective decision 
making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation.  There are a number of pieces of legislation that the National Park Authority is subject to, which require us to carefully consider how we make 
decisions:

Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011 

This specifies that the Authority must have due regard to: 
 Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and those who do not;
 Foster good relations between people who share a protected 

characteristic and those who do not.
And must:
 Remove or minimise disadvantages experienced by people due to 

their protected characteristics
 Take steps to meet the needs of people from protected groups.
 Encourage people with protected characteristics to participate in 

public life or in other activities where their participation is 
disproportionately low. 

The Act describes fostering good relations as tackling prejudice and 
promoting understanding between people who share a protected 
characteristic and those who do not. Meeting the duty may involve 
treating some people more favourably than others, as long as this 
does not contravene other provisions within the Act.

Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act will from April 2016 require all 
public bodies to demonstrate that we are improving social, economic, 
environmental and cultural wellbeing, whilst also looking to the future, 
planning for the long term and ensuring that we don’t compromise the 
ability of future generations to be able to do the same.  This is called 
sustainable development.

The Act sets out 7 Wellbeing Goals:  
 A Prosperous Wales
 A Resilient Wales
 A Healthier Wales
 A More Equal Wales
 A Wales of Cohesive Communities
 A Wales of Vibrant Culture and Thriving Welsh Language
 A Globally Responsible Wales

We have to demonstrate how we are contributing to all of these goals 
and following the 5 Sustainable Development principles:
Long term, Integration, Collaboration, Involvement and Prevention

Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011

 Gives the Welsh language official status in 
Wales 

 Establishes the principle that the Welsh 
language should be treated no less 
favourably than the English language

 Requires public authorities to comply with 
standards relating to Welsh language 
provision

The Policy Making Standards relate to assessing 
the impact of policies and decisions on 
opportunities for persons to use the Welsh 
language, and on treating the Welsh language 
no less favourably than the English language. 
The Authority must therefore consider the 
Welsh Language when we are developing 
policies and strategies or when considering new 
ways of providing services.

Integrated Risk Assessment (Legislative Frameworks) - Whilst there is no formal legislation which stipulates that we must formally manage our risks, it is good practice to undertake risk management, a 
process whereby we assess, evaluate and take action on risks in order to increase the probability of success and reduce the likelihood of failure. This process should include regular monitoring to ensure 
control of our identified risks where required.  The outputs from effective risk management include compliance, assurance and enhanced decision making.  These outputs provide benefits by way of 
improvements in the efficiency of our operations, successful delivery of our projects and the implementation of our corporate objectives.

Risk management is a continuous process that supports the development and implementation of our corporate planning and budget setting processes.  Plans typically focus on a desired future, which is 
underpinned by a set of reasonable assumptions.  However, each of these assumptions carries a level of uncertainty and risk.  Using identified risks in the corporate planning and budget setting 
processes will ensure that we make informed decisions based on the current level of risk, and are fully aware of how the risks could either have a negative impact on our ability to deliver our objectives, 
or expose opportunities that we can exploit.  Achieving our targeted performance is dependent upon our ability to manage our risks.  As we deal with a changing legislative and policy framework we 
need to become shrewder about the risks we take so we can sustain our services with a continually reducing budget.  Equally importantly we must be aware of the risks to avoid to ensure we protect our 
customers, reputation and financial stability.

P
age 31



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 2

Service Area Human Resources Report Author Elaine Standen Director who has approved 
this assessment Julian Atkins

Summary of Recommendation
That the 2018/19 Pay Policy Statement is approved for publication

1.   How does your recommendation impact on the Authority’s Corporate Goals?

Authority Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

i. Managing Park landscapes to maximise 
conservation and public benefits n

ii. Conserving and enhancing biodiversity
n

iii. Providing opportunities for outdoor 
access and recreation n

iv. Raising awareness and understanding of 
the Park n

v. Building and maintaining sustainable 
communities, towns and villages n

vi. Sustainable economic development
n

2.  How does your recommendation impact on the Welsh Government’s well-being goals?

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

A prosperous Wales:
Efficient use of resources, skilled, educated people, generates 
wealth, provides jobs.

Employment opportunities?  Local 
procurement? Adds value to local products? 
Attracts paying visitors?
Social enterprise involvement?  Opportunity 
for training or learning?
Adverse effect on local businesses?  

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

P
age 32



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 3

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

Reference to BBNPA LDP?

A resilient Wales:
Maintain and enhance biodiversity and ecosystems that 
support resilience and can adapt to change (eg climate 
change).

Opportunities to protect or enhance 
biodiversity? Opportunities to mitigate or 
adapt to effect of climate change?
Any pollution or emissions impact?
Opportunities to increase energy efficiency or 
generate green energy?

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A healthier Wales:
People’s physical and mental well-being is maximised and 
health impacts are understood.

Impact on people’s wellbeing (physical, 
mental and emotional)? Enhanced access to 
outdoor environment? Improved information 
on how to access the National Park? Supports 
increased physical activity. Increases 
knowledge about NPs health impacts

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A Wales of cohesive communities:
Communities are attractive, viable, safe and well connected.

Impact on connecting communities 
(transport, connectivity)?
Opportunities for communities to be 
involved? Encourages understanding between 
different communities. Supports community 
safety

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A globally responsible Wales:
Taking account of impact on global well-being when 
considering local social, economic and environmental well-
being.

Opportunities for benefits outside Wales/UK?   
Eg. improvements to environment/tourism 
opportunities
Likely to increase pollution, emissions or 
resource use? Learning which can be more 
widely shared? Impact on Human Rights? 

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language:
Culture, heritage and Welsh language are promoted and 
protected.

Impact on sustainability of Welsh speaking 
communities? Opportunities to promote 
Welsh language? Enhances or protects built 
heritage. Supports cultural heritage eg. 
Events, traditional activities, local knowledge
Will Welsh medium delivery be of the same 

n Think about what you are going to do to address any 
negative impacts you have identified

P
age 33

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/42/contents


Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 4

Well-being Goal How does the recommendation contribute 
to the goal?

Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or 
mitigate any negative impacts?

standard as English delivery?

A more equal Wales:
People can fulfil their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances.

Does the recommendation 
affect a large amount of 
people? Please give any 
evidence

Does the recommendation 
affect a small group of people 
in a significant way? Please 
give any evidence

How will the recommendation take into account the 
differing needs of protected characteristics or address any 
negative impact? Please give details

Age
Disability
Gender Reassignment
Marriage or civil partnership
Race
Religion or Belief
Sex
Sexual Orientation
Pregnancy and Maternity

no no, continuation of existing 
approach to early retirement  

To be considered on a case by case basis, for the individual as 
and when the policy is applied.  

3.  How does your recommendation impact on the Sustainable Development Principles?

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Balancing short term 
need with long term 
and planning for the 
future.

We are required to look beyond the usual short term 
timescales for financial planning and political cycles and 
instead plan with the longer term in mind (guidance says 
at least 10 years, but preferably 25)

n

P
age 34



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 5

Sustainable Development Principle How does the recommendation impact on this principle?
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Working together 
with other partners 
to deliver.

Are there opportunities to work with others to deliver 
outcomes? Can others deliver with support from BBNPA? 
Are we encouraging our partners to play an active role?

n

 Involving those 
with an   interest 
and seeking their 
views.

Who are the stakeholders who will be affected by your 
proposal? Have they been involved? Do those involved 
reflect the diversity of the area which is served?

n

Putting resources 
into preventing 
problems 
occurring or 
getting worse.

Will the proposal act as preventative action to reduce the 
likelihood of a problem occurring or getting worse? n

Positively 
impacting on 
people, economy 
and environment 
and trying to 
benefit all three.

There is space to describe impacts on people, economy 
and environment under the Wellbeing Goals above, so 
instead focus here on how you will better integrate them 
and balance any competing impacts.  Also think about 
impacts the proposal may have on other organisations.

n

4.  Welsh Language

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

Standard 88
What effects will the policy have (positive or negative) on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

n All Employees are offered the option to be communicated 
with in the medium of Welsh 

Standard 89
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that the policy decision would 
have positive effects or increased positive effects on

Make sure you address all the elements of the Standard

P
age 35



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 6

Relevant Welsh Language Standard
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

Please give details here 

a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

 
Standard 90
How could the policy be formulated or changed so that it would not have adverse 
effects or would have reduced adverse effects on
a) Opportunities for people to use the Welsh Language
b) Treating the Welsh Language no less favourably than the English Language

n Make sure you address all the elements of the Standard

5. Resource Implications  

Resource Please give details
Positive (+)
Negative (-)
Neutral (N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive or mitigate 
any negative impacts?

Financial

Eg. Will this be funded from existing budget, 
external funding, savings, other?

Subject to 
the 

particularitie
s of the 

individual 
case

A proposal to offer flexible retirement which has financial 
implications would be supported by a business case which 
identified the financial and organisational costs and benefits of 
the proposal. 

The Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012:  Will this mean 
procurement over £172,514 
without using a recognised 
framework?

Please check with the Finance Manager if you 
need further guidance on this

no

Staffing
How will this recommendation be 
implemented? From existing staff, externally 
funded post, volunteers, other?

n n/a

6. Governance and Improvement

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

P
age 36



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 7

Will the recommendation have an impact on: Please give details

Positive 
(+)
Negative 
(-)
Neutral 
(N)

What will be done to better contribute to positive 
or mitigate any negative impacts?

Improvement: How will the decision be 
monitored and evaluated to lead to future 
improvements?

On a case by case basis
n

Governance: Will the decision lead to 
improved governance? 

Potential to enable long term workforce and 
succession planning n

Privacy:  Will  there be any implications for 
personal information relating to individuals:

Individual cases are likely to involve the 
consideration of sensitive personal information 
which must be collected and managed in 
accordance with Data Protection requirements.

n

7. What are the risks associated with this recommendation?

Description of risk

Impa
ct 
(seve
rity)

Probabil
ity 
(delivera
bility)

Inhe
rent 
Risk

Summary of possible 
controls

Targe
t 
Impac
t

Targe
t 
Proba
bility

Target 
Risk

No change to risk levels, continues existing practice Score 
1-3

Score 1-
3

Calc 
3-9

Succession planning 
and consideration on a 
case by case basis

Score 
1-3

Score 
1-3

Calc 3-
9

Does it have potential to impact on another service area?
no

8.  Is there additional evidence to support the Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIA)?

What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?

9.  Impact Assessment Summary and Judgement

Outline Assessment (to be inserted in Committee Report)

P
age 37



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment (SIIA) - The integrated approach to support effective decision making

BBNPA:  Single Integrated Impact Assessment Toolkit (Dec 2015) 8

The employer’s discretions are a continuation of current practice and allow some flexibility to respond to individual circumstances.  Specific decisions 
taken in relation to individual cases will require a specific consideration of equality impacts as part of the business case.

P
age 38



1

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority LGPS Employer Discretions                                                                                    

Policy Effective From: 8th August 2020                                                                                

R – The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013

TP – The LGPS (Transitional Provision and Savings) Regulations 2014

A – The Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008 (As amended)

B - The Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) 
Regulations 2007 (as amended)

T - The Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008

L - The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended)

In the below tables the prefix letters in front of the Regulation numbers denotes where the Regulation 
can be found:

Employer Discretions requiring formal policy (LGPS 2013 and 2014) in relation to post 31 
March 2014 active members (excluding councillor members) and post 31 March 2014 leavers 
(excluding councillor members)

Regulation Discretion Policy

R16(2)(e) & 
R16(4)(d)

Where an active member wishes to 
purchase extra annual pension by making 
additional pension contributions (APCs)*, 
an employer can choose to voluntarily 
contribute towards the cost of purchasing 
that extra pension through a Shared Cost 
Additional Pension Contribution (SCAPC)

The Authority does not contribute towards 
additional pension contributions by active 
members.

R30(6) & 
TP11(2)

Under the regulations, once an employee 
reaches age 55, they may remain in 
employment and draw their retirement 
benefits. 
However, there are certain conditions that 
must be met: a) The employer must agree 
to the release of the pension. b) The 
employee must reduce either their hours, 
and/or their grade. (The specific reduction 
required is not set out in the regulations, 
but instead must be determined by the 
employer, whom must specify the 
requirements within their flexible 
retirement policy). 
In such cases, pension benefits will be 
reduced in accordance with actuarial 
tables unless the employer waives 

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

Where an employee has more than one 
contract of employment and requires to 
access pension rights in respect of more than 
one set of pension rights, multiple flexible 
retirement applications will be required.

 

Page 39



2

reduction on compassionate grounds or a 
member has protected rights).
If flexible retirement is permitted, 
employers will need to publish a Flexible 
Retirement Policy and send the Powys 
Pension Fund a copy. This can be done on 
the final section of this template.

Regulation 
R30 (8) , 
TP3 (1), 
TPSch2, 
Para 2(1), 
B30 (5) and 
B30 (A) (5)

Employers have the power to waive, on 
compassionate grounds, the actuarial 
reduction (in whole or part) applied to 
members’ benefits paid on the grounds of 
flexible retirement. 
Employers may also waive, on 
compassionate grounds, the actuarial 
reduction (in whole or part) applied to 
members’ benefits for deferred members 
and suspended tier 3 ill health pensioners 
who elect to draw benefits on or after age 
60 and before normal pension age.
Employers also have the power to waive, 
in whole or in part, the actuarial reduction 
applied to active members’ benefits when 
a member chooses to voluntarily draw 
benefits on or after age 55 before age 60 
and on or after age 60 and before Normal 
Pension Age (NPA).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations. In considering such cases, 
the Authority will take into account the 
reasons for the employee’s application, 
particularly where it is wholly or partly 
because of the care needs of a dependant

TPSch2, 
para 1(2) & 
1(1)(c)

The 85-year rule does not (other than on 
flexible retirement) automatically fully 
apply to members who would otherwise be 
subject to it and who choose to voluntarily 
draw their benefits on or after age 55 and 
before age 60. An employer can therefore 
choose whether to switch on the 85-year 
rule for members: 

1) who voluntarily draw their benefits 
on or after age 55 and before age 
60 and, 

2) former members who ceased active 
membership between 1st April 2008 and 
31st March 2014 and choose to voluntarily 
draw their suspended tier 3 ill health 
pension (on or after 14 May 2018) on or 
after age 55 and before age 60 and, 
3) former members who ceased active 
membership between 1st April 1998 and 
31st March 2014) and elect for voluntary 
early payment of any deferred benefits

1) To consider each case on its merits 
having regard to financial and service 
delivery considerations. 
 

2) The Authority would not extend the 85-
year rule to former members who 
ceased active membership between 
1st April 2008 and 31st March 2014.

3) The authority would not extend the 85 
year rule to former members who 
ceased active membership between 
1st April 1998 and 31st March 2014.

R31 An employer can choose to grant extra 
annual pension* (at full cost to 
themselves) to: a) an active member; or 
b) to a member, within 6 months of leaving, 
whose employment was terminated on the 

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

Page 40



3

grounds of redundancy or business 
efficiency  (by up to £6,500 p.a. on 1 April 
2014 - this figure is inflation proofed 
annually).

Employer Discretions which do not require formal policy but which may be included and 
where it is desirable to have guidelines

Regulation Discretion Policy
R 16(16) An employer can extend the 30-day 

deadline for a member to elect for a 
SCAPC upon return from a period of 
absence from work with permission with 
no pensionable pay (otherwise than 
because of illness or injury, relevant child- 
related leave or reserve forces service 
leave).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

R22(7) and (8) Whether to extend the 12-month time limit 
for a member to elect not to aggregate 
post 31st March 2014 (or combinations of 
pre-April 2014 and post March 2014) 
deferred benefits.

No discretionary policy 

R27 of the 
LGPS 
(Amendment) 
Regs 2018

Whether to extend the 12-month option 
period for a member to elect to aggregate 
pre-1st April 2014 deferred benefits.

No discretionary policy

R100 (6) Extend normal time limit for acceptance of 
a transfer value beyond 12 months from 
joining the LGP

No discretionary policy

R9(1) and 
R9(3)

Determine rate of employees’ 
contributions and when the contribution 
rate will be assessed

No discretionary policy

Pre LGPS 2014 Employer Discretions requiring formal policy

To cover scheme members who ceased active membership on or after 1 April 2008 and before 1 April 2014 
(no need to complete if not applicable).

Regulation Discretion Policy
R30(5) , 
TP2(1) Sch2, 
R30A(5) 
TP2(1) Sch 2

Early payment of benefits Whether, on 
compassionate grounds, to waive any 
actuarial reduction that would normally 
be applied to deferred benefits which are 
paid before age 65 
 
Whether, on compassionate grounds, to 
waive any actuarial reduction that would 
normally be applied to any suspended 
tier 3 ill health pension benefits which are 
brought back into payment before age 65

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.  The Authority will have regard 
to the reasons for the ex-employee’s 
application, particularly where it involves the 
care needs of a dependant.

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c)

Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule 
for a member voluntarily drawing 
benefits on or after age 55 and before 
age 60.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations. 

Page 41



4

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(c)

Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule 
for a pensioner member with deferred 
benefits voluntarily drawing benefits on 
or after age 55 and before age 60.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

Discretionary policies in relation to: active welsh councillor members, and councillor members who ceased 
active membership on or after 1 April 1998, and any other scheme members who ceased active membership 
on or after 1 April 1998 and before 1 April 2008

Regulation Discretion Policy
Regulation 
31(2)

Grant application for early payment of 
deferred benefits on or after age 50 and 
before age 55.

Not Applicable

TPSch 2, para 
1(2) & 1(1)(f) 
& R60

Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for 
a member with deferred benefits 
voluntarily drawing benefits on or after 
age 55 and before age 60..

Not Applicable

31(5) & 
TPSch 2, 
para 2(1)

Waive, on compassionate grounds, the 
actuarial reduction applied to deferred 
benefits paid early.

Not Applicable

To cover scheme members who ceased active membership before 1 April 1998 (no need to complete if not 
applicable)

Regulation Discretion Policy
TP3(5A)(vi), 
TL4, L106(1) 
& D11(2)(c)

Grant application for early payment of 
deferred benefits on or after age 50 on 
compassionate grounds. Although the 
common provisions of the 1997 
Transitional provisions regulations do not 
specify regulation D11(2)(c), there 
intention was that it should apply to this 
regulation.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

Discretionary policies in relation to employees of an employing authority that is defined under 
regulation 2 of The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended)

Regulation Discretion Policy
The Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England 
and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended) [SI 2006/2914]
5 To base redundancy payments on an 

actual week’s pay where this exceeds the 
statutory week’s pay limit.

The Authority’s policy is to base redundancy 
payments on an actual week’s pay where 
this exceeds the statutory week’s pay limit.

6 To award lump sum compensation of up 
to 104 week’s pay in cases of 
redundancy, termination of employment 
on efficiency grounds, or cessation of a 
joint appointment.

The Authority’s policy is to base redundancy 
payments on an actual week’s pay where 
this exceeds the statutory week’s pay limit.

21(4) How to apportion any surviving spouses 
or civil partner’s annual compensatory 
added years’ payment where the 
deceased person is survived by more 
than one spouse or civil partner.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

Page 42



5

25(2) How it will decide to whom any children's 
annual compensatory added years 
payments are to be paid where children's 
pensions are not payable under the LGPS 
(because the employee had not joined the 
LGPS) and, in such a case, how the 
annual added years will be apportioned 
amongst the eligible children.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

21(7) Whether, in respect of the spouse of a 
person who ceased employment before 1 
April 1998 and where the spouse or civil 
partner remarries, enters into a new civil 
partnership or cohabits after 1 April 1998, 
the normal pension suspension rules 
should be disapplied i.e. whether the 
spouse's or civil partner’s annual 
compensatory added years payments 
should continue to be paid.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

21(5) If, under the preceding decision, the 
authority's policy is to apply the normal 
suspension rules, whether the spouse's 
or civil partner’s annual compensatory 
added years payment should be 
reinstated after the end of the remarriage, 
new civil partnership or cohabitation.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

21(7) Whether, in respect of the spouse or civil 
partner of a person who ceased 
employment before 1 April 1998 and 
where the spouse or civil partner 
remarries or cohabits or enters into a civil 
partnership on or after 1 April 1998 with 
another person who is also entitled to a 
spouse’s or civil partners annual CAY 
payment, the normal rule requiring one of 
them to forego payment whilst the period 
of marriage, civil partnership or co-
habitation lasts, should be disapplied i.e. 
whether the spouses’ or civil partners’ 
annual CAY payments should continue to 
be paid to both of them.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

17 Whether and to what extent to reduce or 
suspend the member's annual 
compensatory added year’s payment 
during any period of re-employment in 
local government.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

19 How to reduce the member's annual 
compensatory added year’s payment 
following the cessation of a period of re-
employment in local government.

The Authority’s policy is not to pay 
compensatory added years.

Discretionary policies each employing authority may apply in the exercise of its discretionary 
powers to make any award in respect of leavers, deaths and reductions in pay that occurred 
post 15 January 2012

Regulation Discretion Policy
The Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 [SI 
2011/2954]

Page 43



6

3(1) Whether to grant an injury allowance 
following reduction in remuneration as a 
result of sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease in the course of 
carrying out duties of the job.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

3(4) & 8 Amount of injury allowance following 
reduction in remuneration as a result of 
sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out 
duties of the job.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

3(2) Determine whether person continues to 
be entitled to an injury allowance awarded 
under regulation 3(1) (reduction in 
remuneration as a result of sustaining an 
injury or contracting a disease in the 
course of carrying out duties of the job).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

4(1) Whether to grant an injury allowance 
following cessation of employment as a 
result of permanent incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out 
duties of the job.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

4(3) & 8 Amount of injury allowance following 
cessation of employment as a result of 
permanent incapacity caused by 
sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out 
duties of the job.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

4(2) Determine whether person continues to 
be entitled to an injury allowance awarded 
under regulation 4(1) (loss of employment 
through permanent incapacity).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

4(5) Whether to suspend or discontinue injury 
allowance awarded under regulation 4(1) 
(loss of employment through permanent 
incapacity) if person secures paid 
employment for not less than 30 hours per 
week for a period of not less than 12 
months.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

6(1) Whether to grant an injury allowance 
following cessation of employment with 
entitlement to immediate LGPS pension 
where a regulation 3 payment (reduction 
in remuneration as a result of sustaining 
an injury or contracting a disease in the 
course of carrying out duties of the job) 
was being made at date of cessation of 
employment but regulation 4 (loss of 
employment through permanent 
incapacity) does not apply.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

6(1) Determine amount of any injury allowance 
to be paid under regulation 6(1) (payment 
of injury allowance following the cessation 
of employment).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations

6(2) Determine whether and when to cease 
payment of an injury allowance payable 
under regulation 6(1) (payment of injury 
allowance following the cessation of 
employment).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

Page 44



7

7(1) Whether to grant an injury allowance to 
the spouse, civil partner, co-habiting 
partner (the requirement to nominate a 
co-habiting partner has ceased entirely 
under these regulations due to the 
outcome of the Elmes v Essex high court 
judgement) or dependent of an employee 
who dies as a result of sustaining an injury 
or contracting a disease in the course of 
carrying out duties of the job.

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

7(2) & 8 Determine amount of any injury allowance 
to be paid to the spouse, civil partner, 
nominated co-habiting partner (for 
awards made on or after 1 April 2008 the 
requirement to nominate a co-habiting 
partner has ceased due to the outcome of 
the Elmes v Essex high court judgement) 
or dependent of an employee under 
regulation 7(1) (employee who dies as a 
result of sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease in the course of 
carrying out duties of the job).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

7(3) Determine whether and when to cease 
payment of an injury allowance payable 
under regulation 7(1) (employee who dies 
as a result of sustaining an injury or 
contracting a disease in the course of 
carrying out duties of the job).

To consider each case on its merits having 
regard to financial and service delivery 
considerations.

Flexible Retirement Additional Policy
Flexible Retirement (Regulation R30 (6) and TP11 
(2)) 
This must be completed if you allow flexible 
retirement

Policy

You will need to consider; - 

1. The minimum reduction in hours or grade 
required. 
2. Whether the employee should commit to a 
reduction in hours or grade for a minimum 
period. 
3. Whether the employee should commit to 
remaining in employment with the employer 
for a minimum period 

 
You should also state; - 

1. Whether, in addition to the benefits the 
member has accrued prior to 1st April 2008 
(which the member must draw) to permit the 
member to choose to draw;

1) To consider each case on its merits 
having regard to financial and service 
delivery considerations.

2) To consider each case on its merits 
having regard to financial and service 
delivery considerations.

3) To consider each case on its merits 
having regard to financial and service 
delivery considerations.

1) To consider each case on its merits 
having regard to financial and service 
delivery considerations, with the 
proviso that the Authority does not 
waive actuarial reductions to scheme 
benefits taken before normal 
retirement age

Page 45



8

 • All, part, or none of the benefits they accrued 
after 31st March 2008 and before 1st April 
2014 and/or, 
• All, part, or none of the benefits accrued after 
31st March 2014, and, 
• Whether to waive, in whole, or in part, any 
actuarial reduction which would normally be 
applied to the benefits for Flexible retirement 
taken before normal retirement age. 

  

Page 46



Appointment of suppliers – extended arrangements

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 7 Aug 2020

Report Author P Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details Paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek agreement for the suspension of standing orders 
relating to contracts in respect of two suppliers of long-
standing IT solutions

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) That members approve the suspension of standing
orders relating to contracts with respect to the
named suppliers for a maximum period of 5 years

1.1 Overview

The Authority currently experiences two examples where officers believe that following the
letter of existing standing orders relating to contracts runs counter to the Authority’s overall
interests in so far as achieving value for money and maintaining good supplier relations are
concerned. These are: extensions to the system in use by Planning (UNI-form, supplied by
IDOX) and extensions to solutions developed on open source platforms for web-based, spatial 
and mobile applications (supplied by OneBrightSpace).

These systems and suppliers were originally procured in accordance with contract standing
orders but extensions to the systems in terms of contract duration and scope of functionality 
have since been required and will most likely be required in future. Due to the nature of IT
development it is often not possible to anticipate these needs at the time the contract is

Page 47

Agenda Item 9

mailto:Paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk


originally awarded, nor is it desirable to award a very long-term contract up front in order to
avoid the necessity of bringing this sort of exemption before members. The need to extend the
duration of these arrangements and introduce system functionality into new areas can be taken
as indicating good supplier relationships and satisfaction with the services delivered to date; an
example of not fixing what isn't broken.

In officers’ views in both these cases it is ordinarily counter-productive to seek alternative 
suppliers to provide quotes since these cannot be done on a like-for-like basis as what is sought 
is the extension of an existing integrated system to make best use of the Authority’s current 
skills, software and information.  Therefore only the current suppliers can offer reasonable 
value. Examples where this would apply include:

 a new module for the planning system covering functionality not previously used, e.g. in
Tree Preservation Orders or estate management

 extending the scope of the volunteers’ self-service web-app for different service areas of 
the Authority

When attempts have been made previously to seek “competitive” quotes for incremental 
changes of this nature this has proved to be either not possible or a fruitless and time-
consuming exercise, both for the procuring officers and the quoting suppliers.

The costs to change away from these systems to alternatives would run to many tens of
thousands of pounds in up front capital costs and would lead to disruption and reduced
customer service levels in key functions for several months.

1.2 Proposals

It is therefore recommended that the Authority agree an extension to these arrangements for a
maximum of 5 years, but that in doing so it nevertheless retains the option to review these
systems and accompanying supplier arrangements at any time. Officers will periodically review
the respective markets and software developments to ensure that there are no preferable 
alternatives on offer and that the Authority is continuing to get good value from these 
arrangements.

There is precedent in that these arrangements have been previously agreed by NPA in 2015.

These arrangements do not bind the Authority to any supplier or relationship and alternative 
sources of supply will be evaluated and appointed on the basis set out in the Authority’s 
procurement policy whenever it is appropriate to do so.

No officers or members have any declared interests, or relationships with the supplying
companies beyond ordinary business dealings.

Page 48



RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) That members approve the suspension of standing orders relating to
contracts with respect to the named suppliers for a maximum period of 5 
years

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank



State of the Park Report 2020

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 7 August 2020

Report Author Matt Scanlon

Job title Evidence and Performance Officer/Swyddog Tystiolaeth a 
Pherfformiad

Contact Details Matthew.scanlon@beacons-npa.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To present the State of the Park Report 2020

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of Enclosures Enclosure 1 Brecon Beacons National Park State of the Park 
Report 2020

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) That Members approve the State of the Park Report 
2020

1.1 Introduction or Background

The draft State of the Park Report (SoPR) provides data for 23 indicators to capture a picture of 
the state of the Park as it is today and, for some indicators by comparison with SoPRs 2006 and 
2014, how it is changing over time. It is the core of the evidence base for the preparation of the 
Management Plan 2021-25. The indicators will be monitored over time to establish trends, which 
will allow a detailed understanding of how the Park is changing. 

The draft SoPR was presented to Policy Forum in March 2020 and July 2020. The 
recommendation was for the SoPR to go to NPA for approval subject to undertaking some 
relatively minor updates and revisions to the draft document. A summary list of these revisions 
is provided below:

 High Level summary of SoPR (key messages)

Page 51

Agenda Item 10

mailto:Matthew.scanlon@beacons-npa.gov.uk


 Associated infographics to accompany the high level summary 

 Changes to text to include traffic light system

 Indicator 5 - Flood map to include zones a, b and c1/c2

 Indicator 9 - Priority Habitats/Species (ASNW) additional explanatory text 

 Added contextual material to the summary from the issues report about extent of native 
broadleaved woodland and ASNW as a subset.

 Indicator 10 - Breeding/Nesting Birds analysis, comments and key messages

 Summary of Key messages 

 Bat data commentary from Bat Conservation Trust

 Invasive non-native species (INNS) – updates from project report 

 Upland Erosion – possible verbal update at meeting

 p.68 – added National Trust and Wildlife Trusts to the list of organisations leading the 
Mawndiroedd Cymru Project

 Indicator 9 – corrected Ancient Semi-Natural Woodland rather than Ancient and Semi-
Ancient Woodland

 Appendix 2 – the Bat Maternity Roost list, corrected Aukland House to Buckland House 

 Updated socio-economic impact section in light of Jane Hutt's letter on socio-economic 
duty

 Identify where the Park is in good health and otherwise in (headline summary for each 
indicator and traffic light system in main report and infographics)

 Early evidence of socio-economic impacts of Covid

 Corrections and amendments re housing and affordability ratio

 Woodland figures updated with revised percentages and narrative  

 Footnote added to Water/Flooding regarding NRW work on new evidence

Preparation of the report was initially delayed to allow inclusion of data for two indicators (BTO 
bird data and upland erosion data). The BTO data has now been provided but due to delayed 
survey work as a result of closures to upland areas during the COVID19 pandemic the upland 

Page 52



erosion survey is not finished. Now that the Park is reopening, survey work has re-commenced 
and it is hoped that this data will be published in the final SoPR – if this is the case Members will 
be updated verbally at NPA. 

1.2 Proposals

The draft SoPR is presented as part of this agenda item. If approved, it will become a core part 
of the evidence base for the Management Plan 2021-2025. 

1.3 Implications

The SoPR provides a greater understanding of the condition of the Park and how it is changing 
which will lead to improved objective setting and decision-making by the Authority. The SoPR 
will be monitored and updated where necessary.

1.4 Risk

Indicators within the report seek to demonstrate trends which provide valuable information on 
the health of the Park. In other cases indicators provide a baseline figure against which changes 
can be measured in the future. If the report is not approved then it will not hold significant weight 
when the Authority undertakes engagement with partners in relation to the Issues Report. This 
could lead to less-informed objectives and decision-making when preparing the Management Plan 
for the Park. 

The SoPR also identifies gaps and indicators that we consider to be important but do not have 
relevant data for. Closer working with partners through the Management Plan stakeholder 
engagement process, and beyond, should help to fill these gaps. If we do not pursue these gaps 
in our knowledge it could lead to less-informed decision-making and greater uncertainty about 
whether we are delivering on our purposes and duty. 

1.5 Conclusion

The State of the Park Report 2020 will form a core part of the evidence base for the Management 
Plan 21-25. If approved it will form the core of an evidence base and monitoring approach that 
continues to expand our knowledge of the Park as new data becomes available. The report as 
presented is therefore a snapshot of the condition of the Park at the current moment in time.
 

Page 53



RECOMMENDATION(S): 

a) that Members approve the State of the Park Report 2020

Page 54



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

State of the Park Report 2020

V0.4 July 2020 – NPA 7 August 2020

P
age 55



SoPR 2020 INDICATORS
Chapter 1 - Nature and Climate

1 Condition of Geological SSSIs

2 Condition of Biological SSSIs

3 Natura 2000

4 Water Quality

5 Flood Risk

6 River Discharge

7 Air Quality

8 Condition of Soils/Peat

9 Priority Habitats and Species – Woodland and Ancient Semi-Natural Woodland

10 Breeding/Nesting Birds

11 Bats

12 Invasive Non-Native Species
Chapter 2 - Culture and Heritage

13 Rights of Way

14 Upland Erosion on Paths

15 Welsh Language

16 Cultural Events

17 Historic Environment Scheduled Ancient Monuments

18 Historic Environment Listed Buildings

Chapter 3 - People and the Economy

19 Tourism Spend

20 Population

21 Housing

22 Vacancy Rates

23 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

Page 56



2Page 57



Contents
Figures ...........................................................................................................................................................5

Introduction .................................................................................................................................................7

Headline Summary......................................................................................................................................9

Chapter 1 – Nature and Climate..........................................................................................................18

Introduction...........................................................................................................................................18

Indicator 1 - Condition of Geological SSSIs ...................................................................................21

Indicator 2 - Condition of Biological SSSIs .....................................................................................22

Indicator 3 - Natura 2000 sites .........................................................................................................23

Indicator 4 – Water Quality ..............................................................................................................24

Indicator 5 – Flood Risk......................................................................................................................26

Indicator 6 - River Discharge.............................................................................................................27

Indicator 7 - Air Quality .....................................................................................................................28

Indicator 8 – Condition of Soils/Peat...............................................................................................29

Indicator 9 – Priority habitats and species – Woodland and Ancient Semi-Natural 
Woodland ..............................................................................................................................................31

Indicator 10 - Breeding/Nesting Birds .............................................................................................33

Indicator 11 – Bats ...............................................................................................................................37

Indicator 12 - Invasive Non-Native Species ...................................................................................39

Chapter 2 – Culture and Heritage .......................................................................................................43

Introduction...........................................................................................................................................43

Indicator 13 - Rights of Way..............................................................................................................44

Indicator 14 - Upland Erosion ...........................................................................................................46

Indicator 15 – Welsh Language.........................................................................................................46

Indicator 16 – Cultural Events...........................................................................................................48

Indicator 17 - Scheduled Ancient Monuments ..............................................................................50

Indicator 18 - Listed Buildings ...........................................................................................................51

Chapter 3 – People and the Economy.................................................................................................52

Introduction...........................................................................................................................................52

Indicator 19 - Tourism Spend............................................................................................................55

Indicator 20 - Population ....................................................................................................................56

Indicator 21 - Housing.........................................................................................................................62

Indicator 22 – Town Centre Vacancy Rates ..................................................................................65

Indicator 23 – Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation ...................................................................66

Appendices .................................................................................................................................................70

Page 58



4

Appendix 1- Indicator Comparison Table ......................................................................................71

Appendix 2 – Bat Maternity Roost...................................................................................................73

Appendix 3 - Gaseous Ammonia ......................................................................................................75

Appendix 4 – Natura 2000 Sites and Condition of Features .....................................................77

Appendix 5 – Natura 2000 Sites and Condition of Features (NRW 2020) ...........................80

Appendix 6 - Chemical Status of Water Bodies ...........................................................................81

Appendix 7 - Ecological Status of Water Bodies ..........................................................................82

Appendix 8 - Overall Waterbody Status ........................................................................................83

Appendix 9 - Water Body Status......................................................................................................84

Appendix 10 - 23-year trend species data for 1995-2018 ..........................................................87

Appendix 11 - Welsh Langue Skills Comparison (Source: Census 2011 Welsh Index of 
Multiple Deprivation)...........................................................................................................................89

Appendix 12 – Employment/Unemployment .................................................................................91

Page 59



5

Figures
Figure 1 Condition of SSSI Sites between 2014 and 2017 ..............................................................20
Figure 2 Condition of Geological SSSI features .................................................................................20
Figure 3 Condition of Biological SSSI features ...................................................................................21
Figure 4 Status of SAC Features within the Park (Area in Ha)......................................................23
Figure 5 Flooding and Welsh Government TAN 15 map...............................................................25
Figure 6 Flood Risk in Ha........................................................................................................................26
Figure 7 Annual Average Flow Rate of the River Usk .....................................................................27
Figure 8 NO2 Air Quality Exposure Indicators ................................................................................28
Figure 9 National Parks - Total Peatland - Area (Ha) (NRW 2020) ............................................29
Figure 10 Distribution of Peat ...............................................................................................................30
Figure 11 Woodland habitat area figures (2014 NRW Phase 1 Data).........................................31
Figure 12 Ancient Woodland.................................................................................................................32
Figure 13 Farmland Species ....................................................................................................................33
Figure 14 Upland Species ........................................................................................................................34
Figure 15 Woodland Species .................................................................................................................34
Figure 16 Urban, Wetland and Other Species...................................................................................35
Figure 17 Wales bat species population trends summary table ....................................................37
Figure 18 Invasive Non-Native Species ...............................................................................................39
Figure 19 Number of species and number of records of INNS recorded in the National Park 
within the last twenty years (Data from the Local Records Centre for Powys & BBNP-BIS)
......................................................................................................................................................................40
Figure 20 Top 10 INNS by number of records in the Brecon Beacons National Park (Data 
from the Local Records Centre for Powys & BBNP, correct at 14/02/20) ................................41
Figure 21 Change in Number of INNS Records ...............................................................................41
Figure 22 Registered area of farmed land in the park......................................................................43
Figure 23 Rights of way ‘Easy to Use’ ..................................................................................................44
Figure 24 Rights of way ‘Open’ .............................................................................................................44
Figure 25 Welsh Language Skills (Source: Census 2011) ................................................................46
Figure 26 No. of Local Events Held .....................................................................................................47
Figure 27 Historic Environment Features in the Park......................................................................48
Figure 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments ..........................................................................................49
Figure 29 Listed Buildings and Buildings at Risk ................................................................................50
Figure 30 Tourism spend by sector of expenditure (STEAM data 2017)....................................54
Figure 31 Guests staying in YHA hostel in the Brecon Beacons...................................................55
Figure 32 Population of Wales’ National Parks (Source: Stats Wales, 2018).............................56
Figure 33 National Park Population Projections (Source: Stats Wales 2017) ............................57
Figure 34 Percentage of Residents per age group (Data Source: Stats Wales) .........................58
Figure 35 Household Projections (Source: Welsh Government 2017).......................................59
Figure 36 Household type projections 2014 – 2029 (Source: Welsh Government 2017) .....59
Figure 37 Average Household Size Predictions.................................................................................60
Figure 38 Affordable Housing Need in the Park ...............................................................................61
Figure 39 National Park House Prices (Source Lloyds data on house prices and affordability 
(2018)).........................................................................................................................................................62
Figure 40 Affordability Ratio (Source Lloyds data on house prices and affordability (2018)) 63

Page 60

https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922336
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922337
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922341
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922347
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922354
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922361
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922362
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922363
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922365
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922366


6

Figure 41 House Completions in the National Park (Source: Joint Housing Land Availability 
Studies)........................................................................................................................................................63
Figure 42 Houses built on large housing sites 2015-2019...............................................................64
Figure 43 Annual Vacancy Rates (1 Monitoring Period = 1 Year) ................................................64
Figure 44 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (Source: Welsh Government WIMD)..........66

Page 61

https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922372
https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/sites/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/Shared%20Documents/POG%20core/SoPR%202020%20Draft%20for%20NPA.docx#_Toc46922373


7

Introduction
1. The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority has prepared this State of the Park 

Report (SoPR) to inform the management planning process. It is important to identify 
the key issues that are affecting (both positively and negatively) the achievement of 
park purposes and duty. The purposes and duty, identified in the Environment Act 
(1995), are as follows:

Purposes:
1 Conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage
2 Promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special 

qualities of national parks by the public
Duty:

Seek to foster the economic and social well-being of local communities within 
the national parks

2. The report is informed by data held by a variety of organisations, stakeholder 
involvement and a review of baseline information. Preparation of the SoPR is also the 
essential first step in the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) of the 
Management Plan. 

3. The National Park boundary is not consistent with boundaries of organisations from 
whom we rely on for much of our data, such as Local Authorities and Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW). Therefore, getting meaningful data which has been cut to 
fit within the park boundary can be a challenge. Consequently, the SoPR will remain 
under review and areas that we believe we would benefit from additional data have 
been identified. 

4. The indicators, and others as data becomes available, will be monitored against best 
available baseline data for the Park’s Special Qualities and updated on a regular basis. 

5. The indicators provide a snapshot of the present state of the Park and, where possible, 
signal trends over time against best available baseline data from the 2006 and 2014 
SoPR reports and other sources. 

6. The report must be read subject to caveats, which are identified where relevant, due 
to limited data availability. However, a picture does begin to emerge of the National 
Park as it is today, against which future changes can be measured. 

7. Interpretation, judgement, policy development and planning activity to tackle the 
complex issues that emerge from this report fall under the scope of the Management 
Plan. Appendix 1 provides a table of indicators from 2006, 2014 and 2020 and a list of 
indicators that we would like to use but a data gap exists. 

8. This edition of the SoPR supersedes the 2006 SoPR and 2014 SoPR. 

Background

9. This report is being published at a time of exceptional environmental and political 
challenge at national and global scale.  There is robust evidence and a rapidly growing 
public consciousness about the threat to humanity, both from climate change and the 
decline in nature’s abundance, diversity and connectedness. 

10. It is important that we use best available evidence about the current condition of the 
Park, where possible tracking trends from previous State of the Park Reports, in order 
to inform the development of policies, plans and actions that will be set out in the 

Page 62



8

Management Plan.  In compiling and assessing the information in this report we are 
conscious that we still do not have all the evidence we would like to continue to work 
with the Park’s communities and partners in order to fill known data gaps and achieve 
deeper understandings.  We have given clear indications throughout where we feel 
we need to bring more focus and insight in the future.

11. The report has been organised by three broad chapters that reflect the purposes and 
duty in the original designation of this special protected area whilst acknowledging the 
complex relationships and interdependencies between people, nature and landscape. 
These are: 

Nature and Climate Culture and Heritage People and the Economy

Page 63



9

Headline Summary
 6 of 23 indicators show positive (GREEN) trends against baseline.
 7 of 23 indicators show no clear (GREY) trend against baseline.
 10 of 23 indicators show negative (RED) trend against baseline data. 

Chapter 1 - Nature and Climate (Headline Summary)

Page 64



10

Indicator 1 - Geological SSSIs (Condition of geological features) - GREEN

30% (2006), 91 (2014) and 88% (2017) in favourable condition shows a significant improving 
trend 2007-2014 with marginal decline 2014-2017.

51% (2006), 3% (2014), and 3% (2017) in unfavourable condition shows an improving trend 
2007-2014 and stable trend 2014-2017.

Indicator 2 - Biological SSSIs (Condition of biological features) - RED

Page 65



11

29% (2006), 55% (2014) and 54% (2017) in favourable condition shows a significant improving 
trend 2007-2014 with marginal decline 2014-2017.

55% (2006), 33% (2014) and 34% (2017) in unfavourable condition shows a significant 
improving trend 2007-2014 with marginal decline 2014-2017.

65% (51) of SSSIs are in favourable condition, compared with 69% (53) in 2014, and the overall 
condition of SSSIs shows a declining trend.

34% of SSSIs are in unfavourable condition and only 10% of SSSIs are under appropriate 
management.

Indicator 3 - Natura 2000 (SACs) - RED

44% (7,806.53ha) of SAC features are in favourable condition and 56% (10,112.31ha) are in 
unfavourable condition.

Indicator 4- Water Quality - RED

50% (3 of 6) designated waterbodies achieved WFD ‘good status’, whereas 50% (3 of 6) only 
achieved ‘moderate’ status. WFD signatories are required to achieve good ecological status 
or better for all designated waterbodies by 2027.

Indicator 5 - Flood Risk - GREY

A map of the Welsh Government TAN 15 flood zones and the area of the Park in hectares 
that falls within the C2 flood zone is provided. This figure informs policy decision making, 
however, it is subject to various changes such as our understanding of flood defence 
infrastructure and climate change. Therefore regular monitoring will need to be undertaken. 
SoPR (2014) provided information on flooding taken from the census 2011.  The SoPR will 
not be updated with like for like data until the next census is published after 2021. 

Indicator 6 - River Discharge - GREY 

No obvious long-term trend in annual average flow rate of River Usk from available data, but 
anecdotal evidence exists of increase in seasonal low flows (i.e. spring/summer) which 
exacerbate effect of Phosphate induced algal blooms.

Indicator 7 - Air Quality - GREEN

NO2 air quality exposure indicators in all 7 Local Authority areas within the park demonstrate 
an improvement in air quality from 2009-2017.

Indicator 8 - Condition of soils/peat - GREY

Data provided contains information from NRW in relation to the amount of different types 
of soil in all three National Parks in Wales. On its own it does not provide long-term trend 
data though it will provide a useful baseline for future reports.

Indicator 9 - Priority habitats and species -– Woodland and Ancient and Semi-
Ancient Woodland - GREY

The Park is sparsely wooded, reflecting a history of human exploitation of formerly wooded 
areas for agriculture, timber, other wood fibre and fuel. Approximately 16.5% of the Park 

Page 66



12

(22,243.81 ha) supports woodland or commercial forest plantations. Of this, just under 6% of 
the Park (8043.62 ha) is semi-natural broadleaved woodland or mixed woodland, including 
planted mixed woodland. Together with soil and peatland conservation and restoration, 
increasing woodland cover and wood pasture is a proven means of mitigating the release of 
greenhouse gas emissions (GHG) and locking up atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO2). 
However, tree planting must not be to the detriment of important existing habitats and should 
be based on the right tree in the right place for the right reason.

Ancient woodlands provide a home for many different species in the Park and have been 
included as a subset of native broadleaved woodland. 

Indicator 10 - Breeding/Nesting Birds - RED

Breeding/nesting birds are a good proxy for wider ecosystem health.

The Brecon Beacons farmland bird indicator (Figure 13) shows declines of 20-30% over the 
BBS period, in accord with national as well as the pattern for farmland birds in Wales. The 
woodland indicator (Figure 15) shows an increase (12% in Brecon Beacons cf. 30% in Wales) 
and the ‘other birds’ indicator (Figure 16) broadly stable (15% increase in the Brecon Beacons 
cf. 7% increase in the corresponding Wales trend). The upland indicator (Figure 14) is the 
exception as there is a slight increase in the Brecon Beacons trend (8%), whereas the Welsh 
trend slightly declines by 13%.  

23-year trend species data for 1995-2018 (Annex 10) shows:

 8 red listed species declined by >50% in the Brecon Beacons, of which 4 are associated 
with farmland, 3 with upland habitat and 1 with urban habitat; and

 12 amber listed species declined by >25% in the Brecon Beacons.

Indicator 11 – Bats - GREY

Bats can be a useful indicator for wider environmental health. However, to get statistically 
robust data a minimum number of monitoring sites is required. While there is no clear 
message yet, data from the Annual Report for the National Bat Monitoring Programme (2019) 
has been provided (Wales level)1 with a comparison against the UK data. At the moment 
there are not sufficient monitoring sites in Wales for either summer or winter roosts and 
reports rely on both summer and winter counts to derive trends.  

Indicator 12 – Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) - GREY

INNS is a complex indicator which is difficult to break down into a single measure. However, 
increases have been recorded in Japanese Knotweed, Himalayan Balsam and Giant Hogweed, 
though it should be noted that there has also been an increase in recorder effort. 

1 https://www.bats.org.uk/our-work/national-bat-monitoring-programme/reports/nbmp-annual-report

Page 67



13

Chapter 2 - Culture and Heritage (Headline Summary)

Indicator 13 – Rights of Way - GREEN

There has been a significant increase from 54% to 66% in the ‘easy to use’ rights of way 
between 2010/2011 and 2018-2019, and the percentage of 'open rights of way' within the Park 
has increased from 68% to 89% between 2011/12 and 2018/19.

Page 68



14

Indicator 14 - Upland Erosion - GREY

Awaiting data.

Indicator 15 – Welsh Language - RED

Brecon Beacons has poor Welsh language skills relative to other Welsh National Parks (77.5% 
of Brecon beacons residents have no skills in Welsh) and compared with Wales as a whole, 
Brecon Beacons also performs badly.

Indicator 16 – Cultural Events - GREEN

The number of outdoor/sporting events, cultural and food events and agricultural shows 
increased across all three categories between 2005 and 2019.

Indicator 17 – SAMs - RED

The overall number of SAMs in the Park has increased by 33% (90) between 2005 and 2019, 
but the percentage of SAMs in a stable or favourable condition has deteriorated by 20% 
between 2014 and 2019. It is not clear why there was such a decrease in condition and further 
work is required to understand what can be done to prevent further deterioration. 

Indicator 18 – Listed Buildings - GREEN

The number of Listed Buildings in the Park increased by 241 between 2005 (total 1,711) and 
2019 (total 1,952), the number of Listed Buildings at risk decreased by 62 between 2005 and 
2014, and there were zero Listed Buildings at Risk in 2019.

Page 69



15

Chapter 3 - People and the Economy (Headline Summary)

Page 70



16

Indicator 19 – Tourism Spend – GREEN

Tourism spend figures show year-on-year continuous increase in the value of tourism to the 
local economy of the Brecon Beacons National Park between 2006 and 2017.

Indicator 20 – Population - RED

Page 71



17

Brecon Beacons is the only Welsh National Park due to experience an increase in population 
(1.9%) between 2014 and 2029 before falling back. The percentage of the population aged 0-
19 years has increased between 2011 and 2017, but so has the percentage aged 65+. Welsh 
Government projections indicate:

 an increase in the number of households in the Brecon Beacons National Park by 900 
(5%) between 2014 and 2029;

 numbers of one-person households is set to increase by 890 households (19%) by 
2029, making it the most common household type; and 

 four-person households (at least two adults and one child) are projected to decrease 
by 140 households (11%) by 2029.

This is an important indicator for the state of the park as it is likely to be associated with an 
ageing demographic and reduction in families living and working within the Park.

Indicator 21 – Housing - RED

The average house price across the Brecon Beacons National Park in 2018 was £244,099, an 
increase of 14% in the last ten years. House prices are on average 25% higher than elsewhere 
locally, outside the National Park. The price to earnings ratio, also known as the affordability 
ratio, for the Brecon Beacons National Park is 8.6 (i.e. on average house prices are 8.6 times 
higher than average incomes). This compares with an average across Wales of 5.73.

The total number of house completions, on both large and small sites, between 2015 and 
2019 was 870 houses compared with a LDP target to build 1,592 by the end of 2019.  

Indicator 22 – Town Centre Vacancy Rates - RED

Figures of annual vacancy rates for 4 towns in the National Park (Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay 
on Wye and Talgarth) show that Brecon has the highest vacancy rate and Hay on Wye 
consistently has the lowest/joint lowest vacancy rate. Overall, vacancy rates within the 
National park are lower than the 10.3% national average in 2019. However, all of the centres 
are showing increased vacancy rates year on year from the third monitoring period, with the 
exception of Talgarth. All of the retail centres are at levels which call for action in the LDP.  

Indicator 23 – Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation - RED

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) is the official measure of deprivation for 
small areas in Wales. Five of the eight separate domains (Employment, Education, Access to 
Services, Housing and Community Safety) indicate negative trends between 2008 and 2014 in 
the Brecon Beacons National Park, whereas just three domains (Income, Health and Physical 
Environment) indicate positive trends.  

Page 72



18

Chapter 1 – Nature and Climate

Introduction
12. Nature and its vital contributions to people, which together embody biodiversity and 

ecosystem functions and services, are deteriorating globally2, in Wales3 and, by 
implication, within the National Park. This is exacerbated by the adverse effects of 
climate change.  Whilst we extract and exploit more from nature, this undermines 
nature itself and the natural world’s ability to recover from disturbance.  The natural 
world is now declining faster than at any time in human history.  Changes in land use, 
direct exploitation, climate change, pollution and Invasive Non-Native Species are the 
strongest causes of nature’s collapse.

13. Special Areas of Conservation (otherwise known as Natura 2000 sites), National 
Nature Reserves and Sites of Special Scientific Interest are the most important wildlife 
sites in the Park. SSSIs occupy approximately 19% of the Park area, yet only 10% of 
SSSIs in the Park are under appropriate management4 and 34% are in unfavourable 
condition.  

14. While the largest losses to biodiversity are known to have endured outside of the 
designated sites network, in the wider countryside5, in the absence of evidence to the 
contrary, it is likely that the condition of SSSIs reflects the state of the rest of the 
Park’s habitats and species. Therefore, it is assumed that most of the Park’s habitats 
and species are in an unfavourable condition.  Their rate of recovery depends upon 
the rate and effectiveness of positive human interventions (and non-intervention).

15. A State of Nature Report will be developed within the Nature Recovery Action Plan6 
for the Brecon Beacons National Park.  Additionally, the condition of designated sites 
(SSSIs, Special Areas of Conservation), the non-designated Local Wildlife Sites and 
Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation, ancient semi-natural woodland and 
planted ancient woodland sites, and the changing status and distribution of the Park’s 
bat populations, farmland, wetland, wintering and breeding birds, will provide a 
composite, though not complete picture of the changing state of nature.  Changing 
ecological diversity, species richness and presence and extent of indicator species, in 
particular bats and birds, but also (in future) key insect groups, and the extent and 
distribution of Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS), will be used to assess the rate at 
which the Park’s nature recovers in response to objectives set and actions taken.

16. Specific gaps are identified in the introduction to each chapter. We will continue to 
seek to address these gaps in data in a variety of ways:
 Area Statements 
 Stakeholder Engagement 
 NRAP (2019)
 Landscape Character Assessment
 Census Data

2 IPBES Global Assessment Report on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services 2019
3 State of Nature 2019 / https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-49884132 
4 Natural Resources Wales (NRW)
5 SoNaRR 2016
6 https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/

Page 73

https://www.bbc.co.uk/news/uk-wales-49884132
https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/environment/nature-recovery-action-plan/


19

 Local Authority data 
 Dwr Cymru Welsh Water Mega Catchment Project
 Vital Signs Monitoring Project 

17. Area Statements, a requirement of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, identify the 
public bodies (including National Park Authorities) which may help address the 
priorities, risks and opportunities for sustainable management of natural resources in 
their areas, as identified in State of Natural Resources (SoNaRR) reports. There is 
therefore a reasonable expectation of data sharing through the s62 Duty7 of certain 
bodies and persons to have regard to the purposes of NPAs. 

18. Vital Signs Monitoring Project is an innovative new monitoring programme to be 
applied to the Brecon Beacons National Park. This will aim not only to revolutionise 
the way that UK National Parks are monitored but will also provide targeted 
information relating to the impacts of climate change, land management practices, and 
people in the Park, its nature and biodiversity. This monitoring strategy will be linked 
to the Brecon Beacons Local Nature Partnership Nature Recovery Plan. Vital Signs 
will help to inform future policies relating to nature and biodiversity within Wales, and 
how natural capital assets are enhanced and managed in the future.  

19. Such gaps in data within Chapter 1 include: 
 Bat Maternity Roost – Data provided from the A465 HOV2 assessment (See 

Appendix 2). While this is located within the park it is limited to very specific 
areas and only collected at a fixed point in time. 

 Gaseous Ammonia – potentially useful indicator but lack of data collection 
point within the park area - see Appendix 3

 Annual water abstraction (Awaiting data from NRW)
 Flood risk – not just map but with interpretation and figures on affected 

settlements/developments, NRW data on warnings, incidents, etc.
 Carbon levels
 Energy supply and consumption
 Renewable energy installations
 Rainfall 
 Snow cover/days – met office
 Greenhouse gas emissions

20. The following indicators have therefore been identified for use within Chapter 1 of 
the State of the Park Report 2020: 

7 Environment Act 1995

SoPR 2020 INDICATORS
Chapter 1 - Nature and Climate

1 Condition of Geological SSSIs

2 Condition of Biological SSSIs

3 Natura 2000

4 Water Quality

5 Flood risk

Page 74



20

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 

21. A Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is a formal conservation designation for either 
geological or biological importance. They are highly protected to safeguard the range, 
quality and variety of habitats, species and geological features in all parts of Wales. 
They are the cornerstones of conservation work, protecting the core of our natural 
heritage. SSSIs are the most important sites for Wales’ natural heritage and provide a 
useful indicator for the state of natural health in the park.  

22. In 2017 there were a total of 78 SSSIs either locally, wholly or partly in the National 
Park. Figure 1 shows a comparison of the condition of each of the SSSI sites between 
2014 and 20178. The number of sites that are in favourable condition decreased by 
two, while the number of sites that are in unfavourable condition increased by two. 

23. Within these 78 SSSIs there are 197 features, of which 163 are biological and 34 are 
geological. Indicators 1 and 2 discuss these further. 

24. Indicator 3 identifies the condition of SAC features within the Park. All SACs are by 
definition also SSSIs and therefore the condition of SAC features is considered as a 
subset of SSSIs with a relevant % to demonstrate favourable/unfavourable condition.

8 NRW Rapid Review of the Park 

6 River discharge

7 Air quality

8 Condition of soils/peat

9
Priority habitats and species – Woodland and Ancient 

Semi-Natural Woodland

10 Breeding/Nesting Birds

11 Bats

12 Invasive Non-Native Species

Page 75



21

53

20

5

51

22

5

Sites in Favourable 
Condition 

Sites in Unfavourable 
Condition 

Unknown Condition 
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2014 2017

SSSI Site Condition

To
ta

l S
SS

I S
ite

s

Figure 1 Condition of SSSI Sites between 2014 and 2017

Indicator 1 - Condition of Geological SSSIs

25. Favourable geological condition at individual sites can be summarised across all sites 
to provide an indication of how close sites are to Favourable Conservation Status. 
This is when:

 condition data on the exposures concerned indicate that they are maintained 
on a long-term basis as a viable contribution to the Park’s geological resource

 the availability of each geological example is neither being reduced nor is likely 
to be reduced for the foreseeable future

 there is, and will probably continue to be, a sufficiently large range of such 
examples on a long-term basis

26. Of the 197 SSSI features, 34 features are designated for their geological importance.

30%

91% 88%

51%

3% 3%

19%

6% 9%

2 0 0 6 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 7

Favourable Unfavourable Unkown

CONDITION OF GEOLOGICAL FEATURES

Figure 2 Condition of Geological SSSI features

Page 76



22

27. Figure 2 shows that in 2017, of the 34 features, 88% (30) were in favourable condition, 
3% (1) were in unfavourable condition, and 9% (3) were unknown. The same 34 
features were looked at in 2014 when 91% (31) features were in favourable condition, 
3% (1) was as in unfavourable condition, and 6% (2) were unknown.

28. This shows that the condition of SSSIs in the park are fairly stable, with the same 
number and percentage in unfavourable condition, one less in favourable condition, 
and one more whereby the condition is unknown. This could be seen as a positive, in 
which no SSSIs are worsening in condition, however as the same number are in 
unfavourable condition and the % of features in favourable condition has declined, this 
highlights that the state of geological SSSI features in the Park did not improve between 
2014 and 2017.

29. However, the longer-term trend is more positive because when compared to the 2006 
figures, the state of geological features has improved. In 2006 there were 37 different 
features of geological importance reported within the Park. Of these, 30% (11) were 
in favourable condition, 51% (19) were in unfavourable condition, and 19% (7) were 
unknown.

Indicator 2 - Condition of Biological SSSIs

29%

55% 54%55%

33% 34%

15%
12% 12%

2 0 0 6 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 7

Favourable Unfavourable Unknown

CONDITION OF BIOLOGICAL SSSI FEATURES

Figure 3 Condition of Biological SSSI features

30. Of the 197 SSSI features, 163 are designated for their biological importance. 
31. Figure 3 shows that in 2017 54% (88) were in favourable condition, 34% (55) were in 

unfavourable condition and 12% (20) were unknown. 
32. In comparison, in 2014, 55% (90) were in favourable condition, 33% (54) were in 

unfavourable condition, and 12% (19) were unknown. 
33. In 2006, there were 82 features of biological importance in the National Park. Of these 

29% (24) were in favourable condition, 55% (45) were in unfavourable condition, 1% 
(1) was partially destroyed and 15% (12) were unknown. 

Page 77



23

34. These figures highlight: 
 There are significantly more SSSI features in 2017 compared to 2006 
 There are a higher percentage of features in favourable condition in 2017 

compared to 2006
 There is a lower percentage of SSSI features in an unfavourable condition 

compared to 2006
 There is a higher number of features in unfavourable condition in 2017 

compared to 2006 (due to the overall increase in the number of features)
35. When comparisons are made between the 2014 and 2017 figures which have been 

obtained using the same number of biological features, the condition of SSSIs has 
deteriorated slightly, with fewer features being in a favourable condition in 2017 
compared to 2014, and a higher number and percentage being in an unfavourable 
condition in 2017 compared to 2014. 

36. If we were to use the data of 2006 as a baseline against the most recent data recorded 
in 2017/2018 it could be assumed that the state of the Park in relation to the condition 
on SSSIs is good, or average. However, that is not an appropriate conclusion to draw. 
34% of sites are in unfavourable condition and only 10% of sites are under appropriate 
management. Furthermore, between 2014 and 2017 there has been a decline in the 
condition of SSSIs which is something that will have to be carefully managed in future 
to ensure the condition of these designated sites does not deteriorate.

Indicator 3 - Natura 2000 sites

37. Natura 2000 is a network of core breeding and resting sites for rare and threatened 
species, and some rare natural habitat types which are protected in their own right. It 
stretches across all 28 EU countries, both on land and at sea. The aim of the network 
is to ensure the long-term survival of Europe's most valuable and threatened species 
and habitats, listed under both the Birds Directive and the Habitats Directive.9

38. The National Park Authority has prepared a Habitat Regulation Assessment10 (HRA) 
for the Local Development Plan (LDP) which assesses European sites within (or 
partially within) the park boundary and also a 15km buffer. The following sites were 
chosen: 

 Blaen Cynon Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 
 Brecon Beacons SAC 
 Coed Y Cerrig SAC 
 Coedydd Nedd a Mellte SAC 
 Cwm Cadlan SAC 
 Cym Clydach Woodlands SAC 
 Llangorse Lake/ Lyn Syfaddan SAC 
 River Usk SAC 
 River Wye SAC
 Sugar Loaf Woodlands SAC 
 Usk Bat Sites SAC

9 https://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/natura2000/index_en.htm
10 HRA - https://api.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ldp/download?doc=685771

Page 78

https://ec.europa.eu/environment/nature/natura2000/index_en.htm
https://api.beacons-npa.gov.uk/ldp/download?doc=685771


24

 Aberbargoed Grasslands SAC 
 Cernydd Carmel SAC 
 Cwm Doeithe Mynydd Mallaen SAC 
 Drostre Bank SAC 
 Mynydd Eppynt SAC 
 Rhos Goch SAC 
 River Tywi SAC

39. A table identifying Natura 2000 sites and condition of features can be seen at Appendix 
4. It is taken from Appendix 2 of the HRA (2019) for the LDP. It identifies the condition 
of each of the designated features of the sites which are to be assessed. This will 
provide a useful baseline for assessment of the features of each site in future reports. 

40. Appendix 5 provides SAC Features in the Park and condition data provided by NRW 
(2020).

41. NRW have previously undertaken condition reports, some dating back to March 2010, 
though it should be acknowledged that they do not undertake an assessment of the 
condition of sites anymore. 

42. Figure 4: SAC Features in the Park and Condition shows that the majority of SAC 
features in the Park are in an unfavourable condition. Of the 17,918.85ha of SAC 
features in the Park, 7,806.53ha (44%) are in favourable condition and 10,112.31ha 
(56%) are in unfavourable condition. 

7806.53

10112.31

Favourable

Unfavourable 

Figure 4 Status of SAC Features within the Park (Area in Ha)

Indicator 4 – Water Quality

43. The Water Framework Directive (WFD) establishes a framework for the protection, 
improvement and sustainable use of surface water bodies (rivers, streams, brooks, 
lake, estuaries, canals and coastal waters) and groundwater bodies. Its purpose is to 
prevent deterioration and improve the status of aquatic ecosystems, promote 

Page 79



25

sustainable water use, reduce pollution of groundwater and contribute to mitigating 
the effects of floods and droughts. 

44. Water body status is measured in accordance with the WFD which requires a wide 
range of physical, chemical and biological factors to be recorded. The annual 
classification of surface waterbodies, groundwater and coastal waterbodies categorises 
their condition as high, good, moderate, poor or bad. This status is affected directly 
and indirectly by land use including agriculture, forestry, water abstraction, industry 
and built development. WFD signatories in the UK are required to achieve good 
ecological status or better by 2027.

45. The WFD came into effect in December 2000, and as of 1 April 2014, Natural 
Resources Wales (NRW) became the competent Authority for implementing the 
Directive. 

46. Water body status is accessed against over 30 different indictors and grouped into 
either chemical or ecological status, which when combined provide the overall status 
of a water body. 

47. Appendix 6 shows the chemical status of 6 water bodies in the National Park and 
Appendix 7 shows their ecological status, followed by their overall condition (the two 
tables combined at Appendix 8). A critical issue for the park is that the Llynfi and 
Llangors Lake Special Area of Conservation (SAC), hydrologically connected to the 
River Wye SAC, is the only current Nitrate Vulnerable Zone (NVZ) in the park yet 
the data focuses more on the Rivers Usk and River Tywi. 

48. The biological quality elements and hydromorphological quality elements that are 
measured when assessing water status can be found in Appendix 9.

49. Most of the water bodies surveyed by NRW were not assessed until 2013. Between 
the years 2009 (baseline) 2012 the water bodies were not assessed. Between the years 
2013 – 2015 all water bodies were of ‘Good’ chemical status, with all of them achieving 
‘High’ status by 2017. All water bodies had declined to ‘Good’ status by 2018.

50. When compared to the baseline of 2009, two of the water bodies have improved from 
moderate to good, two have remained the same (one stayed as good, one stayed as 
moderate), and one has declined from good to moderate. 

51. The overall status of surface waters is determined by the lower value of a water body's 
ecological and chemical status, so if one reading is good and the other is moderate 
then the overall status would be moderate. To achieve the overall aim of good 
surface water status, the Directive requires that surface waters be of at least good 
ecological status and good chemical status.  I

52. 3 out of the 6 water bodies surveyed within the park achieved an overall status of 
good. The other 3 water bodies only achieved moderate status. There has therefore 
been an improvement since the baseline data of 2009, where only 2 waterbodies 
achieved good status. However, there has not been an improvement since 2017, with 
no waterbodies improving. 

Page 80



Indicator 5 – Flood Risk

53. There are three types of flooding: coastal/tidal flooding, river flooding and surface 
water flooding through excess rainfall.11

54. Welsh Government Technical Advice Note 15 on Flooding (TAN 15) includes 
Development Advice Maps that define three development advice zones as follows: 

 Zone A: Considered to be at little or no risk of fluvial or tidal/coastal flooding. 
 Zone B: Areas known to have been flooded in the past evidenced by 

sedimentary deposits. 
 Zone C: Based on extreme flood outline, equal to or greater than 0.1% (river, 

tidal or coastal) (ie: greater than 1 in 1,000 chance of flooding in any one year). 
55. Zone C is divided into C1 and C2. 

 C1 is areas of the floodplain which are developed and served by significant 
infrastructure, including flood defences. 

 C2 is Areas of the floodplain without significant flood defence infrastructure.
56. Figure 5 below (TAN 15 map), shows the extent of Zone A, B and C within the Park 

(dark blue). It includes reservoirs and their catchments, rivers and urban areas. 12

Figure 5 Flooding and Welsh Government TAN 15 map

11 https://www.assembly.wales/NAfW%20Documents/qg11-0030.pdf%20-%2020102011/qg11-0030-English.pdf
12 NRW is set to release a new dataset ‘Flood Risk Assessment Wales’ which will, for the first time, build climate 
change assumptions into Wales’ flood risk assessment modelling. The dataset will be released later in 2020, 
alongside publication of the Welsh Government’s update of Technical Advice Note 15: Development and 
Flood Risk.

Page 81

https://www.assembly.wales/NAfW%20Documents/qg11-0030.pdf%20-%2020102011/qg11-0030-English.pdf


27

57. Figure 6 below identifies the area of the Park in hectares that falls within the C2 flood 
zone.  Monitored over time, this figure will provide a useful indicator because it 
informs decision making with regard to acceptable locations of development. Proposed 
development in this area requires a flood consequences assessment to be provided. 

58. Understanding the information requires an understanding of flood defence 
infrastructure, which will change over time. It should be noted that the C2 area at risk 
is also likely to change over time in response to climate change. There currently exist 
various predictions of between 30%-35% increase in winter rainfall over the next 50 
years13.

59. The previous SoPR (2014) provided information on flooding taken from the census 
2011.  This will not be updated with like for like data until the next census is published 
after 2021. The data in the table below has been provided by NRW in March 2020. 

Figure 6 Flood Risk in Ha

Indicator 6 - River Discharge

60. Annual and seasonal discharge reflects rainfall patterns and rivers' vulnerability to 
seasonal changes (drought and deluge), with knock-on consequences for riverine and 
riparian ecology and availability for abstraction.

61. NRW measure river discharge levels by collecting data from various monitoring 
stations located along rivers throughout Wales. There are a number of monitoring 
stations located in the National Park.

13 https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/feb/23/uk-flood-defence-plans-inadequate-warn-scientists

Page 82

https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2020/feb/23/uk-flood-defence-plans-inadequate-warn-scientists


28

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Annual Average Flow Rate of River Usk
Fl

ow
 R

at
e 

(m
3/

s)

Figure 7 Annual Average Flow Rate of the River Usk 
62. Figure 7 shows the annual average 

flow rate of the river Usk 2010 – 2018. The graph highlights that the flow rate 
fluctuates year on year, with the lowest flow rate from this period being recorded in 
2010 at 19.48 m3/s, and the peak flow rate in 2014 at 38.07 m3/s. Although the river 
discharge levels fluctuate year on year, last year (2018) saw an increase from the 
previous year.

63. Monitoring river discharge levels is important because of the potential impacts on 
other indicators identified in this report such as water quality and biodiversity. The 
flow rate of the river can determine what kind of organisms can live in the river, and 
it can affect the amount of silt and sediment carried along the river.

64. Monitoring river discharge levels also provides a good indicator of the state of the 
park in the broader context of climate change.

Indicator 7 - Air Quality

65. Figure 8 below shows the atmospheric NO2 air quality exposure indicators for Wales, 
and the 7 Local Authorities which make up the National Park. Unfortunately, data on 
air quality exposure indicators has not been collected specifically for the National Park 
area, only for the 7 individual Local Authorities the make up the National Park.

Page 83



29

66. Figure 8 highlights that air quality exposure indicators in all 7 Local Authority areas as 
well as Wales as a whole, have decreased from 2009 - 2017, indicating an improvement 
in air quality. The 2 Local Authorities which make up the largest area of the Park, 
Powys and Carmarthenshire (accounting for approximately 66.1% and 16.7% of the 
Park area respectively), are significantly lower than the other Unitary Authorities.

Indicator 8 – Condition of Soils/Peat

67. Like sunlight and water, soils are fundamental to all life on earth.  Without the action 
of detrivores and microbes working with the elements to break down mineral, plant 
and animal matter, soils are not formed, nutrients are not recycled, and life does not 
continue.  Soils in good condition store nutrients and minerals (natural fertiliser), 

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18
Wales Powys Carmarthenshire

Rhondda Cynon Taf Merthyr Tydfil Blaenau Gwent

Torfaen Monmouthshire Linear (Wales)

Year

N
O

2 
ai

r e
xp

os
ur

e 
qu

al
ity

 in
di

ca
to

rs

Figure 8 NO2 Air Quality Exposure Indicators

Page 84



30

gases, water, and soil biodiversity, including invertebrates, microbes, and fungi. The 
symbiotic relationship between healthy soils and the plant kingdom underpins all 
terrestrial food webs and life cycles.  Soils in good condition provide ecosystem 
services, such as clean water for abstraction and water retention to ameliorate 
flooding.  Soil erosion, compaction, grazing pressure and diffuse pollution from 
farmland are significant issues in the Brecon Beacons National Park, which adversely 
affect all of these benefits.

68. Figure 9 shows the distribution of deep peat in the Park. Deep peat refers to a peat 
depth of greater than 40cm. It incorporates a variety of different types of peat, 
including blanket bog, valley mire and basin mire. Peatlands hold more carbon than any 
other habitat type and support important plant and animal communities, and so 
ensuring they are in good condition is essential to mitigate the impacts of climate 
change and recover nature. Peatlands in good condition absorb carbon dioxide from 
the air and store it underground. However, if they are in poor condition the peat 
erodes, oxidises and decomposes, releasing carbon into the air. Therefore, the 
distribution and condition of peat is an essential indicator to monitor as it can 
significantly affect carbon levels and the state of nature in the National Park.  

69. This is the first State of the Park Report that has included an indicator on the condition 
and distribution of peat, and there is therefore no comparative data. Schemes such as 
the ‘Mawndiroedd Cymru’ (‘Wales’ Peatlands’) project, which is a joint scheme 
between the Snowdonia National Park Authority, the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority, the National Trust, Wildlife Trusts and NRW aim to protect, maintain and 
improve some of Wales' most important peatlands to help bring Welsh peatland 
habitats into sustainable management. The next edition of this report may be able to 
monitor how successful this project has been. The data table below contains 
information provided by NRW in relation to the amount of different types of soil in 
all three National Parks in Wales and will provide a useful baseline for future reports. 

Figure 9 National Parks - Total Peatland - Area (Ha) (NRW 2020)

Page 85



31

Figure 10 Distribution of Peat

Indicator 9 – Priority habitats and species – Woodland and Ancient Semi-
Natural Woodland

70. Approximately 16.5% of the Park (22,243.81 ha) supports woodland or commercial 
forest plantations. Of this, just under 6% of the Park (8043.62 ha) is semi-natural 
broadleaved woodland or mixed woodland, including planted mixed woodland.

71. The Biodiversity Information Service provided updated habitat area figures using 2014 
NRW Phase 1 info. The relevant woodland information is extracted and provided in 
figure 11 below. 

Page 86



32

Figure 11 Woodland habitat area figures (2014 NRW Phase 1 Data)

72. Ancient woodlands have many unique features with undisturbed soils rich in nutrients 
and continuity of woodland cover since pre-1600. As such, they provide a home for 
many different species including fungi, insects, microbes, small mammals, birds and 
amphibians. Certain species are only found in ancient woodland, and they are home 
to more threatened species than any other habitat.

73. The Brecon Beacons National Park is not very heavily wooded. There is around 
95,000ha of ancient woodland in Wales, 6,900ha (7%) of which is found in the National 
Park.

74. The 2006 state of the Park report recorded 7,725ha of ancient woodland, suggesting 
that there has been a loss of ancient woodland of 825ha or 10.7%. It is not clear where 
this data has come from therefore we cannot use it as a baseline and should be read 
for information purposes only. 

Figure 12 Ancient WoodlandPage 87



33

Indicator 10 - Breeding/Nesting Birds 

75. Birds are powerful indicators of environmental health14. Many birds sit at or near the 
top of terrestrial and marine food chains and understanding the drivers and impacts 
on their populations gives us an insight into the status of other wildlife. The State of 
Birds in Wales 201815 report includes measures of the importance of Wales in 
supporting the UK breeding populations of Chough (76%), Pied Flycatcher (69%), 
Redstart (47%) and Honey Buzzard (47%) as well as significant proportions of the UK 
wintering populations of coastal species such Common Scoter and Guillemot as well 
as rarer winter visitors such as Brambling and Great Grey Shrike.

76. Data in relation to state of terrestrial wild bird populations in and around the Brecon 
Beacons National Park (10km buffer zone around the Park boundary) has been 
produced by the British Trust for Ornithology (BTO) (June 2020)16. Figure 13 below 
shows farmland bird unsmoothed trend for Wales and the Brecon Beacon region from 
1994 to 2018 for the same 11 indicator bird species. Table 1 within the report shows 
species habitat designations included in the indicator and Appendix 1 of the report 
shows indicator values. The data shows declines of 20-30% over the survey period. 

14 British Trust for Ornithology https://www.bto.org/research-data.../state-birds-wales/2018/state-birds-wales-
2018

15 As above
16 https://beaconsnpagovuk-
my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-
I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg 

Page 88

https://www.bto.org/research-data.../state-birds-wales/2018/state-birds-wales-2018
https://www.bto.org/research-data.../state-birds-wales/2018/state-birds-wales-2018
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg


34

Figure 13 Farmland Species

77. Figure 14 below shows upland bird unsmoothed trend for Wales and the Brecon 
Beacons region from 1994 to 2018 for the same 8 indicator bird species. Table 1 of 
the report shows species habitat designations included in the indicator and Appendix 
1 of the report shows indicator values. The data shows a slight increase in the Brecon 
Beacons trend (8%), whereas the Welsh trend slightly declines by 13%.

Page 89



35

Figure 14 Upland Species

78. Figure 15 below shows woodland unsmoothed trend for Wales and the Brecon 
Beacon region from 1994 to 2018 for the same 26 indicator bird species. Table 1 of 
the report shows species habitat designations included in the indicator and Appendix 
1 shows indicator values. The data shows an increase in both the Park and at national 
level (12% in Brecon Beacons and 30% increase in Wales). 

Figure 15 Woodland Species

Page 90



36

79. Figure 16 below shows urban, wetland and other species unsmoothed trend for Wales 
and the Brecon Beacons region from 1994 to 2018 for the same 14 bird species. Table 
1 of the report shows species habitat designations included in the indicator and 
Appendix 1 shows indicator values.. The data shows a 15% increase in the Brecon 
Beacons and a 7% increase in the corresponding Wales trend.

Figure 16 Urban, Wetland and Other Species

80. Appendix 10 provides 23 year trend data (1995-2018) and 5 year trend data (2013-
2018) for the bird species used in the indicators, colour coded to highlight level of 
change: red is representative of RED listing, yellow of AMBER listing, pale green 
represents a moderate increase and dark green a strong increase. Sample size (number 
of squares) is in brackets. The data shows:

 8 red listed species declined by >50% in the Brecon Beacons, of which 4 are 
associated with farmland, 3 with upland habitat and 1 with urban habitat

 12 amber listed species declined by >25% in the Brecon Beacons
81. The results section of the BTO report (June 2020)17 states that ‘Of 140 bird species 

detected at least once on BBS squares in the Brecon Beacons region since 1994, we were 
able to calculate population trends for 61 species (59 native and 2 non-native species: Canada 

17 https://beaconsnpagovuk-
my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-
I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg 

Page 91

https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EcJlbhmEfW1BtL6p-I7tzHABSSm0IwPCYgPW5iWfVKBjIQ?e=S3E4vg


37

Goose and Pheasant) using BBS data from the Brecon Beacons National Park region defined 
in Figure 1. The 59 native species trends are those used in the indicators. Another eight non-
native species were also detected, most very rarely (e.g. Helmeted Guineafowl, Mandarin 
Duck and Little Owl). We could not calculate robust population trends for the other 71 species 
detected only rarely on BBS squares within the Brecon Beacons National Park. This is not 
unexpected as even at the UK level with over 4000 constituent squares, we report trends for 
only 117 species, detected on 40 squares annually across the UK. A summary of the smoothed 
long-term (23 years) and short-term (5 years) trends for each of the 61 species with sufficient 
data is displayed in Table 1. Note that although survey counts from 2019 unpublished at the 
time of these analyses were used in the analyses, the protocol for reporting longterm changes 
in smoothed trends is from the 2nd to the penultimate year in the time series. Hence the 23-
year trends cover the period 1995 to 2018. For the change in the smoothed trend over the 
most recent five-year period, we compare the 2018 value to the 2013 value. The colour 
coding indicates whether the decline is indicative of red-listing (>50%) or of amber listing 
(>25% and <50%). Increases are also indicated in pale green for moderate increases (>50% 
and <100%) or strong increases (>100%). These thresholds for decline are based on the 
rates used in the Birds of Conservation Concern status assessment for birds in the UK. Starling 
notably had the most dramatic decline of 84% between 1995 and 2018. A total of 8 species 
were shown to be declining by more than 50% over the longer-term period: Swift, Greenfinch, 
Grey Wagtail, Yellowhammer, Curlew, Wheatear and Rook. Twelve species declined between 
25% and 50% in the longer period, including Chaffinch, Magpie, Garden Warbler, Green 
Woodpecker, House Martin, Grey Heron, Long-tailed Tit, Mallard, Redstart, Jackdaw, Blue 
Tit, and Raven, and another 16 species were declining by <25%. In contrast, three species 
have increased by more than 50% (Siskin, Goldfinch and Reed Bunting) and populations of 
eight species have more than doubled (>100% increase). These were Great Spotted 
Woodpecker, House Sparrow, Blackcap, Red Kite, Lesser Redpoll, Whinchat, Stonechat and 
the non-native Canada Goose, although the sample size for the latter three species is small.’ 

82. Generally trends are similar in the Park to those across Wales. One exception is 
upland birds which are doing better in the Park.  There is more variability across the 
Park area than in Wales across time, which can be expected because it is a smaller 
area. The report identifies many caveats with the data, particularly given that there are 
a limited number of sample points in and around the park. 

Indicator 11 – Bats

83. The UK National Bat Monitoring Programme (NBMP) provides data at national scale 
in relation to population trends for British Bat species. There is no Park level data at 
the moment. However, survey indices are produced at a country level for England, 
Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland for species and surveys where sufficient data 
are available. These are identified in the NBMP Annual Report (2019) 18. 

84. Figure 17 below shows a summary of the bat species trends in Wales, derived from 
NBMP surveys to the end of summer 2019. For each species, the number of sites 
contributing to the 2019 trend calculations is shown as well as an approximation of 
the average annual percentage change since the baseline year. It should be noted, 

18 https://cdn.bats.org.uk/pdf/Our%20Work/National-Bat-Monitoring-Programme-Annual-Report-
2019.pdf?mtime=20200514130739&focal=none

Page 92

https://cdn.bats.org.uk/pdf/Our%20Work/National-Bat-Monitoring-Programme-Annual-Report-2019.pdf?mtime=20200514130739&focal=none
https://cdn.bats.org.uk/pdf/Our%20Work/National-Bat-Monitoring-Programme-Annual-Report-2019.pdf?mtime=20200514130739&focal=none


38

however, that the average annual percentage change makes assumptions about the 
data analysis and is only genuinely appropriate for those species for which the trend 
line appears to be linear. 

85. All species showed similar trends at GB and country level with the following 
exceptions: the greater horseshoe bat Hibernation Survey trend showed a statistically 
significant increase at GB level and in England, but no significant difference in Wales; 
the Daubenton’s bat Waterway Survey trend showed a statistically significant increase 
in Wales, but no significant difference at GB or UK level, or in England, Scotland or 
Northern Ireland; the Natterer’s bat Hibernation Survey trend showed statistically 
significant increases at the GB level and in England and Wales, but no significant change 
in Scotland, although the sample size in Scotland is small and therefore the trend may 
be unreliable; the common pipistrelle Field Survey trend showed a significant increase 
at GB level and in England, but no significant difference in Scotland; and the soprano 
pipistrelle Field Survey trend showed a significant increase at GB level and in Scotland, 
but no significant difference in England.

Figure 17 Wales bat species population trends summary table

86. Bat Maternity Roost data is provided from the A465 HOV2 assessment (Appendix 2). 
While this is located within the park it is limited to very specific areas and only 
collected at a fixed point in time.  

Page 93



39

Indicator 12 - Invasive Non-Native Species

19

87. Invasive Non-Native Species (INNS) are a significant challenge to nature recovery, 
with strong and persistent populations of particular plant and animal species, and a 
long and growing list of other species that have the potential to adversely affect the 
Park's biodiversity and landscape.

88. Not all non-native species cause problems, but the minority that do have negative 
impacts on our countryside are considered INNS. Some of the most common INNS 
found in the UK and the National Park includes the Japanese knotweed, Himalayan 
balsam and Giant hogweed. 

89. In April 2018, the National Park Authority launched an invasive species project 
‘Invaders of the National Park’.  The purpose of which is to establish a pilot project 
for surveying and controlling INNS in the Usk and Tawe river catchments, working 
with other projects and organisations to develop a collaborative invasive species 
partnership approach. Ultimately, the project will be looking at how INNS can be 
managed long term. 

90. There have been 59 INNS recorded within the boundaries of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park. (Appendix 1). As of February 2020 there are 4300 invasive species 
records held by the Local Records Centre (BIS) for the Park area. The map in Figure 
18 below illustrates records of INNS that have been found in the Brecon Beacons 
National Park within the last 10 years. 20

19 2019 State of Nature Report BBNP
20 2019 State of Nature Report BBNP

Page 94



40

 

91. The BIS data shows that in the last twenty years both the number of records and the 
number of different species recorded has increased. In the year 2000, 57 records were 
submitted of 10 INNS. In the year 2019, 369 records were submitted of 28 different 
invasive species. A threefold increase in the number of species and a six-fold increase 
in total number of records submitted since 2000 (Figure 19).

Figure 18 Invasive Non-Native Species

Page 95



41

Figure 19 Number of species and number of records of INNS recorded in the National Park within the last twenty years (Data from 
the Local Records Centre for Powys & BBNP-BIS)

92. The Authority’s ‘Invaders of the National Park’ project (2018) would have resulted in 
an increase in records from 1st April 2018 due to the increased survey effort.

93. 125 new INNS arrived in the UK between 2000 and 2015. 45 of these are known to 
have established and 14 of these are considered to have a negative impact (Roy et al. 
2014).

94. Figure 20 below shows the top 10 INNS by number of records within the National 
Park. Note this is not a measure of abundance but the number of times they have been 
recorded.

Page 96



42

Figure 20 Top 10 INNS by number of records in the Brecon Beacons National Park (Data from the Local Records Centre for Powys 
& BBNP, correct at 14/02/20)

Figure 21 Change in Number of INNS Records

 
95. Figure 21 shows the change in number of INNS records, with all three INNS showing 

a significant increase, which could be a result of increased recorder effort. It should 
also be noted that these records are indicators of presence/absence at that particular 
moment in time. They are not measuring extent or frequency of the plant occurring. 
Some more detail is sometimes available in the comments section of each individual 
record along with a photo if the recorder used the full features of the LERC Wales 
app. It will also not tell you if the plant is still in existence as some of the records date 
back to 1968. As this is a new indicator and data set there is no previous data to 
compare to, however comparisons may be made in future State of the Park Reports.

Page 97



43

Chapter 2 – Culture and Heritage

Introduction 
96. The landform which defines the National Park landscape was carved out by the glacial 

action of the last ice age which ended some 12 thousand years ago.  The evidence of 
the ice’s action is written in to the rough and dramatic skyline, the iconic scarps, cwms, 
moraines and screes of the Beacons.  

97. The National Park is a living, working landscape and has been for over eight millennia, 
each successive generation has utilised the land to their best advantage from the 
hunter gatherers of pre-history to the industrialising exploits of the 19th Century. As 
people have lived in these hills and valleys, so too the evidence of their lives inscribes 
the landscape with echoes of their presence. 

98. This interaction between land and people forms a rich tapestry of human experience 
seen in the shape of the fields, the bank and ditch of the breast of a hillfort, the 
footsteps of the drovers treading paths that traverse the valleys.  The culture and 
traditions of people over the ages weaves together a way of life that is inimitably bound 
to place.

99. For millennia people valued the land for its produce. With the turn of the 19th century 
the landscape began to take on a new meaning expressed in the art and poetry of the 
Romantics who believed that natural beauty was and is of itself an entity of worth.  

100. Today the National Park landscape is valued as an inspiring landscape host to 
festivals steeped in music, arts and literature.  Hay Festival is an international literary 
festival held in the border Town of Hay on Wye for 10 days at the end of May, 
capitalising on the image of Hay as the ‘town of books’ the festival attracts writers and 
philosophers from across the world to present their work and ideas to a varied and 
extensive audiences.  

101. In Brecon, the annual jazz festival held every August brings colour and music 
to the streets of this old market town and has in the past attracted names such as 
George Melly and Jools Holland to perform in the festival.  August also sees the 
Glanusk Estate at Crickhowell host the Green Man Festival, a festival celebrating 
alternative and independent music and arts.  Since its inception in 2003 the festival has 
evolved into a 20,000 capacity 4-day event with national radio coverage. 

102. Agriculture has long been surpassed as a focus and mainstay of employment 
for the Park’s rural communities, but in terms of communal activity almost all the 
villages and towns within the Park continue the tradition of the annual agricultural 
show. 

103. The following indicators have been chosen for Chapter 2:

Chapter 2 - Culture and Heritage
13 The % of Rights of Way that are easy to use
14 Upland Erosion on Paths
15 Welsh Language

16 Cultural Events

17 Historic Environment Scheduled Ancient Monuments

18 Historic Environment Listed Buildings

Page 98



44

104. Gaps in data within Chapter 2 include: 
 Area of Farmed Land by type – data requests have been sent to WG but no 

information has been provided as of yet. If/when data is received we will be 
able to use it in this or future iterations of the SoPR. We have received 
information relation to area of farmed land – see Figure 22 below, however 
this does not define the type of farmed land.  

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
62200

62400

62600

62800

63000

63200

63400

Registered Area of Farmed Land (Ha) 

Year

Am
ou

nt
 (H

a)

Figure 22 Registered area of farmed land in the park

Indicator 13 - Rights of Way

105. Data is provided by the Rights of Way Improvement Plan (ROWIP) (2019) and 
additional survey work 

106. Rights of Way considered to be ‘Easy to Use’ are shown in Figure 23 below. 
The graph shows that the percentage of ‘easy to use’ rights of way within the Park 
varied between 2010/2011 and 2013/2014. There has been a more significant increase 
in the ‘easy to use’ rights of way between 2013/2014 and 2018/2019. 

Page 99



45

54 52.45

59.54 57.62

65.69

2010/2011 2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2018/2019
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Year

%
 T

ot
al

 L
en

gt
h 

of
 F

oo
tp

at
h 

'e
as

y 
to

 u
se

'

Figure 23 Rights of way ‘Easy to Use’

107. Rights of Way considered to be ‘Open’ are shown in Figure 24 below. 
108. The graph shows that the percentage of open rights of way within the Park 

increased steadily between 2011/2012 and 2013/2014, and there has been a more 
significant increase in the open rights of way between 2013/2014 and 2018/2019. 

67.83 70.67 71.4

89.05

2011/2012 2012/2013 2013/2014 2018/2019
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

Year

%
 R

ig
ht

 o
f W

ay
 'O

pe
n'

Figure 24 Rights of way ‘Open’

 76 % of Rights of Way within the Park are signposted. This has not been reported in 
previous editions of the SoPR although the ROWIP (2019) shows that this has 
improved significantly from 2002 (56%). 

Page 100



46

Indicator 14 - Upland Erosion

109. Results of an update survey to the 2014 data set are expected in 2020. 
Unfortunately, due to the COVID 19 pandemic and restrictions accessing upland areas 
of the National Park, survey work has not been completed in time to present results 
in the report. Survey work is currently being finalised and it is hoped that the results 
can be included prior to publication of the report, with an update to the NPA when 
results come in. There has therefore been no change to the data used in the 2014 
SoPR21.

Indicator 15 – Welsh Language

110. Welsh language plays a major role in the character and way of life of 
communities in the National Park. Within the National Park, 10.3% of residents can 
speak Welsh. In Welsh speaking communities in the Park it is a key feature of day to 
day life. The richness of the language is celebrated in events such as Eisteddfoddai. The 
Welsh language is reflected in the landscape and place and building names. All residents 
and visitors have some access to and awareness of the language in this way. Recent 
trends have seen a reduction in the proportion of people who can speak Welsh 
fluently.

‘The Welsh language is one of the treasures of Wales. It is part of what defines us as people 
and as a nation’22 

111. Data collected for the 2011 Census identified that there were 562,000 Welsh 
speakers in Wales. In 2017, the Welsh Government released the ‘Cymraeg 2050’ 
strategy with the aim of reaching 1 million Welsh speakers by 2050. In addition, The 
Well-being of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 sets out seven goals, one of which 
is, ‘A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language’. The ever-growing importance 
of the Welsh Language in Wales means that monitoring the percentage of residents in 
the National Park who have Welsh language skills is a good indicator of the state of 
the Park in terms of its the culture and heritage.

112. The data used to demonstrate the state of this indicator is taken from the 2011 
Census. This data probably doesn’t reflect the current state of Welsh language skills 
in the Park, but more recent/up-to-date data is not currently available.  

113. When the 2001 Census was undertaken there was no measurement included 
for Welsh language spoken in the Brecon Beacons National Park as a specific area, 
only at Local Authority level. However, the data shows that the ability to speak Welsh 
varied between 0 and 10% across the East and Central area and rises to 20 – 30% in 
the far West of the Park (taken from Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Welsh 
Language Monitoring Report Reporting year 2008-2009). The baseline for this 
indicator will be the 2011 figures, as they present a more accurate picture of Welsh 
language skills found in the Park. 

21 https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/
22 Welsh Government ‘Cymraeg 2050: A million Welsh speakers. Available at: 
http://www.assembly.wales/Laid%20Documents/GEN-LD11108/GEN-LD11108-e.pdf 

Page 101

https://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/the-authority/who-we-are/npmp/state-of-the-park-report-2/
http://www.assembly.wales/Laid%20Documents/GEN-LD11108/GEN-LD11108-e.pdf


47

77.5

5.5

13.9

2.2

1.2

10.3

3.3

70.3

6.7

20.8

3.5

2.1

15.0

2.4

32.5

7.5

58.6

5.3

3.3

49.7

1.7

73.3

5.3

19.0

2.7

1.5

14.6

2.5

0.0 10.0 20.0 30.0 40.0 50.0 60.0 70.0 80.0 90.0

No skills in Welsh

Can understand spoken Welsh 
only

Can speak Welsh

Can speak but cannot read or 
write Welsh

Can speak and read but cannot 
write Welsh

Can speak, read and write 
Welsh

Other combination of skills in 
Welsh

Wales Snowdonia National Park Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Brecon Beacons National Park

Welsh Language Skills 2011

Percetage of population/residents

Figure 25 Welsh Language Skills (Source: Census 2011)

114. Figure 25 below shows that in comparison to other National Parks in Wales, 
Brecon Beacons has the highest percentage of residents with no skills in Welsh 
(77.5%), followed by Pembrokeshire Coast (70.3%), with Snowdonia having the lowest 
percentage (32.5%). Further data is found in Appendix 11. 

115. The Brecon Beacons has the lowest percentage of residents who can 
understand spoken Welsh only (5.5%), can speak Welsh (13.9%), can speak but no 
read or write Welsh (2.2%), can speak and read but cannot write Welsh (1.2%), and 
can speak, read and write in Welsh (10.3%). This data shows that the Brecon Beacons 
has poor Welsh language skills, relative to other Welsh National Parks. 

116. In comparison to Wales as a whole, Brecon Beacons also performs poorly:
 The percentage of residents in Wales who had no skills in Welsh was 73.3% - 

lower than the Brecon Beacons figure of 77.5%. 
 The percentage of people of people who could speak, read and write Welsh in 

Wales was 14.6% - higher than the Brecon Beacons figure of 10.3%. 
 The percentage of people who could understand only spoken Welsh in Wales was 

5.3% - lower than the Brecon Beacons at 5.5%.
 The percentage of those residents of Wales who could speak Welsh was 19% - 

higher than the Brecon beacons average of 13.9%. 
 The percentage in Wales who could speak, but could not read or write was 2.7% 

- higher than the Brecon Beacons of 2.2%. 
 The percentage in Wales who could speak and read, but could not write Welsh 

was 1.5% - higher than the 1.2% in the Brecon Beacons.

Page 102



48

Indicator 16 – Cultural Events

117. People connect to the National Park landscape and cultural heritage through 
coming together at events, which also play an important role in wellbeing and 
community cohesion for residents and awareness, understanding and enjoyment for 
residents and visitors alike. Cultural events encompass a wide range from traditional 
local Eisteddfoddai and local agricultural shows, to new forms through theatre, local 
arts and dramatic groups including the Young Farmers Clubs. In addition to cultural 
events a wide range of walking festivals and other outdoor events also take place each 
year.

0 5 10 15 20 25 30

Agricultural Shows

Cultural and Food Events

Outdoor/Sporting Events

2005 2019

Number of Events Held

Figure 26 No. of Local Events Held

118. Figure 26 shows that the number of shows across all three categories of events 
increased between 2005 and 2019. 

Historic Environment (Scheduled Ancient Monuments and Listed Buildings)

119. Historic environment is a broad term which refers to all evidence of human 
interaction within the landscape, both material, as in standing buildings or buried 
monuments to landscapes such as ancient ploughed furrows or recent planted gardens.  
The Historic Environment is the story of successive human lives lived out within a 
landscape that evolves with time.

120. In the National Park the complexity of the Historic Environment is vast, 
stretching from prehistory right through to the modern day.  

121. The Park has a wealth of stone circles, and burial chambers, Iron Age Hillforts 
and Roman camps.  Among our historic churches is St Catwg’s, Llangattock, founded 
in the 6th Century and considered one of the oldest in Britain, although it has been 
largely rebuilt over the years – its relatively recent additions include a 14th century 
nave, 16th century tower and two incredibly old yew trees.  During the Norman 
Conquest, the hills were peppered with Castles.  The ruins of Carreg Cennen are 

Page 103



49

probably the best known remaining fortifications. Llanthony Priory was founded 
around 1100, and medieval farmhouses followed.  Land which wasn’t used by the 
Norman barons was used by villagers as a source of firewood, turf, peat and gravel, 
and as grazing for sheep, cattle and pigs.

122. Huge changes took place during the Industrial Revolution of the late 18th 
century. Limestone, silica sand and ironstone were quarried on the fringes of the Park 
to feed demand from the furnaces of the South Wales Valleys. 

123. The Monmouthshire Canal and the Brecknock and Abergavenny Canal, 
founded in the 1790s, completed in 1812 and linked to a network of tramroads and 
railways, became important corridors for the transport of limestone, coal and iron. Its 
current incarnation is known as the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal. As well as 
industrial structures, the Georgian and Victorian age brought some fine urban and 
rural buildings to the area, some of which still retain their original features.

Figure 27 Historic Environment Features in the Park

Page 104



50

Indicator 17 - Scheduled Ancient Monuments

2005 2014 2019
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

0.00%
10.00%
20.00%
30.00%
40.00%
50.00%
60.00%
70.00%
80.00%
90.00%
100.00%

No. of SAMs % in Stable or Favourable Condition

Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAMS)

Figure 28 Scheduled Ancient Monuments

124. Figure 28 above shows that:
 In 2005, there were 268 scheduled ancient monuments in the park, of 

which 95.9% were in a stable or favourable condition 
 In 2014 there were 357 scheduled ancient monuments, of which 92% in a 

stable or favourable condition 
 In 2019 there were 358 scheduled ancient monuments, of which 72% in a 

stable or favourable condition 
125. The overall number of SAMs in the park is increasing. Between 2005 and 2014 

there was an increase in the number of SAMs of 89, which is a 33% increase. One 
further SAM was identified between 2014 and 2019. 

126. The data shows that the condition of the SAMs in the park is deteriorating. 
Between 2014 and 2019 the percentage of SAMs in the park that were in a stable or 
favourable condition dropped by 20%. It is not clear why there was such a decrease in 
the percentage of SAMs that are in stable or favourable condition. Further work is 
required to understand this and what can be done to prevent further deterioration.  

127. The numbers of other archaeological features in the park increased 
dramatically between 2005 (3,438 sites) and 2018 (c16.830 sites).  The number of 
Historic Parks and Gardens also increased from 6 to 18. Landscapes of outstanding 
historic interest decreased from 5 to 3 over the same time period. 

Page 105



51

Indicator 18 - Listed Buildings

1711
1950 1952

191
129

2 0 0 5 2 0 1 4 2 0 1 9

Listed Buildings (No.) At Risk

LISTED BUILDINGS AND BUILDINGS AT RISK

Figure 29 Listed Buildings and Buildings at Risk

128. The number of Listed Buildings in the park increased by 241 between 2005 
(total 1,711) and 2019 (total 1,952). The increase was more pronounced between 
2005 and 2014 with just 2 new Listed Buildings identified between 2014 and 2019. 

129. The number of Listed Buildings at Risk decreased by 62 between 2005 and 
2014.  We are awaiting data in relation to the Listed Buildings within the park judged 
to be at risk.  

Page 106



52

Chapter 3 – People and the Economy 

Introduction
130. The interaction of people and nature over time has shaped the distinctive 

character and aesthetic, ecological and cultural value of the National Park. 
“Safeguarding the integrity of this interaction is vital to protecting and sustaining the 
area and its associated nature conservation and other values” (IUCN Guidelines for 
Applying Protected Area Management Categories). National Parks are living 
landscapes. The NPA has two purposes, the first to enhance the natural beauty, wildlife 
and cultural heritage and the second to promote opportunities for understanding and 
enjoyment of the special qualities, through which a Duty to foster the economic and 
social wellbeing of their local communities is delivered.

131. The many issues currently facing communities in the Park include: climate 
change, increased flood risk and biodiversity decline with related impacts on peoples’ 
wellbeing, uncertainty over changes to agricultural support (i.e. switch from income 
support to ‘public money for public goods’), rural poverty, cost of housing, ageing 
population, equality and inclusion, inter-generational equity, migration of young people 
and access to services. Many of these issues have been exacerbated by the current 
COVID 19 pandemic. 

132. Addressing these issues is in the hands of many agencies, organisations and 
voluntary and community groups. The Park designation offers opportunities to address 
some of these issues. Sustainable and nature-based tourism confers an economic 
benefit and can variously contribute to conservation, enhancement and promotion of 
opportunities for understanding and enjoyment. Furthermore, a high-quality 
environment and access network offers physical and mental wellbeing opportunities.

133. Current trends have been towards an ageing population with reducing 
opportunities for younger people and families to live and work within the Park. A 
reduction in the farming community has had a direct impact on farming practices and 
an indirect impact on other aspects of rural life and cultural heritage, including 
community organisations, rural schools, shows and events, informal care and 
volunteering.

134. Employment data is currently only available by local authority area. The 
previous iterations of the State of the Park Report in 2006 and 2014 referred to census 
data from 2001 and 2011. Updated Census data is not available until 2021/2022, 
although some figures have been provided in this report which are taken from 
Experian forecasts and therefore not a true reflection of the state of the Park. The 
categories of employment used in the Experian data differ from those used in the 
census and direct comparisons are not compatible. Appendix 12 provides some 
consideration of employment and unemployment levels, though it is not used as an 
indicator in this report.

135. The next iteration of the SoPR will use census data from 2021 which will 
provide a useful comparison to the employment data from the SoPR 2006 and 2014. 

136. We are expecting data from Welsh Government in relation to the size of farm 
businesses. If this data is received in time it can be used in this report, otherwise it will 

Page 107



53

be reported in future iterations. Other areas where the report would benefit from 
further data are:
 Eligibility for free school meals
 No. of public charging points in the Park
 Walking in the lowlands and Mental Health 
 Extent of active travel routes 
 Broadband access and speeds
 Political map over time
 International Dark Sky Reserve Data 

137. The following indicators are used for Chapter 3 of the SoPR:

Theme 3 - People and the Economy
19 Tourism Spend
20 Population
21 Housing
22 Vacancy rates
23 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

138. Powys County Council prepared a report in July 2020 ‘Understanding the 
Impact of COVID 19 in Powys’23. While the full impact of the virus will not be known 
for some time, trends are becoming apparent and the report provides some indication 
of the effects that may be expected on the economy and communities within Powys 
(the Unitary Authority with the largest area/population within the Park boundary) over 
the short, medium and long term. The following infographic provides information on 
the impact of the virus. 

  

23 https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE?ref=Link&loc=play

Page 108

https://sway.office.com/sxfU525TCBDFv9PE?ref=Link&loc=play


P
age 109



Indicator 19 - Tourism Spend 

139. Tourism spend information is collected for the Park by STEAM (Scarborough 
Tourism Economic Activity Model). The value of tourism to the local economy of the 
National Park is increasing. Figure 22 below shows that between 2006 and 2017, year 
on year there is almost a continuous increase in tourism spending within the Park 
(with the exception of a large increase in spending in 2008, followed by a decrease in 
2009). The data shows that in 2017, food and drink is the sector with the largest 
expenditure at 49.4 million, followed by shopping (37.8 million), then transport (36.4 
million). In comparison, accommodation only accounted for 21.9 million. This reflects 
the data shown in Indicator 12 of the 2014 edition of the SoPR, which highlighted that 
the number of staying visitors to the Park is much lower than number of day visitors, 
and is comparatively lower than the number of staying visitors in other National Parks.  

140. These figures show the continuing and increasing importance of tourism to the 
economy of the Brecon Beacons National Park.

Figure 30 Tourism spend by sector of expenditure (STEAM data 2017)

141. The Youth Hostel Association (YHA) have released a report ‘Guests staying 
with the YHA in National Parks’24. Data specific to the Brecon Beacons National Park 
shows a steady increase in domestic and international guests over the past 5 years.

24 https://beaconsnpagovuk-
my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EQ6bPLZnlAVBpDsn281Q2WUB8Gq-
C788bd9Z--RCrd2cdw?e=tbq1nl 

Page 110

https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EQ6bPLZnlAVBpDsn281Q2WUB8Gq-C788bd9Z--RCrd2cdw?e=tbq1nl
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EQ6bPLZnlAVBpDsn281Q2WUB8Gq-C788bd9Z--RCrd2cdw?e=tbq1nl
https://beaconsnpagovuk-my.sharepoint.com/:b:/g/personal/matthews_breconbeacons_org/EQ6bPLZnlAVBpDsn281Q2WUB8Gq-C788bd9Z--RCrd2cdw?e=tbq1nl


56

Figure 31 Guests staying in YHA hostel in the Brecon Beacons

Indicator 20 - Population

142. An enduring mixed age population is important for community wellbeing, 
supporting a healthy society and local economy. The retention of facilities and services 
(e.g. schools, pubs, village shops and post offices) can be critically and irretrievably 
affected by local demographic changes; as can local resilience, including informal care 
for dependent children and adults and informal support for members of the wider 
community, enabling people of working age to be economically active and older people 
to stay in their own homes.  

Page 111



57

 

143. Figure 32 above shows that the Brecon Beacons has the highest population of 
the three National Parks in Wales at 33,701 in 2017, compared to 22,459 in 
Pembrokeshire Coast and 25,355 in Snowdonia. 

144. The Office for National Statistics (ONS)25 projects that the population of 
Wales is set to increase from 3,138,631 people in 2018, to 3,159,070 people in 2026 
before falling back to 3,117,538 people in 2041.

145. Whilst we await 2018-based sub-national projections, 2014-based projections 
(see graph below) shows that the population of the Brecon Beacons is predicted to 
follow this trend, experiencing an increase of 1.9% between 2014 and 2029 before 
falling back. Brecon Beacons is the only National Park in Wales due to experience an 
increase in population, with both Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia due to 
experience decreases of 12.3% and 6.6% respectively.26 

25 Office for National Statistics (2019). National population projections: 2018 based. Available at: 
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletin
s/nationalpopulationprojections/2018based
26 Welsh Government (2017). Population projections for National Parks in Wales, 2014-based. Available at: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/170726-population-projections-national-
parks-2014-based-en.pdf

Mid-ye
ar 

2001 

Mid-ye
ar 

2002 

Mid-ye
ar 

2003 

Mid-ye
ar 

2004 

Mid-ye
ar 

2005 

Mid-ye
ar 

2006 

Mid-ye
ar 

2007 

Mid-ye
ar 

2008 

Mid-ye
ar 

2009 

Mid-ye
ar 

2010 

Mid-ye
ar 

2011 

Mid-ye
ar 

2012 

Mid-ye
ar 

2013 

Mid-ye
ar 

2014 

Mid-ye
ar 

2015 

Mid-ye
ar 

2016 

Mid-ye
ar 

2017 
0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

Brecon Beacons Pembrokeshire Coast Snowdonia

@ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @
0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

35000

40000

Brecon Beacons Pembrokeshire Coast Snowdonia

Figure 32 Population of Wales’ National Parks (Source: Stats Wales, 2018)

Page 112

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/nationalpopulationprojections/2018based
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/populationandmigration/populationprojections/bulletins/nationalpopulationprojections/2018based


58

146. Population projections use assumptions (based on recent trends) about births, 
deaths and migration to provide estimates on the size of future populations. The 
population projections shown in Figure 33 covers the 25-year period from 2014 to 
2039.

147. An ageing population is a common demographic feature of National Parks in 
Wales. As is shown in the graph below, the Brecon Beacons National Park follows this 
trend. The graph shows that the percentage of the population in the Brecon Beacons 
National Park is below the national average between the ages of 0– 44. However, 
between the age ranges of 45 – 85+, the percentage of the population in these age 
ranges in the National Park is consistently above the average, with the biggest 
difference found between ages of 50-55. Comparison figures between 2011 and 2017 
show how the percentage of the population between 0-19 has increased in this period, 
but so has the population aged 65+.

6.7
6.5

6.2
6.5

7.2 7.3

6.7
6.4

7.2

6.2

5.5
5.3 5.4 5.5

4.5

3.4

2.3

1.6

4.3

5.1 5.0

5.4

4.4
4.7

4.0

4.8
5.0

6.7

8.0 7.9
7.5

7.8

7.1

4.9

3.7
3.5

5.8

5.4

5.8

6.4

6.9

6.1
5.7

5.9

7.0
7.2

6.6

6.1

6.7

5.5

4.4

3.6

2.6 2.5

4.3

4.7

5.9
6.1

4.8

4.2 4.2

5.1

6.8

7.8

7.0

7.5

8.6

6.9

5.6

4.4

3.3
3.1

0-4 5-9 10-14 15-19 20-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85+
0.0

1.0

2.0

3.0

4.0

5.0

6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

Wales 2017 Brecons Beacons National Park 2017 Wales 2011 Brecons Beacons National Park 2011

Figure 33 National Park Population Projections (Source: Stats Wales 2017)

Figure 34 Percentage of Residents per age group (Data Source: Stats Wales)

Page 113



59

0 1000 2000 3000 4000 5000 6000

1 Person Households

2 Person Households (no children)

4 Person Households (2 adults, 1+ children)

2014 2019 2024 2029

Number of Households

Figure 36 Household type projections 2014 – 2029 (Source: Welsh Government 2017)

148. Welsh Government27 predicts there will be a decrease in the number of 
households in the Pembrokeshire Coast and Snowdonia National Parks between 2014 
– 2029, and they anticipate an increase in the number of households in the Brecon 
Beacons National Park by 900 (5%).

Figure 35 Household Projections (Source: Welsh Government 2017)

149. The increase in households could be attributable to a variety of reasons 
including the change in household types. Welsh Government projections 2014-2029 
show a shift in the household type from the most common being 2 Person Households 
(no children) in 2019, to single person households becoming more prevalent by 2029. 

150. Figure 36 shows the 3 household types expected to see the biggest change in 
the Brecon Beacons national park 2014 - 2029. In 2014, the most common household 
type was two-person (two adults, no children) households. However, Welsh 
Government projections indicate that the numbers of one-person households is set 
to increase by 19% (890 households) by 2029, making it the most common household 
type. 

27 Welsh Government (2017). National Park Householder Projections (2014-based). Available at: 
https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2018-12/170726-household-projections-national-
parks-2014-based-en.pdf)

Page 114



60

151. The largest decrease is predicted to be found amongst four-person households 
(at least two adults and one child). This group is projected to decrease by 11% (140 
households) by 2029.

152. This is an important indicator for the state of the park as it closely allies with 
issues associated with an ageing demographic and the loss of families living and working 
within the National Park. 

153. The increase in one person households could negatively affect the state of the 
park, as it could increase the demand for housing, and lead to under occupation of the 
larger houses. 

2.21 2.20 2.19 2.19 2.18 2.17 2.16 2.16 2.15 2.14 2.14 2.14 2.13 2.13 2.12 2.12 2.12 2.12 2.11 2.11 2.11 2.11 2.11 2.11 2.11 2.10
2.13 2.12 2.11 2.11 2.10 2.09 2.09 2.08 2.07 2.07 2.06 2.06 2.05 2.04 2.04 2.03 2.03 2.02 2.02 2.01 2.01 2.00 2.00 1.99 1.99 1.98

2.08 2.08 2.07 2.06 2.05 2.04 2.03 2.03 2.02 2.01 2.01 2.00 2.00 1.99 1.99 1.98 1.98 1.97 1.97 1.96 1.96 1.96 1.95 1.95 1.95 1.94

@ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @ @
1.80

1.85

1.90

1.95

2.00

2.05

2.10

2.15

2.20

2.25

Brecon Beacons National Park Pembrokeshire Coast National Park Snowdonia National Park

Figure 37 Average Household Size Predictions

Page 115



61

Indicator 21 - Housing

154. Vibrant thriving communities are those where people are able to access good 
quality housing at a level they can afford.  Research undertaken to support policy 
development within the national park28 has highlighted that the there is a significant 
shortfall in affordable housing to meet our community’s needs29.  Affordable housing 
is crucial to the sustainability of rural communities, and as housing becomes less 
affordable the demographic of communities shifts, young people are priced out of the 
housing market, and available housing stock is sold to incoming retirees or as second 
homes.  This in turn is having an impact on the provision of rural services such as 
schools, pubs, village shops and post offices.  The following indicators consider the 
housing need of the communities over the next 15 years, the level of affordable 
housing projected as necessary, and the drivers of housing affordability in terms of 
average income vs house prices.

Figure 38 Affordable Housing Need in the Park

155. The LDP 2007-2022 set out an affordable housing need of 1,248 houses, an 
average of 83 houses per year. By April 2019 140 houses had been completed over 
the plan period, representing 11% of the total needed.  Between 2013 and 2019 
planning permission has been granted for 162 new affordable dwellings.  

156. The average house price across the Brecon Beacons National Park in 2018 was 
£244,099, an increase of 14% in the last ten years (Lloyds data on National Park & 
affordability).

28 Affordable Housing Issues Paper Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 2010
29 Affordable Housing in this context means housing that is provided by a Registered Social Landlord (or 
equivalent) for rent or part ownership at levels set by the Welsh Government which can only be occupied by 
people with a local connection who cannot afford to access housing in any other way.

Page 116



62

157. House prices are on average 25% higher than elsewhere locally, outside the 
National Park.  The comparison with other National Parks can be seen below30. 

New Fo
rest

La
ke

 Dist
ric

t

Peak
 Dist

ric
t

So
uth Downs

Pembroke
sh

ire

Exm
oor

Yorks
hire

 Dale
s

Breco
n Beac

ons

The Broad
s A

uthorit
y 

Dart
moor

North
 York 

Moors

Sn
owdonia-20%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Premium to County % 10 year % change

Figure 39 National Park House Prices (Source Lloyds data on house prices and affordability (2018))

158. The price to earnings ratio, also known as the affordability ratio for the Brecon 
Beacons National Park is 8.6 (i.e.  on average house prices are 8.6 times the average 
income).  This compares with an average across Wales of 5.73.  The affordability index 
variation across the National Parks can be seen graphically below.

Nati
onal 

Park

Sn
owdonia

North
 York 

Moors

Yorks
hire

 Dale
s

Breco
n Beac

ons

Pembroke
sh

ire
 Coast

The Broad
s A

uthorit
y

Dart
moor

La
ke

 Dist
ric

t

Peak
 Dist

ric
t

Exm
oor

So
uth Downs

New Fo
rest

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

National Park Average Wales Average

Figure 40 Affordability Ratio (Source Lloyds data on house prices and affordability (2018))

30 Lloyds data on house prices and affordability (2018) 

Page 117

https://beaconsnpagovuk.sharepoint.com/:x:/s/PolicyOfficersGroupPOG-POGcore/EaJp8Ev-DHNGj_Gqsi314KUBpZrqgSsljGgCQHbXFJBE6w?e=1bhxcV


63

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

Large Sites Small Sites Total LDP Cum

Figure 41 House Completions in the National Park (Source: Joint Housing Land Availability Studies)

159. The graph above shows the total number of completions, on both large and 
small sites since the start of the current plan amount to 870 homes, compared with a 
plan to build 1,592 by the end of 2019.

160. Completions data (Figure 42 below) shows how many new houses were 
completed since 2015 across the park in total. This should be set this out against the 
targets in the LDP which defined a need for 1,990 homes to meet our community's 
needs for the period 2007-2022).

Figure 42 Houses built on large housing sites 2015-2019

Page 118



64

Indicator 22 – Town Centre Vacancy Rates
161. Monitoring town centre vacancy rates is a good indicator of the Park’s 

economy and gives an indication of how towns within the Park are meeting the needs 
of local communities and tourists.

162. Figure 43 shows 
the annual vacancy rates for 4 towns in the National Park – Brecon, Crickhowell, Hay 
on Wye and Talgarth. As the data shows, in 3 of the 5 monitoring periods, Brecon has 
the highest vacancy rate. The highest vacancy rate of 11% was recorded in Talgarth, in 
the second monitoring period and in Brecon in the fifth monitoring period. With the 
exception of the fifth monitoring period, Hay on Wye consistently has the lowest/joint 
lowest vacancy rate. The national vacancy rate in July 2019 was 10.3% (British Retail 
Consortium). This shows that with the exception of two vacancy rates of 11%, rates 
within the National Park are lower than the national average. The Welsh average 
vacancy rate is 11%. 

163. Figure 43 also shows that all of the centres are showing increased  vacancy 
rates year on year from the third monitoring period, with the exception of Talgarth 
which seems to be going in the opposite direction. All of the retail centres are at levels 
which trigger action through the LDP.  Brecon has a higher vacancy rate because it is 
a very different retail centre to the others listed with a higher retail turnover and 
significantly higher retail floor areas. It is therefore more significant than all the others 
combined in terms of economic activity in the area and due regard should be paid to 
the Brecon trend data. 

First Monitoring 
Period

Second Monitoring 
Period

Third Monitoring 
Period

Fourth Monitoring 
Period

Fifth Monitoring 
Period

0%

2%

4%

6%

8%

10%

12%

Brecon Crickhowell Hay on Wye Talgarth
Figure 43 Annual Vacancy Rates (1 Monitoring Period = 1 Year)

Page 119



65

Indicator 23 – Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation

164. The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD) is the official measure of 
deprivation for small areas in Wales. WIMD is made up of eight separate domains of 
deprivation: income; employment; health; education; housing; access to services; 
environment; and community safety. WIMD is used to give an overall deprivation rank 
for each of the 1,909 lower super output areas (LSOA) in Wales and to give ranks for 
the separate deprivation domains for each of the LSOAs. The most deprived areas are 
ranked highest for deprivation. Communities in rural areas such as the National Park 
will generally rank high (i.e. deprived) for access to services, and low (i.e. not deprived) 
for other domains (e.g. access to environmental services). The shift in ranking over 
time for the different areas (i.e. compared to other areas) will indicate the changes in 
the relative wellbeing of the National Park communities.

165. Figure 44 identifies how the lower super output areas (LSOA) within the 
Brecon Beacons National Park rank in the eight domains of deprivation. 

Income 

‘Percentage of population in Income Deprivation. Those who are: in receipt of Income 
Related Benefits; in receipt of Tax Credits with and income 60% below the Wales median; or 
a Supported Asylum Seeker’

2008
Income

2014 2008
Employment

2014 2008
Health Domain

2014 2008
Education

2014 2008
Access to Services

2014 2008
Housing

2014 2008
Physical Environment

2014 2008
Community Safety Domain 

2014
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

0 – 25% (most deprived) 25 – 50% 50 – 75% 75 – 100% (least deprived)

Figure 44 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (Source: Welsh Government WIMD)

Page 120



66

166. In 2008 there was only 1 LSOA in the most deprived category (0-25%), 
however by 2014 this had increased to 2. Between 2008 and 2014, the number of 
LSOAs in the 25-50% category decreased from 10 to 6, and the number in the 50-
75%, and 75-100% (least deprived) categories increased from 10 to 15 and 14 to 15 
respectively. This shows a positive trend as the most deprived category has the lowest 
number of LSOAs, and the least deprived category has the highest number of LSOAs, 
with a slight increase between 2008 and 2014.

Employment 

‘Percentage of working age population in receipt of Employment Related Benefits’

167. The number of LSOAs within the most deprived category remains unchanged 
at 3 between 2008 and 2014, as does the 25-50% category with 10 LSOAs. The 
number of LSOAs in the least deprived category has decreased from 17 in 2008 to 14 
in 2014. This has resulted in an increased in LSOAs in the 50-75% category from 9 to 
11. This highlights that even though there is a far greater number of LSOAs in the least 
deprived category compared to the most deprived, there has been a decline, with a 
number of LSOAs moving to a more deprived category. 

Health Domain 

‘All-Cause Death Rate, Cancer Incidence Long Term Limiting Illness and Low Birth Weight’

168. There has been an increase in the number of LSOAs in the least deprived 
category from 1 in 2008 to 2 in 2014. There has however been a decrease in the 
number of LSOAs in the 25-50% category from 14 to 10, and the number in the 50-
75% category has remained the same at 9. There has been an increase in the number 
of LSOAs in the least deprived category from 15 to 17. This shows a positive trend as 
the number of LSOAs in the more deprived category has decreased, with a 
corresponding increase in the number in the least deprived category. 

Education

‘Key Stage 2 Average Point Score, Key Stage 4 Capped Point Score, Key Stage 4 Level 2 
Inclusive, Repeat Absenteeism, Proportion of 18-19 year olds not entering Higher Education, 
and Proportion of 25-64 year olds with No Qualification’

169. The number of LSOAs in the 0-25% (most deprived), and 25-50% categories 
has remained unchanged between 2008 and 2014, at 2 and 7 respectively. There has 
been an increase in the number of LSOAs in the 50-75% category from 15 to 16. But 
a decrease in the least deprived category from 15 to 13. In terms of the education 
domain, the National Park has experienced a slight downwards trend, with a decreased 
in the number of LSOAs in the least deprived category. 

Page 121



67

Access to Services 

‘Average travel time by public and private transport to the nearest: Food Shop, General 
Practitioner (GP) Surgery, Post Office, Public Library, Leisure Centre, Primary School, Secondary 
School, Pharmacy, and Petrol Station (private transport only)’

170. The number of LSOAs in the most deprived category has decreased from 24 
in 2008 to 21 in 2014, as has the number in the 25-50% category, from 6 in 2008 to 4 
in 2014. The category 50-75% has seen an increased from 8 in 2008 to 9 in 2014. The 
least deprived category has seen the biggest increase however from 1 in 2008 to 4 in 
2014. Although this is a positive trend, with the number of least deprived LSOAs 
increasing, this domain is still in a poor condition as there is still a much greater number 
of LSOAs found in the most deprived category. 

Housing

‘Overcrowding (bedroom occupancy) and Lack of Central Heating’
171. The number of LSOAs in the most deprived category remained the same 

between 2008 and 2014, at 1. The number of LSOAs in the 25-50% category has 
increased from 5 to 12, whereas the LSOAs in the 50-75% category have decreased 
from 15 to 13, as has the number in the least deprived category, from 18 to 12. This 
shows that the housing domain in the National Park is declining, as a greater number 
of LSOAs are becoming increasingly deprived. 

Physical Environment 

‘Air Concentrations, Air Emissions, Flood Risk, and Proximity to Waste and Industrial Site’

172. The number of LSOAs in the most deprived category decreased from 6 to 5 
between 2008 and 2014. The 25-50% category, saw a significant decline from 17 to 10 
as did the 50-75% category from 11 to 10. The least deprived category however saw 
a significant increase from 5 to 13. This shows that between 2008 and 2014 the physical 
environment of the National Park has improved.

Community Safety

‘Police Recorded Violent Crime, Police Recorded Criminal Damage, Police Recorded Burglary, 
Police Recorded Theft, Anti-Social Behaviour, and Fire Incidence’

173. The number of LSOAs in the most deprived category has decreased from 3 to 
2 between 2008 and 2014. The number of LSOAs in the 25-50% and 50-75% categories 
have increased from 5 to 8, and 15 to 16 respectively. The number of LSOAs in the 
least deprived category has decreased from 16 to 12. This shows that in terms of 
community safety, although there is still a higher number of LSOAs in the least 
deprived than most deprived category, LSOAs in the National Park are more deprived 
in 2014 than in 2008. 

Page 122



68Page 123



69

Appendices

Page 124



Appendix 1- Indicator Comparison Table 

SOPR 2006 SOPR 2014 DRAFT SOPR 2020
Indicators where further data is 
required 

1st Purpose 
Conservation and Enhancement

Theme 1: Managing Park Landscapes to 
Maximise Conservation and Public Benefits
Theme 2: Conserving and Enhancing 
Biodiversity

Chapter 1 - Nature and Climate Chapter 1 - Nature and Climate

Geological SSSIs Geological Heritage (RIGs) Condition of Geological SSSIs Emissions of Greenhouse Gases
Biological SSSIs (No. and condition) Condition of Biological SSSIs Condition of Biological SSSIs Gaseous Ammonia within the Park
Scheduled ancient monuments (No. of SAMs and 
%in stable/favourable condition)

Scheduled Ancient Monuments  (No. of SAMs; % in 
stable/improved condition) SAMs (Chapter 2) Carbon levels

Listed buildings (No. and % at risk) Listed Buildings (No. and % at risk) LBs (Chapter 2) Energy supply and consumption
Bats  Maternity Roost - Bat Renewable energy installations
Breeding farmland birds  Breeding/Nesting Bird Data Maternity Roost - Bat ? 

Cultural events  Cultural Events (Chapter 2)
Annual water abstraction (Awaiting data from NRW)

Broadleaved tree cover   

Flood risk – not just map but with interpretation and figures 
on affected settlements/developments, NRW data on 
warnings, incidents, etc.

Traditional field boundaries   Rainfall
Water Quality Water Quality Snow cover/days – met office
Flood Risk data in Theme 5 Flood risk  
Updated Phase 1 Habitat Data (2013 data which included a 
comparison from 1997)

Priority habitats and species (Cf to 2014 data - 
useful?)  

Landscape Character Assessment (Visual and Sensory 
LANDMAP Classification Scheme)   

Condition of soils/Peat  
River discharge  
Overall Ecological Footprint  
INNS  
Air Quality  

 

 

Natura 2000  

2nd Purpose
Promoting Understanding and 
Enjoyment

Theme 3: Provide Opportunities for 
Outdoor Access and Recreation
Theme 4: Raising Awareness and 
Understanding of the Park

Chapter  2 - Culture and Heritage Chapter  2 - Culture and Heritage

Visitor Satisfaction % visitors satisfied with their 
visit

Visitor Satisfaction - data re met/exceed/fell short of 
expectation  Landscape Character Assessment 

The % of Rights of Way that are easy to use The % of Rights of Way that are easy to use The % of Rights of Way that are easy to use Area of Farmed Land by type
Awareness of the National Park    
Visitors accessing NPA’s services    
Education services    
Visitor accommodation    

P
age 125



71

Upland Erosion on Paths Upland Erosion on Paths  
Number of Outdoor Education Centres   
Number of Settlements Benefiting from Interpretation   
Ratio Staying Visitors compared to Day Visitors   

Welsh Speaking  
Cultural Events  
Historic Environment SAMS  
Historic Environment LBs  

 

 Area of farmed land by type  

Duty
Vibrant Sustainable Communities

Theme 5: Building and Maintaining 
Sustainable Communities Towns and 
Villages
Theme 6: Sustainable Economic 
Development

Chapter 3 - People and the 
Economy Chapter 3 - People and the Economy

Economic activity Economic Activity  
Eligibility for free school meals

Employment by type of industry Employment by Type of Industry  Walking in the lowlands and Mental Health
Tourism spend  Tourism Spend Extent of active travel routes
Population profile Some population data in the intro Population Broadband access and speeds
Farms and farmers Employment by Type of Inustry  (Table ET1 SOPR 2014)  Political map over time
Community meeting places   International Dark Sky Reserve Data
Traffic (tourist)   No. of public charging points in the Park
Bus routes and service frequency    

Flood risk, river levels and climate change Flood Risk (Chapter 1)  
Health and Wellbeing (Activities enjoyed within the 
National Park - resident survey data)   
Communities with a Village Plan and Open Space 
Assessment   
Additional Affordable Housing   

Housing  
Vacancy rates  

 

 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation  

P
age 126



Appendix 2 – Bat Maternity Roost31

 

19/07/2019         Buckland House                           Adults: 161

Pups: 61 (38% productivity)

                               (22 July 2018: 123 Adults, 55 pups = 45%)

                               (23 July 2017: 140 Adults, 33 pups = 23%)

21/07/2019         Clydach House                              Adults: 129 from roof and 1 from cellar 
= 130 total

Pups: 15 (12% productivity)

                               (24 July 2018: 92 Adults, 22 pups = 24%)

                               (24 July 2017: 111 Adults, 22 pups = 20%)

23/07/2019         Clydach Viaduct                            Adults: 35

Pups: 0 (0% productivity)

                               (23 July 2018: 57 Adults, 2 pups = 4%)

                               (25 July 2017: 44+ Adults, 3 pups = 7%)

23/07/2019         Nant yr Hafod Bat House            Adults: 16 from window, 7 from pipe and 
8 inside = 31 total

Pups: none = 0%

                               (23 July 2018: 25 Adults, 0 pups = 0%)

                               (25 July 2017: 2 Adults, 0 pups = 0%; 20/7/2016: 2 ad & 1 pup = 50%)

 

Overall for all four roosts: Total 357 Adults, 76 pups = 21% productivity

                                (2018: Total 297 Adults, 79 pups = 27% productivity)

                                (2017: 297 Adults, 58 pups = 20%)

                                (2016: 269 Adults, 70 pups = 26%)

 

If we disregard the viaduct and the bat house (since neither had any pups), then overall 
productivity numbers are 291 adults, 76 pups = 26%. However, our standard so far has been 
to include both those roosts since they are accessible to assess productivity and as they are 
components of the local population using the Clydach valley there is a strong argument to 
include them rather than that to exclude them from the productivity assessment.

31 Dr. P.G. Smith, CEnv, MCIEEM – A465 HOV2 Maternity Roost Counts (2019)

Page 127



73

 

Overall there appears to be no cause for concern. The total number of pups is very similar 
to last year, which was a record high (76 vs 79). The productivity is down due to the marked 
increase in the July adult count since last year (357 vs 297). The pup count at Buckland House 
is the highest on record. The Buckland House adult count of 161 is well up on last year and 
is exceeded only by the July 2011 adult count of 164 (when the pup count was 34) and last 
year’s (not strictly comparable) pre-parturition peak count of 171.

The low pup count at Clydach House is disappointing, but may not necessarily be a cause for 
concern. At Clydach House, the pup count until three years ago, since when it has been in 
the low 20’s, had regularly been about 15. It is not understood why Clydach House 
productivity appears to be so much lower than Buckland House, yet at 130 this is the highest 
July count of adults ever recorded at Clydach House (exceeded only by last year’s pre-
parturition peak of 131), so something is going right for this roost. Possibly some of the adults 
are carrying pups out of the roost on emergence to use a creche roost elsewhere.

 -------------------------

Dr. P.G. Smith, CEnv, MCIEEM

Director and Principal Ecologist

Page 128



74

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
0

0.1

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

0.6

Appendix 3 - Gaseous Ammonia
Gaseous ammonia is derived from intensive agriculture, in particular poultry and dairy farming, 
biomass burning and fertiliser manufacture and application.

As levels of other air pollutants have declined, ammonia emissions in the UK have been rising 
since 2013, with significant implications for ecosystems and human health. The release of 
ammonia into the atmosphere can be used by a number of reasons, the main being, agricultural 
sources which made up 88% of annual UK ammonia emissions in 2016. 32 

Levels of gaseous ammonia is an essential indicator for the state of the Park as high levels of 
Ammonia can have detrimental effects on; soil, plant biodiversity, water bodies and aquatic 
organisms, and lichen and mosses found in bog and peatland. 

There are not currently any ammonia sites located within the National Park, however there 
are three located in close proximity; Llyn Brianne (Powys), Holme Lacy (Herefordshire) and 
Penallt (Monmouthshire. The data for this graph was recorded by the National Ammonia 
Monitoring Network at the Llyn Brianne site, located in Powys - North West of the National 
Park.

As is shown in the data, the level of gaseous ammonia varies greatly year on year. Using 2000 
as the baseline, with the figure of 0.2ug/m3, between the period of 2000-2016, 7 years were 
below the baseline (2001, 2004, 2005, 2008, 2012, 2013 and 2015), with the remaining 9 years 
either being the same, or above. The highest, and most recently recorded mean figure was in 

32 DEFRA (2018). Air Pollution from Agriculture. Available at: https://uk-
air.defra.gov.uk/assets/documents/reports/aqeg/2800829_Agricultural_emissions_vfinal2.pdf

Page 129



75

2016, at 0.5 ug/m3. The critical level for effects of ammonia on vegetation is an annual mean 
concentration of 8.0ug/m-3. Levels present at the monitoring site are below this threshold. 

Ammonia levels in the National Park could be expected to be higher than other areas due to 
the high levels of agriculture activities undertaken. (In 2019, Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing 
was the fourth largest industry in the Park, employing 7.41% of the population. This figure is 
set to decrease slightly to 7.23% by 2029).

Page 130



Appendix 4 – Natura 2000 Sites and Condition of Features

P
age 131



77

P
age 132



78

P
age 133



79

Appendix 5 – Natura 2000 Sites and Condition of Features (NRW 2020)
F2007_2010

NATIONAL PARK 
NAME FEATURE

- Favourable
Not 
assessed Unfavourable

Grand 
Total

Alkaline fens  84.20   84.20
Alluvial forests with Alnus glutinosa and Fraxinus excelsior (Alno-Padion, Alnion incanae, Salicion alvae)  9.15   9.15
Alosa alosa    413.67 413.67
Alosa fallax    413.67 413.67
Asperulo-Fagetum beech forests  28.77   28.77
Atlantic acidophilous beech forests with Ilex and sometimes also Taxus in the shrublayer (Quercion robori-petraeae or Ilici-Fagenion)  28.77   28.77
Austropotamobius pallipes    9.63 9.63
Blanket bog    1686.03 1686.03
Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation  1686.03  268.99 1955.01
Caves not open to the public  1686.03   1686.03
Cottus gobio    413.67 413.67
Degraded raised bogs (still capable of natural regeneration)    1686.03 1686.03
Euphydryas aurinia    14.55 14.55
European dry heaths    1955.01 1955.01
Hydrophilous tall herb fringe communities of plains and of the montane to alpine levels    268.99 268.99
Lampetra fluviatilis    413.67 413.67
Lampetra planeri  404.04  9.63 413.67
Lutra lutra  413.67   413.67
Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden soils (Molinion caenuleae)  84.20   84.20
Natural eutrophic lakes with Magnopotamion or Hydrocharition-type vegetation    216.10 216.10
No data - site managed by Natural England 0.01    0.01
Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British Isles    503.41 503.41
Petromyzon marinus  9.63  404.04 413.67
Rhinolophus hipposideros  1686.03   1686.03
Salmo salar    413.67 413.67
Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation    268.99 268.99
Tilio-Acerion forests of slopes, screes and ravines  1686.03  329.25 2015.27
Transition mires and quaking bogs    9.63 9.63
Water courses of plain to montane levels with the Ranunculion fluitantis and Callitricho-Batrachion vegetation    413.67 413.67

Brecon 
Beacons

TOTAL 0.01 7806.53  10112.31 17918.85

P
age 134



Appendix 6 - Chemical Status of Water Bodies33

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013
(Cycle 
1)

2013 
(Cycle 
2)

2014
(Cycle 
1)

2014
(Cycle 
2)

2015
(Cycle 
1)

2015
(Cycle 
1)

2017 2018

Usk 
Reservoir

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good High Good

Cray 
Reservoir

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good High Good

Talybont 
Reservoir

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Good Good Good Good Good Good Good High Good

Usk – Conf 
Afon 
Hydfer to 
Conf Afon 
Senni

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good High Good

Usk – Conf 
Afon Senni 
to Conf 
Afon 
Crawnon

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good High Good

Usk – Conf 
Afon 
Crawnon 
to Conf 
Gavenny R

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good Not 
assessed

Good High Good

33 Contains Natural Resources Wales information © Natural Resources Wales and database right. All rights reserved

P
age 135



Appendix 7 - Ecological Status of Water Bodies34

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 
(Cycle 1)

2013 
(Cycle 
2)

2014
(Cycle 
1)

2014
(Cycle 
2)

2015
(Cycle 
1)

2015 
(Cycle 
2)

2017 2018

Usk 
Reservoir

Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good

Cray 
Reservoir

Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Talybont 
Reservoir

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderate Poor Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Usk – Conf 
Afon 
Hydfer to 
Conf Afon 
Senni

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderate Moderate Good Moderat
e

Good Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Good Good

Usk – Conf 
Afon Senni 
to Conf 
Afon 
Crawnon

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderate Moderate Good Moderat
e

Good Moderat
e

Good Good Good

Usk – Conf 
Afon 
Crawnon 
to Conf 
Gavenny R

Moderat
e

Good Good Good Good Good Good Good Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

Moderat
e

34 Contains Natural Resources Wales information © Natural Resources Wales and database right. All rights reserved

P
age 136



82

Appendix 8 - Overall Waterbody Status

 Usk reservoir
Cray 
reservoir

Talybont 
reservoir

Usk - conf Afon 
Hydfer to conf Afon 
Senni

Usk - conf Afon 
Senni to conf Afon 
Crawnon

Usk - cond Afon 
Crawnon to conf 
Gavenny R

       
2009 Good Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
2010 Good Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Good
2011 Good Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Good
2012 Good Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Good
2013 
Cycle 1 Good Good Poor Moderate Moderate Good
2013 
Cycle 2 Good Good Moderate Good Good Good
2014 
Cycle 1 Good Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Good
2014 
Cycle 2 Good Good Moderate Good Good Good
2015 
Cycle 1 Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
2015 
Cycle 2 Good Moderate Moderate Moderate Good Moderate
2017 Good Moderate Moderate Good Good Moderate

2018 Good Moderate Moderate Good Good Moderate

P
age 137



Appendix 9 - Water Body Status
The table below identifies the different factors that are considered when measuring the status 
of a water body:

Chemical Status The chemical status is against the 
environmental standards for chemicals that 
are priority substances and priority 
hazardous substances in the environmental 
quality standards in the EQS Directive. 
Chemical status is recorded as good or fail, 
and is determined by the worst test result. 

Ecological Status Ecological status is based on a number of 
quality elements including: biological quality, 
general chemical and physico-chemical 
quality, water quality with respect to specific 
pollutants (synthetic and non-synthetic), and 
hydromorphological quality. Ecological 
status is recorded as high, good, moderate, 
poor or bad.

Biological quality elements A characteristic or property of a biological 
element (e.g. phytoplankton, macrophytes, 
phytobenthos, benthic invertebrate fauna 
and fish)

Biochemical Oxygen Demand (BOD) BOD is the oxygen demand brought about 
by organisms in water and sediment acting 
on oxidisable organic matter, and a key 
indicator of the oxygenation of water 
bodies. High BOD is usually a result of 
organic pollution, caused by discharges from 
wastewater treatment plants, industrial 
effluents and agricultural runoff. A high BOD 
has several effects on the aquatic 
environment including reducing chemical 
and biological water quality, reducing the 
biodiversity of aquatic communities and 
reducing the microbiological quality of 
waters.

Dissolved oxygen Oxygen levels in water bodies are affected 
by complex interactions between ecological 
processes, and human activities. Dissolved 
oxygen refers to the level of free, non-
compound oxygen present in water.
It is an important parameter in assessing 
water quality because of its influence on the 
organisms living within a body of water. A 
dissolved oxygen level that is too high or too 
low can harm aquatic life and affect water 
quality.

Page 138



84

pH The pH of a water body reflects acidity and 
is an important measure as it influences all 
chemical and biological processes (e.g. 
binding in sediments, sources of carbon for 
photosynthesis, chemical speciation and the 
development of toxic effects of pollutants). 
A change in pH levels can therefore have 
significant effects on water ecology.  

Temperature Water temperature is greatly influenced by 
heat exchange with the atmosphere, so 
higher air temperatures lead to higher water 
temperatures. Higher water temperatures 
can lead to changes in physio-chemical and 
biological conditions, which may have 
consequences for ecosystem structure and 
services. 

Hydromorphological supporting elements The WFD defines hydromorphological 
elements as ‘supporting the biological 
elements’. Each surface water body has 
specific hydromorphological quality 
elements, however unlike biological 
elements, as hydromorphological elements 
are ‘supporting elements’ they only 
contribute to status classification for water 
bodies of high ecological status. 

Morphology Morphology refers to the physical form and 
condition of a water body, for example the 
width, depth and perimeter of a river 
channel, the structure and condition of the 
riverbed and bank.

Invertebrates

 

There are different types of invertebrates 
such as Benthic Invertebrates and 
Macroinvertebrates, both of which are good 
indicators of water quality. 

Bethnic invertebrates (e.g. worms, sand 
hoppers and clams) live in the mud and sand 
at the bottom of estuaries and seas, and are 
good indicators of the ecological status of a 
waterbody. 

Macroinvertebrates include; aquatic worms, 
snails, clams, crayfish, leeches etc. and due 
to their strong links to pollution and other 
pressures, they are good indicators of water 
quality.  

Fish The WFD instructs the use of biological 
quality elements, such as fish to assess the 

Page 139



85

ecological status in water bodies. Fish are 
considered reliable indicators of 
environmental quality due to their 
representation in a broad range of trophic 
levels, relatively high mobility and long life 
span.

Page 140



Appendix 10 - 23-year trend species data for 1995-2018 

Page 141



87Page 142



88

Appendix 11 - Welsh Langue Skills Comparison (Source: Census 2011 Welsh 
Index of Multiple Deprivation)

Knowledge of Welsh Language 2001 2011

 

% of 
population 
within 
boundary

% with 
some 
Knowledge 
of Welsh 

% can 
speak, 
write 
and 
read 
Welsh 

% some 
knowledge 
of Welsh 

% can 
speak, 
write 
and 
read 
Welsh

 Ward Name 

Abercraf 3% 64.0 30.5 58.89 26.28

Bwlch 100% 16.4 7.4 18.23 7.80

Crickhowell & Vale of Grwyne 100% 16.6 8.2 14.35 6.39

Cwmtwrch 0% 70.9 39.7 65.12 30.70

Honddu Isaf/Llanddew (Felinfach) 3% 25.0 10.5 21.48 9.85

Gwernyfed + Llanigon 36% 15.4 6.9 14.87 6.81

Hay 100% 12.3 5.5 14.39 5.82

Llangattock 100% 16.6 7.2 17.92 5.91

Llangors 100% 23.0 10.7 19.63 8.52

Llangynidr 100% 22.9 10.5 18.24 8.59

Maescar/Llywel, Crai 100% 42.6 20.4 40.16 18.09

Brecon St Davids 100% 22.4 9.4

Brecon St Johns 100% 25.2 12.9

Brecon St Marys 100% 21.0 9.8

20.65 9.15

Talgarth 96% 19.7 7.0 20.07 8.47

Talybont, Glyntarell, Llanfrynach 93% 23.2 11.2 22.15 8.32

Tawe-Uchaf/Fellte 57% 49.4 21.4 42.97 16.24

Yscir, Trallong, 29% 29.6 12.3 27.55 12.33

Ystradgynlais rural 1% 66.7 31.7 57.23 24.61

Garnant Cwmamman 3% 79.4 55.0 69.47 41.61

Glanamman 1% 77.6 52.3 70.47 41.80

Dyffryn Cennen (Llandeilo) 13% 70.0 42.9 66.54 36.82

Llandovery, Llanfair 5% 60.2 35.7 54.07 29.38

Llandybie
Less than 
1% 75.2 46.2 71.41 38.78

Llangadog,Llanddeusant,Myddfai 45% 69.0 51.6 65.16 43.81

Quarter Bach 6% 83.3 61.7 76.62 51.25

Rhigos (Hirwaun) 49% 32.5 13.9 29.59 12.35

Vaynor 12% 21.3 7.8 18.05 6.79

Brynmawr 1% 14.8 6.8 11.86 5.75

Page 143



89

Pontypool New Inn 0% 13.5 7.7 11.91 5.83

Abergavenny north (Cantref) 3% 15.0 8.0 13.41 6.24

Crucorney 36% 12.0 7.3 14.29 7.45

Goetre Fawr 10% 14.3 8.0 15.71 8.23

Llanelly 100% 15.0 7.6 14.23 6.49

Llanfoist Fawr 17% 15.2 7.5 15.85 8.51

Llanover 3% 12.2 6.5 12.18 6.45

Llanfoist Llanwenarth Ultra 100% 14.3 7.1 13.61 6.36

Llantilio Pertholey Mardy 13% 14.2 7.4 16.27 7.61

Page 144



Appendix 12 – Employment/Unemployment 
Employment

Employment data is only available by local authority area, with Powys & Monmouthshire 
combined accounting for 91.5% of the Brecon Beacons National Park’s population in 2015.  
Data for economic activity by each of the seven constituent local authority is shown below  

..\People and Economy\Data\31516 Brecon Beacons NPA Assessment of Housing Need 
Update with Appendic....pdf

In 2016, four of the seven authorities (Powys, Monmouthshire, Torfaen & Carmarthenshire) 
had higher levels of economic activity among the working age population (aged 16-64) than 
Wales as a whole (74.8%).  Powys had an economic activity rate of 80.4% which was also 
higher than the Great Britain average (77.8%), with Monmouthshire high too at 79.1%.  The 
lowest levels of economic activity were in the south of the National Park, Particularly Rhondda 
Cynon Taf (74.2%), Merthyr Tydfil (73.3%) and Blaenau Gwent (69.2%); however these 
authorities accounted for less than 4% of the total population of BBNP.

Unemployment levels across Wales, Great Britain & each of the seven local authority areas 
have decreased from the ten year averages.  This is shown below with Powys levels of 2.9% 
in 2016 lower than the Wales average of 4.6%.

Employment

According to Experian data for March 2019 there were 18,230 workforce jobs in the Brecon 
Beacons National Park at this date.  Workforce jobs increased by 0.3% (50 jobs) between 
2009 and 2019 and 11% (1800 jobs) since 1997.       

Page 145

file://eos/data-a/Corporate/IT/Public/Performance%20Management/SoPR2019/People%20and%20Economy/Data/31516%20Brecon%20Beacons%20NPA%20Assessment%20of%20Housing%20Need%20Update%20with%20Appendic....pdf
file://eos/data-a/Corporate/IT/Public/Performance%20Management/SoPR2019/People%20and%20Economy/Data/31516%20Brecon%20Beacons%20NPA%20Assessment%20of%20Housing%20Need%20Update%20with%20Appendic....pdf


91

Employment by type of industry

The above graph identifies employment by type of industry in the National Park between 1999 
and 2029. The previous iterations of the State of the Park Report in 2006 and 2014 used 
Census data. As there will not be updated Census data available until 2021, the figures used 
in this edition are taken from Experian forecasts. The categories of employment used in the 
Experian data differ from those used in the Census, as such direct comparisons are not 

0.00 2.00 4.00 6.00 8.00 10.00 12.00 14.00 16.00 18.00 20.00

Other Private Services

Metal Products

Construction of Buildings

Specialised Construction Activities

Land Transport, Storage & Post

Administrative & Supportive Service 
Activities

Professional Services

Accomodation & Food Services

Health 

Residential Care & Social Work

Wholesale

Education

Retail

Public Administration & Defence

Agriculture, Forestry & Fishing

Other

1999 2009
2019 2029

Employment by type of Industry

Percentage

Page 146



92

compatible. The graph above shows the top 15 employment industries in the National Park 
as of 1999, with all other industries grouped together under ‘Other’. 

It must be noted that the top 15 employment industries have changed slightly since the 1999 
figures; from 2009 onwards Recreation has now replaced Metal Products. 

The Park’s top employment industry in 1999 was Public Administration and Defence at 9.1%, 
however this percentage had decreased to 6.9% in 2009 and 2019, with a prediction that it 
will decrease even further to 6.6% by 2029. 

In 2009 Education took over as the top employment type at 11.9% (increasing from 8.9% in 
1991). In 2019 this figure decreased to 9.8%, however it still remains the top employment 
industry, and is predicted to remain at the top in 2029 employing 10.2% of the working 
population. 

The category of Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing decreased from 8% in 1999, to 6.6% in 2009, 
but increased again to 7.4% in 2019. There is predicted to be a slight decrease to 7.2% by 
2029. 

Between 1999 and 2009 there was a decrease in the number of people employed in the 
Accommodation and Food Services sector from 6.7% to 5%. This number however has 
increased to 5.7% in 2019, and is expected to increase further to 6.2% by 2029. 

The employment industry of Health is also one of the largest employers in the National Park. 
This particular industry has grown from 6.8% in 1999, to 8.7% in 2009 and 2019. This figure 
is set to increase further to 8.9% in 2029. 

Metal products is an industry that has declined significantly in this period. It has decreased 
from 203% in 1999 to 0.9% in 2009 and 0.7% in 2019. This figure is expected to decrease even 
further to 0.5% by 2029. 

Experian forecasts

2017
BBNP Experian 

forecast Brecon Beacons20170428.XLSX
Experian forecasts by 

graph.xlsx
Experian Data Guide - 

March 2017.PDF

2019
31515 Experian 

Brecon Beacons National Park employment forecast Spring 2019 10-05-19.XLSX

Attracting working age population to meet economic forecasts… This approach involves 
significant risk. Significant levels of net migration need to be achieved to deliver a small 
increase in the indigenous labour force. If the economic forecasts are not realised, this could 

Page 147



93

lead to more commuting into and out of the National Park and a likely greater demographic 
imbalance than would otherwise be the case if the increase are facilitated. 

19
97

19
99

20
01

20
03

20
05

20
07

20
09

20
11

20
13

20
15

20
17

20
19

20
21

20
23

20
25

20
27

20
29

20
31

20
33

20
35

20
37

15000

15500

16000

16500

17000

17500

18000

18500

19000

19500

Total jobs
Brecon Beacons workforce total jobs, Experian Regional 

Planning Service 
March 2017 (Red) & 2019 (Blue) 

Year

Jo
bs

Page 148



94Page 149



This page is intentionally left blank



Amendment to Corporate Plan 2020-21: Well-being Objectives

Name of 
Committee

National Park Authority

Date 7 Aug 2020

Report Author P Funnell

Job title Systems and Performance Manager

Contact Details Paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek approval for the amendment of the corporate plan 
in respect of clarification regarding the Authority’s Well-
being Objectives

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of Enclosures None

Public Interest Test Not applicable

Recommendation(s) a) that members approve the proposed amendment 
to the Authority’s Corporate Plan 2020-21

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Authority has a statutory responsibility under the Well-being of Future Generations Act 
2015 to set out its Well-being Objectives.

Some concerns have been raised that the draft Corporate Plan agreed at NPA on 26 June was 
not sufficiently explicit in setting out the Authority’s current understanding of its Well-being 
Objectives.  If this is the case one consequence is that it may expose the draft deposit Local 
Development Plan (LDP2) to challenge since the alignment of the LDP2 to the Well-being 
Objectives is one of the ‘tests of soundness’ for LDPs set out by the Welsh Government.

Page 151

Agenda Item 11

mailto:Paul.funnell@beacons-npa.gov.uk


Consequently, a proposed amendment to the Corporate Plan to clarify the Authority’s current 
Well-being Objectives is being brought to this meeting.

1.2 Proposals

The priority work programmes agreed last year had the following strap lines (as on page 8 of 
Corporate Plan 2020-21):

 
Land-use and 
Nature Recovery 

To re-establish a connected network of species-rich & resilient 
landscapes across the Brecon Beacons National Park.   

  
Inspiring People and Places To help diverse groups of people access, enjoy & understand the 

heritage, places & special qualities of the Brecon Beacons 
National Park.  

  
Resilient Communities To help people living & working in the Brecon Beacons National 

Park benefit from sustainable livelihoods & green infrastructure.  
  

These form a useful starting point, however, recent discussions at Policy Forum and National 
Park Authority meetings have highlighted several factors that need to be considered when 
reframing them as Well-being Objectives, these are:

 the Park’s role in the recovery of national well-being following the coronavirus 
pandemic

 the need to address health, well-being, social inclusion, inter-generational equity 
and economic factors more explicitly in our strategic planning

 the importance of using clear and concise language, conscious of audience

The senior leadership group has taken account of all of these and is proposing the following reframing of 
the work programme straplines to serve as the Authority’s Well-being Objectives under an overarching 
statement, using clear language that resonates with that used in local authorities’ well-being plans: 

 

It is proposed that these are inserted on page 6 of the Corporate Plan 2020-21 immediately 
following the vision, introduced by the following sentence:

The National Park is recognised as an important place for the recovery of 
nature and the wellbeing of people.  To that end: 

 
 People will benefit from the Park’s resilient landscapes, full of flourishing 
wildlife and valued heritage  
 People will be able to access, understand and enjoy what makes the Park special 
 People living and working in the Park will benefit from strong communities, sustainable 
livelihoods, healthy lifestyles and widespread decarbonisation 

Page 152



“In pursuit of this vision we have the following Well-being Objectives, aligned to the work 
programmes and their outcomes set out on page 8:”

1.3 Implications

If the proposed amendment is agreed the Corporate Plan will be updated and 
republished with reference to the decision made in this meeting.

1.4 Risk

If the proposed amendment is not agreed the LDP may be open to challenge on the 
basis that it is not properly aligned to the Authority’s strategic position in respect of its 
over-arching objectives.

RECOMMENDATION(S):

a) that members approve the proposed amendment to the Authority’s 
Corporate Plan 2020-21

Page 153



This page is intentionally left blank



Welsh Promotion and in the Workplace Strategies  July 2020

Name of Committee National Park Authority
Date 7 August 2020

Report Author Siân Shakespear
Job title Swyddog Iaith/Language Officer

Contact Details sian.shakespear@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report  For the Authority to note the good work which has already been 
accomplished which this strategy builds on.

 For the Authority to ratify the five year Welsh Promotion 
Strategy before publication on the Authority’s website and 
intranet.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

Not applicable

List of  Enclosures Enc 1: Welsh Language Promotion Strategy 2020 – 2025

Public Interest Test
Not applicable

Recommendation(s)  For the Authority to note the good work which has already been 
accomplished which this strategy builds on.

 For the Authority to ratify the five year Welsh Promotion 
Strategy before publication on the Authority’s website and 
intranet.

1.1 Introduction or Background

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is legally bound to adhere to the Welsh Language 
Standards agreed with the Welsh Language Commissioner on 13/01/2017 in compliance with 
Section 44 Welsh Language Wales) Measure 2011.  

Standard 145 places a duty on the Authority to develop and publish a five year strategy for 
the Promotion of the Welsh Language.

 1.2 Proposals

To adopt and publish the Welsh Language Promotion Strategy 2020 – 2025 on the Authority’s 
website 

1.3 Implications

The Authority will be complying with Standard 145 of the Welsh Language Standards agreed with 
the Welsh Language Commissioner.   

Page 155

Agenda Item 12



1.4 Risk

The Authority could be challenged by the Welsh Language Commissioner for non-compliance with its 
Welsh Language Standards. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:

 For the Authority to note the good work which has already been accomplished which this strategy 
builds on.

 For the Authority to ratify the five year Welsh Promotion Strategy prior to adopting and publishing it 
on the Authority’s website.

Page 156



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Welsh Language Promotion Strategy

2020 - 2025

Page 157



Why is the Authority publishing this strategy?

 The Welsh Language Standards

Under the Welsh Language Measure Act (2011) the Authority is legally obliged to comply with a range 
of standards agreed with the Welsh Language Commissioner. 

Standard 145 places a duty on the Authority to develop and publish a five year strategy for the 
Promotion of the Welsh Language.

 Broader statutory framework and policy drivers

The broader statutory framework regarding the Welsh language in the Brecon Beacons National Park 
which supports this strategy is as follows:

 The Well Being of Future Generations Act 2011
 The Welsh Government’s priorities for designated landscapes: Valued and Resilient 2018 

The Well Being of Future Generations Act 2011 sets a well-being goal of :

 A Wales of a vibrant culture and a thriving Welsh Language.
which means: A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh Language

The Welsh Government’s priorities for designated landscapes: Valued and Resilient 2018 states:

 The designated landscapes will have an important role to play to increase public awareness of 
the value of the Welsh language, both as part of our national heritage and as an important skill 
in modern life…promoting the use of Welsh as a language for the workplace and business will 
become increasingly important.” 

The Authority’s Remit Letter 2020 - 21 states that we should be:

 Developing policies that ensure people are able to live and work in their communities and that 
the Welsh language is able to thrive.

The Situation regarding the Welsh language in the Park

According to the 2011census10.3% of the Park’s residents are able to speak Welsh against the National 
average of 19%. Communities in the West of the Park have a higher proportion of Welsh speakers. 
However it cannot be assumed that the status of the Welsh language is strong and resilient in the West. 
On closer analysis of the 2001 and 2011 census data significant falls in the proportion of Welsh speakers 
occured in wards such as Tawe Uchaf/Fellte, Llangadog, Llanddeusant & Myddfai, Garnant/Cwmaman, 
Ystradgynlais Rural and Llanymddyfri. These have been regarded as comparative strongholds for the Welsh 
language. Although there are significantly lower numbers of Welsh language speakers in wards in the East 
of the Park, it is in some of these that there have been exceedingly small tentative green shoots of growth 
in the number of Welsh speakers between 2001 and 2011. This may be due to the number of people who 
have learnt Welsh in these wards. It will be interesting to see what the results of the 2021 census will tell 
us.

Page 158



Aim

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority is committed to promoting the use of the Welsh Language 
wherever possible.

Target

Help maintain the level of Welsh speakers within the Park as measured in the next census 
data at 10.3%.  

It is recognised by the Welsh Language Commissioner that education is the most important driver of 
residents’ ability to speak Welsh and factors outside the control of the Authority will have a greater impact 
on the number of speakers than any positive intervention undertaken by the Authority. However the 
Authority is committed to playing as full a role as possible.

Action plan to achieve target

BBNPA will: 

HR and workforce

a. Appoint staff with appropriate Welsh language skills for the job following an objective assessment. See 
appendix 1.

b. Support, encourage and monitor staff to learn or improve their Welsh language skills to the 
appropriate level for that post if they don’t already have the skills.

c. Require staff with no or negligible Welsh skills to follow the Work Welsh Welcome 10 hour online course 
in order to bring them up to skills level 1.

d. Provide information to newly appointed staff regarding the Authority’s Welsh language standards and 
policies during induction.

e. Provide training to all staff regarding awareness of the language and the Authority’s Welsh language 
standards, policies and practices.

f. Provide learners with opportunities to practice and develop their Welsh language skills.

Authority members and meetings

a. Provide training to all members regarding awareness of the Authority’s Welsh language standards, 
policies and practices.

b. Raise awareness amongst members about the Welsh language and culture of the Brecon Beacons, 
including the pronunciation and meaning of place names.

c. Encourage members with no or negligible Welsh language skills to follow the Work Welsh Welcome 
10 hour online course in order to bring them up to skills level 1. 

d. Open and close meetings bilingually
e. Display bilingual greetings and messages on screens during NPA and constituent meetings.

Page 159



The Education service

a. Promote and deliver outdoor learning experiences for schoolchildren through the medium of Welsh - 
at least 25% of the pupils with which the service interacts - either physically or remotely.

b. Promote and deliver environmental education directly and with partners through the medium of Welsh 
in schools within and around the National Park.

c. Promote careers in the environmental sector through the medium of Welsh via education 
establishments within or just outside the National Park.

Local Development Plan and Planning decisions

In compliance with TAN 20:

a. develop planning policies which help to halt the decline of the Welsh language further.
b. develop planning policies which support Welsh medium education and community activity.
c. develop planning policies which support the retention or creation of local jobs through the medium of 

Welsh.
d. recommend decisions on planning applications in support of the above policies.

BBNPA Management Plan and LDP

a. Ensure the voice of Welsh language groups and individuals is heard and shapes management plan 
policies.

b. Actively engage with issues and develop policies which help to promote the use of Welsh within 
communities and at a Park wide level.

Projects

a. Ensure that the promotion of the Welsh language and its use is integrated into all Authority run 
projects at the planning stage in addition to being actioned during implementation.

b. Ensure that the promotion of the Welsh language is written into the main aim/vision of projects with 
which the Authority is involved and that actions emanate from this.

c. Encourage and support community groups and projects which promote the Welsh language to apply to 
the SDF for a grant.

d. Encourage community groups to integrate the promotion of the Welsh language into their projects.
e. Organise and administer a grant fund to help support Welsh language events and groups to grow within 

the National Park. 

Volunteers

a. Raise awareness amongst volunteers about the Welsh language and culture of the Brecon Beacons, 
including the pronunciation and meaning of place names.

b. Enable Welsh speakers to speak and share the language whilst volunteering for the Authority.
c. Provide volunteers with incentives and opportunities to learn some Welsh to an appropriate level.

Page 160



Engagement and Communications 

a. Integrate the Welsh and English languages together into communications when the medium allows e.g. 
in film clips.

b. Pioneer communications which originate in Welsh and convey the same in English as parallel texts 
which are not slavish translations of each other.

c. Organise Welsh language competitions – at least one annual competition e.g. writing.
d. Organise and/or support 3 Welsh language events annually.
e. Have a presence at the National Eisteddfod when it is held within or near the boundary of the National 

Park or have a joint presence with other Welsh National Parks at National Eisteddfodau elsewhere.

Tourism

a. Run an annual Welsh Language and culture awareness course with the view to developing five Welsh 
Ambassadors a year.

b. Seek opportunities to develop resources in support of the Welsh Culture Ambassador courses.
c. Promote Welsh language and cultural experiences to visitors where appropriate e.g. accommodation 

where visitors can get a taste of the Welsh language and culture.
d. Raise awareness of the Welsh language and culture amongst visitors via various media e.g. the Brecon 

Beacons destination website, information boards and publications. 
e. Seek opportunities to develop a resource which raises awareness of the pronunciation and meaning of 

place-names within the National Park amongst visitors.

Appendix 1 - Brecon Beacons National Park Authority DESCRIPTION OF EMPLOYEES’ ABILITY IN 
WELSH FOR ALL SKILL LEVELS

The descriptions below relate to recognised qualification and assessment frameworks namely; the National 
Qualifications Framework , the Welsh for Adults Qualifications Framework, the Common European Framework of 
Reference for Languages (CEFR) and the Association of Language Testers in Europe (ALTE) framework

LEVEL 0 - AWARENESS 

You can: 
Recognise some short, simple words as being Welsh and even guess the meaning of some words when read or 
heard, provided the person is talking very slowly or the words are read in an explanatory context. Upon hearing 
simple words numerous times, you can repeat them and can also even write some short words. Although you 
may not consider these skills to be of much use in the workplace, the language is far from being alien to you and 
you have a firm grounding from which you can develop your skills. 
More importantly, you have a strong awareness and understanding of the bilingual environment in which the 
Brecon Beacons National Park Authority operates, the need to treat both languages equally, and you demonstrate 
sensitivity towards the needs of Welsh speakers. You are aware of what you can do to ensure both languages are 
treated equally and to meet the linguistic needs of all stakeholders, e.g. use of appropriate translation services, 
making use of colleagues’ language skills.
LEVEL 1 – ENTRY
LISTENING
You can:
Understand everyday expressions, and very basic phrases if the speaker is talking slowly.
Understand conversations about basic personal information, e.g. where someone lives, works, what they like 
doing, what they did.
Guess what is being said when someone is giving details about events, such as time and place.

Page 161



SPEAKING 
You can:
Use some familiar everyday expressions, e.g. greetings, thanks.
Pronounce place names and names of people.
Talk about basic personal things in an informal situation, e.g. interests, family, work, what you did yesterday.
Talk about basic topics, e.g. the weather, time, prices.
READING 
You can:
Understand very short phrases, and can guess what some notices mean.
Understand short texts where people are giving basic information about themselves or others.
Usually find details, such as time and cost, in advertisements or notices.
WRITING
You can:
Write very simple phrases or sentences about yourself or others.
Pass on a simple message or make a simple request, e.g. by e-mail.
LEVEL 2 - FOUNDATION
LISTENING
You can:
Understand when people talk about everyday situations, e.g. personal information, work, what they have done or 
would do, provided they talk slowly.
Understand when people ask you or others to do something, and when they’re asking about future plans, e.g. 
requesting a meeting.
SPEAKING 
You can:
Hold a basic conversation with someone else on a common everyday topic, provided the other speaker helps.
Ask and answer questions on familiar topics, e.g. work, hobbies, preferences, things which have happened or 
future plans.
READING 
You can:
Understand messages about everyday things, and some very basic letters or e-mails, e.g. asking for something, or 
asking to pass a message on.
Understand short pieces of texts or very simple books, e.g. books for children.
WRITING
You can:
Write a short note to a friend or colleague, asking for something, thanking them or explaining something, e.g. 
absence from work.
Write a short text about a familiar topic, e.g. personal experience, or work-related experience.
LEVEL 3 - INTERMEDIATE
LISTENING
You can:
Understand information being given about common or everyday topics, or when things to do with work are being 
discussed, e.g. in conversation, or in small group meetings.
Usually understand the main message and details, provided people speak clearly, e.g. when announcements are 
made or when listening to news bulletins.
SPEAKING 
You can:
Hold an extended conversation with a fluent speaker on a familiar topic, e.g. interests or work.
Express a view and exchange information on a range of topics to do with everyday life, e.g. hobbies, travel or 
immediate work-related topics.
READING 

Page 162



You can:
Understand straightforward short articles on everyday topics of interest, or to do with work.
Guess what words mean from the context, when the topic is familiar.
Understand most e-mails and work-related documents.
WRITING
You can:
You can write a letter on most topics, asking for things, giving explanations, describing experiences, inviting 
people, or organising an event.
You can write fairly accurately on most familiar topics, e.g. related to interests or work-related.
LEVEL 4 - ADVANCED
LISTENING
You can:
Usually follow most conversations or discussions, even on topics you’re not familiar with.
Understand most TV and radio programmes for first language speakers, unless they’re speaking with a strong 
unfamiliar accent.
SPEAKING 
You can:
Talk confidently with fluent speakers on familiar topics related to everyday life or work.
Express views, engage in discussion, and speak at length about general topics, e.g. in a meeting, or in a one-to-one 
situation.
READING 
You can:
Understand most correspondence, and scan through long texts to find details.
Understand most newspaper articles and reports aimed at first language speakers, with the aid of a dictionary.
Understand novels and other texts, provided they are not written in a very formal or very colloquial style.
WRITING
You can:
Write a short article, review or report on a variety of subjects of a general nature, or which are work-related.
Write detailed and well-structured texts, which are appropriate for the reader.
Respond accurately to most types of correspondence from colleagues or external contacts.
LEVEL 5 – PROFICIENT
LISTENING
You can:
Easily follow all conversations and discussions between others, on all sorts of topics. 
Understand all kinds of spoken Welsh, including lectures or complex discussions.
SPEAKING 
You can:
Express myself fully and precisely, even when discussing complex issues.
Adapt your language style according to the audience, e.g. when speaking in a formal context or talking to 
colleagues.
Speak at length about a complex issue, presenting arguments, and leading the discussion.
READING 
You can:
Read and understand nearly all written texts with ease, with only occasional reference to a dictionary.
Read long texts, e.g. reports, articles, to find relevant details and understand nearly all types of writing, e.g. formal 
or informal.
WRITING
You can:
Write extended texts, reports, articles, minutes or other types of writing in a style appropriate to the reader.
Write in formal or informal Welsh as necessary.

Page 163



Write with a high degree of accuracy on a wide range of topics.

Page 164



Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Areas

Name of 
Committee

 National Park Authority

Date 7th August  2020

Report Author Janet Poole

Job title Senior Built Heritage Officer 

Contact Details Helen.lucocq@beacons-npa.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek member approval for Crickhowell and Llangattock 
Conservation Area Appraisals; and to designate reviewed 
boundaries, including splitting the existing conservation area 
into two.

Single Integrated 
Assessment

N/A

List of  Enclosures Enclosure 1 - Crickhowell Conservation Area 
  Appraisal 

Enclosure 2  - Llangattock Conservation Area 
  Appraisal

Enclosure 3 – Proposed boundary for Crickhowell

Enclosure 4 – Proposed boundary for Llangattock

Enclosure 5 – Summary of public consultation 
undertaken 

Enclosure 6 - Schedule of consultation responses

Public Interest Test N/A

Recommendation(s) a) To approve the conservation area appraisal and 
designate the proposed new boundary for 
Crickhowell

b) To approve the conservation area appraisal and 
designate the proposed new boundary for 
Llangattock

Page 165

Agenda Item 13



1.1 Introduction

Section 69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes a duty 
on Local Planning Authorities (LPA’s) to determine and review their locality to define ‘areas of 
special architectural or historic interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to 
preserve or enhance’ and to designated them as Conservation Areas. 

The Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area is one of four conservation areas within 
the Brecon Beacons National Park and is an early designation following the 1967 Civic 
Amenities Act.   Under the 1990 Act regular reviews of Conservation Areas are now carried 
out on a 5 year cycle to ensure that the designated area continues to demonstrate clear 
architectural and historic interest; establish whether boundaries need amendment; and identify 
potential measures for enhancing and protecting the Area.  In 2009 members resolved to carry 
out a rolling program of Conservation Area Appraisals (CAA’s) to meet its responsibilities 
under the 1990 Act.   Brecon, Hay on Wye and Talgarth Conservation Area appraisals and 
boundary reviews were approved and designated between 2010 and 2016. The Crickhowell and 
Llangattock Conservation Area is the last to be reviewed.

In September 2019 the National Park Authority approved for consultation the draft 
conservation area appraisal and proposed new boundary for Crickhowell.  The draft 
conservation area appraisal and the proposed amendments to the boundary for Llangattock was 
approved for consultation by the National Park Authority in October 2019.

1.2    Public Consultation

A 12 week consultation for the draft appraisals and proposed amendments to the conservation 
area boundary commenced on 28th November 2019.   A summary of the public consultation 
carried out is set out in Enclosure 5.

1.2      Summary of Responses

Twenty five responses, were received during the consultation period relating to the 
conservation area appraisals and boundary review.  The comments received and the BBNPA 
responses and recommendations are provide in Enclosure 3.  Many of the responses raised a 
number of points.  A breakdown of the comments received are set out below:

 2 objections to the principle of a conservation area

 5 respondents offered general support for the appraisal documents. 

Page 166



 3 objections were received to the inclusion of Rectory Road and the west side of 
Llanbedr Road, Crickhowell within the conservation area.  

 3 respondents suggested further extensions to the boundary in Crickhowell: the 
recreation ground at the top of Rectory Road; the grass bank on Llanbedr Road; and the 
Televillage development at Upper House Farm.  

 1 respondent suggested extending the conservation area in Llangattock to include the 
group of buildings and structures by the canal and the section of canal.   

 Support for areas deleted from the conservation area; (Crickhowell -1); (Llangattock - 
2).

 Support for areas to be included within the conservation area: (Crickhowell - 3); 
(Llangattock – 2).

 2 objections received to the exclusion of part of Castle Road and Orchard Lane from 
the conservation area in Crickhowell.

A number of other issues were raised including on-street parking; amount of traffic on narrow 
historic streets; methods of traffic management; restoration of cobbled and stone flag 
pavements; street lighting; and loss of boundary walls.

The majority of the proposed changes are to the recommendations in the Management Plan 
section of the appraisal.  However, as result of the consultation, the Orchard Lane area in 
Crickhowell was reassessed and it was concluded that it should remain within the conservation 
area.  

1.3 Proposals

The review of the conservation area for each settlement found that their elements including 
architectural quality; materials; boundaries, and green spaces continue to be of a quality 
commensurate with conservation area status.  A key change to the boundary is to create two 
separate conservation areas for each settlement.  The character appraisals for each 
conservation area can then provide a detailed assessment tailored to each settlement’s 
characteristics.

Crickhowell
The following amendments to the conservation area boundary are proposed:

1. Llanbedr Road (west)

Page 167



The inclusion of part of the Llanbedr Road (west side) comprising an attractive terrace 
of houses, including some that are listed. The row of houses are part of the 19th century 
suburban expansion of Crickhowell.
 

2. Rectory Road
The inclusion of Rectory Road running parallel with Llanbedr Road to the North West. 

 
3. Bullpit Picnic Site

The inclusion of the Bullpit Picnic site alongside the River Usk on the northwest side of 
Crickhowell Bridge.  This area provides and important area of amenity space for the 
town and also is visually important in the foreground of the town as it steps up the 
slope away from the river.
  

4. 1-10 Llys yr Afon and Glan Yr Afon, off Castle Road
It is proposed to exclude the modern housing development of 1-10 Llays Yr Afon and 
Glan Yr Afon.  When the conservation area was first designated, Glanyrafon, an early 
19th century, small country house was still present By the 1980s modern social housing 
had been built in its grounds and in 1993 a planning application to demolish Glanyrafon 
and replace it with 10 dwellings was granted permission.  It is likely that this area was 
originally included within the conservation area because of historic house.  This part of 
the conservation area changed irrevocably prior to the formation of the National Park 
Authority.   Other than the high, former garden wall once associated with the 
demolished Glanyrafon, the housing estate does not contribute to the quality of the 
conservation area.  

In the appraisal presented to the NPA in September 2019 it was proposed to delete an area of 
Orchard Lane from the conservation area.  However, as result of the consultation, a further 
review of Orchard Lane has been carried out As a result of this further review it considered 
that the existing boundary should remain in this part of the conservation area.  Important views 
of St Edmunds Church are obtained from this part of Orchard Lane and the area is relevant to 
the church's setting.

Llangattock
The following amendments to the conservation area boundary are proposed:

1. Ty Gardd  and grounds to the Old Rectory Hotel

It is proposed to include Ty Gardd and more of the grounds around the Old Rectory 
Hotel on the northwest side of the conservation area.  An extended boundary to 
include the attractive stone built Ty Gardd, the stabling to the rear of Llangattock Court 

Page 168



and the former orchards and grounds to the rear of the hotel provides a more accurate 
reflection of the special character of the conservation area.

2. 1 – 8 Park Drive

It is proposed to exclude the row of modern bungalows on Park Drive since they 
following national house building style rather than reflecting the materials or style of the 
traditional buildings in Llangattock.  Therefore as a group they do not easily meet the 
current criteria for designation.  The line of the boundary around the Old Rectory was 
previously quite arbitrary and therefore a small extension has been proposed.  The 
boundary has been amended to follow a more coherent line and also acknowledge the 
significance of the grounds to the setting of the Old Rectory and the conservation area.  

1.4 Implications

There are positive implications on the basis that up to date conservation area appraisals 
serve to reinforce each settlement’s special architectural and historic interest and raise 
awareness of their special qualities.

There will be some impact on resources in relation to implementing some of the 
recommendations in the Management Plan chapter.

1.5 Risk

The Conservation Area in Crickhowell has not been reviewed since its inception in 
1969.   Failure to take forward this review would put the NPA at odds with the duty set 
out in the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 1990.

1.6 Conclusion
Officers are now seeking to complete the programme of review for the Crickhowell and 
Llangattock Conservation Area.  Members are asked to consider the contents of the 
Appraisals, schedules of responses and this report and to approve the following 
recommendations:

RECOMMENDATIONS:

a) To approve the conservation area appraisal and designate the proposed new       
boundary for Crickhowell.

b) To approve the conservation area appraisal and designate the proposed new 
boundary for Llangattock.

Page 169



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Enclosure 1 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

 

Crickhowell  

Conservation Area Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

National Park Authority Meeting  7th August 2020 

 

Page 171



2 
 

CONTENTS 

1 Introduction 4 

1.1 Background 4 

1.2 The Appraisal Process 4 

1.3 Consultation 5 

1.4 Review of the conservation area boundary 5 

1.5 Planning policy context 6 

2 Summary of Special Interest 9 

3 Location and Setting 10 

4 Historic Development and Archaeology 11 

5 Spatial Analysis 15 

6 Character Areas 17 

6.1 Town Centre 18 

6.2 Church Lane 23 

6.3 Bridge Street and Lamb Lane 27 

6.4 Castle and East Crickhowell 31 

6.5 New Road and Crickhowell West 36 

6.6 Upper House Farm 41 

6.7 Riverside 45 

7 Architectural Character 49 

7.1 Building Style 49 

7.2 Building Scale and Form 50 

7.3 Materials 50 

7.4 Architectural Detail 51 

7.5 Streetscape 54 

8 Designated Heritage Assets 57 

9 Key Undesignated Heritage Assets 59 

10 Landmark Buildings 62 

11 Uses and Activities 65 

12 Green Spaces and Biodiversity 67 

13 Routes and Movement 70 

Page 172



3 
 

14 Issues and Opportunities 71 

15 Management Recommendations 72 

   

   

 Sources of Information  

 Glossary of Architectural Terms  

   

 Appendices  

 

Appendix 1 – Additional planning restrictions within conservation areas 

Appendix 2 – Summary of public consultation 

Appendix 3 – Amendments to the conservation area boundary 

Appendix 4 – Schedule of listed buildings and Scheduled Ancient 

Monuments in Crickhowell 

Appendix 5 – Schedule of key undesignated heritage assets 

 

 

 

 

 

   

   

   

 

  

Page 173



4 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 

Conservation areas are areas recognised for their special architectural or historic interest.  Section 

69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty on Local Planning 

Authorities to determine which parts of their area are ‘areas of special architectural or historic 

interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’ and to designate 

them as conservation areas.  

Conservation areas are designated for their overall quality rather than just focussing on individual 

buildings. They are an amalgamation of the areas positive historic features, including the grouping of 

buildings; the spaces between buildings; materials, boundaries; views; routes; open spaces; and past 

and present land uses.  These features combine to form the special interest worthy of conservation 

area status.   

Planning authorities have a duty to protect Conservation Areas from development which would harm 

their special historic or architectural character and this is reflected in the policies contained in the 

National Park’s Local Development Plan. The regular review of Conservation Areas can ensure that 

the designated area continues to demonstrate clear architectural and historic interest, and also 

establish whether boundaries need amendment; and identify potential measures for enhancing and 

protecting the Area.  

The Crickhowell Conservation Area is one of five conservation areas within the Brecon Beacons and 

was designated in the early 1970s.  Prior to this review, the conservation area also included 

Llangattock.  Llangattock now has a conservation area in its own right 

A conservation area appraisal will define the quality of an area and what justifies its status as a 

conservation area. A clear, comprehensive appraisal of its character also provides a sound basis for 

development control decisions and for developing initiatives to improve the area. It enables the 

development of a robust policy framework for the future management of the area, with which planning 

applications and other proposals for change can be considered.  An appraisal can be an educational 

tool and also help to support applications for funding initiatives.  Currently the Crickhowell 

Conservation Area does not have an up to date appraisal. 

Designation as a conservation area brings some additional controls and duties for the Planning 

Authority.  Further information is provided in Appendix 1. 

The Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area is the last to be reviewed in the National Park, 

and follows a review of Brecon, Hay on Wye and Talgarth. 

1.2 The Appraisal Process 

This review of the Crickhowell Conservation Area will: 

 Reviewed the existing conservation area boundary and assessed whether the boundary 

needed to be amended. 

 Considered how Crickhowell and Llangattock should be split into two conservation areas. 

 Identified those elements of Crickhowell contributing to or detracting from the conservation 

area’s character or appearance. 

Page 174



5 
 

 Propose measures to maintain or improve the positive character, local distinctiveness and 

sense of place of Crickhowell. 

This appraisal document will follow advice set out in TAN 24: The Historic Environment and the 

accompanying guidance ‘Managing Conservation Areas in Wales’.  

1.3 Consultation 

A 12 week consultation for the draft appraisals for Crickhowell and Llangattock and proposed 

amendments to the conservation area boundaries commenced on 28th November 2019.   A 

summary of the public consultation carried out is set out in Appendix 2. 

Where possible, feedback from the consultation has been incorporated into the final version of the 

conservation area appraisal.  

 

1.4 Review of the conservation area boundary 

A key outcome of this review is proposed to divide the conservation area so that Crickhowell and 

Llangattock their own conservation area, rather than sharing the boundary.  Each settlement has its 

own distinctive characteristics which deserve to be considered in more detail.  Splitting the 

conservation area allows more scope for the conservation area appraisal to provide a detailed 

assessment, tailored to each settlement’s characteristics. 

The review also identified additional changes to the boundary in Crickhowell. The boundary has been 

amended to include the west side of Llanbedr Road, and Rectory Road; and a larger area of the Bullpit 

Meadows.  The inclusion of Llanbedr Road and Rectory Road is primarily because of their architectural 

interest and connection with the 19th century suburban growth of Crickhowell.  The Bullpit Meadows 

is included because it is an attractive important open space in the foreground of the town and also in 

relation to the historic bridge.  

 

The modern housing development of 1-10 Llays Yr Afon and Glan Yr Afon off Castle Road has been 

removed from the Conservation area.  When the conservation area was first designated, Glanyrafon, 

an early 19th century, small country house was still present.   By the 1980s modern social housing had 

been built in its grounds and in 1993 a planning application to demolish Glanyrafon and replace it with 

10 dwellings was granted permission.  It is likely that this area was originally included within the 

conservation area because of historic house.  This part of the conservation area changed irrevocably 

prior to the formation of the National Park Authority and the housing estate does not contribute to 

the quality of the conservation area.  The high, former garden wall, a surviving structure associated 

with the demolished Glanyrafon remains within the conservation area.  

  

Prior to the public consultation it was proposed to remove part of Orchard Lane from the 

conservation area.  Following a number of objections, further review of Orchard Lane has been carried 

out and it is concluded that the existing boundary should remain.  Important views of St Edmunds 

Church are obtained from this part of Orchard Lane and the area is relevant to the church's setting. 

 

A map identifying the changes to the conservation area boundary is provided in Appendix 3 

 

The amended conservation area boundary is shown on Figure 1. 

 

Page 175



6 
 

1.5 The planning Policy Context 

There are several relevant planning documents that relate to Crickhowell and its built environment:  

 

National planning policy is set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW).  PPW provides strategic planning 

guidance and Chapter 9: Conserving the Historic Environment which sets out the overarching policy 

on: listed buildings; conservation areas; historic parks and gardens; historic landscapes; Scheduled 

Ancient Monuments; and archaeological remains.  

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: the Act places a duty of well-being on public 

bodies.  Properly protected and enhanced conservation areas can improve the quality of life and well-

being for everyone. 

Cadw Best Practice Guidance: Managing Conservation Area in Wales (2017) sets out guidance on best 

practice to conservation area designation, appraisal and management.   

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan – Adopted in December 2013. The plan sets 

out policies and proposals to guide development in the National Park from 2007 to 2022. The policy 

that relates to conservation areas is Policy 19. 

The Local Development Plan (LDP) identifies Crickhowell as one of the Key settlements for the 

Region.  The Plan sets out a 15 year vision for the town which includes recognition of the town’s 

historic architecture and ensuring that new development complements the high quality of the historic 

built heritage.  Policy K LP2 Key Settlement Appropriate Development requires that proposals for 

development should not have an adverse impact on cultural heritage.  

The Brecon Beacons National Park- Shop Front Guidance May 2011 provides guidance on shop front 

design, promoting high quality designs to help preserve the traditional character of the Park’s retail 

areas that make them attractive places for businesses, residents and visitors. 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape Character Assessment 2012 identifies landscape types 

across the National Park and looks at the various components that contribute to the characteristics 

of each landscape type, including the built environment.  Each Landscape Character Area profile 

includes a management strategy and recommended management guidelines to protect and strengthen 

its landscape character. 

The Crickhowell Community Plan (2017) sets out detailed policies addressing issues of importance for 

the Town.  The plan was produced by the community and reflects the issues and objectives identified 

by residents and stakeholders.  The Environment Chapter identifies the following action: ‘Support the 

maintenance of a high quality townscape through LDP policy and Development Control decisions and 

review the Conservation area, maximising opportunities for development contributions.’ 

 

 

Page 176



7 
 

  

P
age 177



8 
 

 

  

  

 

 

Crickhowell 

Character Assessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 178



9 
 

2.     SUMMARY OF SPECIAL INTEREST 

Crickhowell is an historic market town, which grew during the medieval period, originally focussed on 

Alisby’s Castle.  The historic town plan focussing on the Castle, High Street and Market Place is still 

evident today.     

The town has an interesting and attractive townscape created by the street pattern, the topography, 

variety of buildings and the mix of uses within the town.  There is a strong commercial area with many 

independent shops within the core of the town centre, providing for residents and visitors. 

The town comprises a mix of buildings from the medieval period onwards, including vernacular 

cottages, building groups designed as architectural set pieces, high status houses, civic buildings and 

small villas. A high proportion of the buildings within the town centre are listed.   

Render and stone are the dominant walling materials, both adding texture and interest.  There is much 

use of local stone, reflecting the area’s geology.   

Interesting contrasts are created between the relatively dense urban form in the core of the town 

centre and the public and private green spaces, all in close proximity with each other.  The open space 

associated with the Castle is important to its setting and is part of a larger network of open space 

which includes formal recreational facilities.  The open spaces within and on the edge of the town are 

important for their recreational value and the contribution they make to the character of the 

conservation area. 

A key feature of the town is the way topography contributes to the character of the conservation 

area, particularly viewed from the southwest.  Much of the town is set on a gentle slope above the 

River Usk and the buildings step up the hillside, providing an attractive arrangement in short and longer 

distance views. 

The town benefits from a high quality landscape setting, adjacent to the River Usk with the backdrop 

of Pen Cerrig Calch and Crug Hywel to the north and Mynedd Llangatwg to the south.  The 

surrounding landscape is seen over the rooftops and in-between buildings throughout the town.  

These themes are expanded in the following chapters. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View across the town from the Castle motte 

Page 179



10 
 

3. LOCATION AND SETTING 

Crickhowell is located within the Usk Valley on the east side of the Brecon Beacons National Park, 

approximately 22 km southeast of Brecon and 9 km northwest of Abergavenny.  It is strategically 

sited on a spur of rising ground above the north bank of the River Usk and on a historic east-west 

route, now the A40 trunk road.     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There is a close physical and visual relationship between Crickhowell and its high quality landscape 

setting.   This part of the Usk Valley is identified in the Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape 

Character Assessment (August 2012) as the ‘Eastern Usk Valley’, extending from Pencelli to the 

northwest of Crickhowell to the eastern edge of the National Park near Abergavenny.    The Landscape 

Character Assessment provides the following description of the Usk Valley: ‘This settled, luxuriant valley 

contrasts with the surrounding open and craggy hills. Its wide, flat valley floor with its patchwork of fields is an 

important transport route, containing roads and the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal.  A fertile, agricultural 

landscape, the Usk Valley is also strongly influenced by parkland planting and in places densely wooded.  The 

valley has a long history of settlement and contains several villages, numerous farms and country houses with 

their associated grounds.  A series of Iron Age Hill Forts overlook the valley….’ 

The town is overlooked by the slopes of Pen Cerrig Calch and the flat topped hill Crug Hywel to the 

north, and Myndd Langatwg to the south. This rugged, higher land above the town contrasts with the 

gentler and more verdant landscape of the valley floor and its lower slopes.  On the valley floor and 

lower slopes surrounding the town, land uses are predominantly agriculture (mostly pasture with 

some arable), but there is also parkland associated with estates, smaller settlements, farmsteads, and 

wooded areas.   Of particular importance to the immediate setting of Crickhowell is the River Usk 

and the meadows on the valley floor to the south west to the town and the higher ground to the 

Crickhowell 

Page 180



11 
 

north, particularly Crug Hywel which can even be seen from the heart of the town centre.  All the 

landscape elements combine to provide a high quality setting for the town.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The village of Llangattock is located a short distance to the southwest of the town and there is a 

close relationship between the two settlements.  

4. HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT AND ARCHAEOLOGY 

The name Crickhowell is an anglicised form of Crug Hywel but the ancient name was ‘Ystradyw’- vale 

of the yew trees.  Crickhowell’s development is a story of the gradual growth of a small town following 

the construction of Crickhowell castle, decline in the later middle ages, and then recovery.   

There is some uncertainty about when Crickhowell was established as a settlement.  There may have 

been some form of settlement associated with the motte and bailey built around 1190 which was the 

origins of Crickhowell Castle or Alisby’s Castle as it is also known after Gerald de Alisby, who was 

governor during the 1320s.  However there is also a theory that the original centre was linked to the 

motte at Maes-celyn, 1.5 km to the northwest.  A further theory is that the two mottes were in use 

concurrently.   If this was the case, ultimately the motte at Maes-celyn was abandoned in favour of 

Alisby’s Castle on the more strategically useful location on the spur above the Usk. 

Crickhowell Castle was part a series of castles along the valley built by the Normans to defend 

themselves from the Welsh.  The motte and bailey was initially held by the Turberville family but in 

1243 it passed by marriage to Sir Grimbald Pauncefote, who replaced the wooden fort with a stone 

keep, and installed stone walls around the bailey to the south.  In 1403 the castle was attacked and 

partly destroyed by Owain Glyndwr, leader of Welsh uprisings in this area.  Parts remained habitable 

for another hundred years or so, but ultimately was abandoned.  In the 18th and 19th centuries some 

of the stonework was used for re-building parts of the High Street, although as recently as the 19th 

century the ruins were significantly more complete than they are today.     Further deterioration 

occurred in the 1930s when a portion of the tower collapsed.  

In terms of the development of the town, there may have been some, unregulated development 

outside of the castle’s defences soon after it was constructed, but the planned development is likely 

to have evolved gradually over decades.  It is known that a small town was definitely in existence by 

1281 when the inhabitants received a grant of murage and confirmation of its existing markets and 

fairs by Edward 1.  In 1283 the town acquired borough status.    No evidence above ground of the 

town walls survive, although there is a theory that Lamb Lane which originally extended further west 

View from the south towards 

Crickhowell within its landscape setting.  

The village of Llangattock is in the 

foreground 

Page 181



12 
 

than it does today, may represent the western perimeter of the town. The murage grant, a tax levied 

for the construction or maintenance of town walls would suggest that a town wall was planned.  

However, to date, no evidence has been discovered during development work around the town; 

however, future archaeological investigations could bring new information to light.     

The town fell into decline in the latter middle ages and by 1610 was no longer listed as a market town.  

Possibly the town was also damaged when the castle was attacked by Owain Glyndwr at the beginning 

of the 15th century which could have contributed to its decline.     

Crickhowell developed on a strategic route, part of a system of drovers’ roads along which cattle 

were driven in herds to markets as far afield as London.  These road were probably established from 

later medieval times onwards, and were at their peak in the 18th and early 19th centuries.   One of 

these traditional routes crossed Wales from west to east, running from the head of the Swansea Valley 

across the northern flanks of the Brecon Beacons, and from there along the Usk valley to Monmouth 

via Crickhowell and Abergavenny.  The drovers road, more or less followed the route of the modern 

A40 Trunk road.   

The fertile soil on the valley floor as well as the nearby upland grazing provided excellent conditions 

for agriculture.  The town’s accessible location on the drover’s route aided its recovery, particularly 

opening up opportunities for agricultural produce to be sold to a wider market.  Another factor in the 

town’s recovery were the improvements made to the road in the 18th and early 19th century.  As a 

consequence of these improvements, horse drawn coach services from London via Gloucester, 

Monmouth and Abergavenny were extended across to west Wales.   Coaching inns were established 

along the route and Crickhowell became one of the key stopping off points with numerous 

establishments in the town offering accommodation and stabling facilities.  The Bear Hotel was one of 

these establishments.   

The Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal constructed during the early 19th century on the north side of 

Llangattock also opened up the area to more distant markets, exporting local produce and also bringing 

goods in, particularly heavier items that were more difficult to transport via road.    

Parts of the town were redeveloped in the 18th and 19th centuries with some of the earlier medieval 

buildings replaced.  By 1875, Worrall’s Directory of South Wales reports that: ‘The town presents a 

clean and respectable appearance and contains numerous excellent places of business, a banking 

establishment, and a handsome Town Hall’.  From the mid-19th century improved public utilities 

including a town gasworks and new water supply were introduced.   

The services and functions provided at Crickhowell met the day-to-day town’s residents as well as, 

neighbouring villages and hamlets.  The principle trading area was along Bridge Street and High Street 

with extensions along Beaufort Street.  There was  local employment available including in the small-

scale manufacture of flannel; tourism, mainly based on trout and salmon fishing; agriculture; skilled 

craft trades; retail; and in domestic service for the large houses and country estates within the valley.  

Crickhowell was by-passed by the railways constructed elsewhere during the 1860s.  However this 

disadvantage was offset by the coach road which was continued to be busy with regular carrier services 

for goods and passengers.  The accessibility of the town allowed Crickhowell to continue developing 

as a popular base for tourists visiting the area, and this continued when motorised transport became 

more widely available.  There is a photograph of the Bear Hotel from the early 20th century showing 

that the sign for ‘Post Horses’ over the arch through to the stableyard had been replaced with ‘Garage’.  

Page 182



13 
 

An early advertisement for the hotel offers stabling but also highlights the ‘Good roads for motoring 

and cycling amidst the finest scenery in south Wales.’ 

The development of the town can be seen in a 

series of early maps.  The earliest available 

printed map is the 1587 Beaufort Estate Map.  

This focusses on Alisby’s Castle and its 

grounds.  This map and the 1760 Estate Map by 

Meredith Jones shows a basic road network 

that is still recognisable today.    

The 1760 map shows the development of High 

Street and Market Place and the burgage plots 

on either side of the High Street are indicated.  

A building can be seen at the centre of the 

Market Place.  Buildings align part of Castle 

Road and continue down Bridge Street to the 

bridge crossing.  At this point New Road was 

yet to be built.   

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4 (left) 

Meredith Jones 1760 Estate 

Map 

Source: National Library of Wales 

  
 

Figure 3 (above) 

Beaufort Estate Map 1587 

Source: National Library of Wales 

Page 183



14 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5 – 1844 Tithe Map 

Source: National Library of Wales 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 184



15 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 6 - 1st Edition Ordnance Survey Map  

The tithe map of 1844 and the 1st edition ordnance survey map shows a development pattern and 

road layout that is recognisable today.  New Road now appears on the map, providing the main road 

access to and from the town across the Usk.  There is little development on the eastern side of the 

town, although Green Hill and Glan-yr-Afon, two gentry houses (no longer present) are indicated.     

The fields and orchards are evident to the north and east of Upper House Farm.  Crickhowell 

expanded significantly in the second half of the 20th century particularly on the north east side of the 

town.  One modern development of note is the 1990s Televillage at Upper House Farm.  This was a 

pioneering project for its time which catered for people to work from home.  As technology advanced 

this type of housing project is no longer unique, but at the time it was ground breaking. 

5. SPATIAL ANALYSIS 

The historic core of the town focusses on the Market Place, High Street, and extending down Bridge 

Street towards the river.  Also within the historic core is the Castle to the southeast of the High 

Street and St Edmunds Church to the northwest.  The Conservation Area also includes later phases 

of the town that extend east and west along the A40 Abergavenny to Brecon Road.    

The Crickhowell conservation area is varied, and within its boundary there are areas with their own 

individual characteristics, varying from their neighbour, but ultimately coming together to form the 

overall character of the town’s historic area.     

Crickhowell is a planned settlement with the historic core displaying a grid pattern of streets lying at 

right angles to each other.  Here, the development pattern displays unity with predominantly 

continuous frontages and most buildings fronting the back edge of the pavement.   This creates a 

strong sense of enclosure.   

Page 185



16 
 

The later development along the A40 beyond the core of the town centre is generally of a lower 

density.  There is still a sense of enclosure, often created by boundary treatments, but properties are 

more likely to be set back from the road within more spacious plots.   

An important component of the town’s character is the green space close to the town centre. The 

meadows bordering the River Usk, public space such as the grounds around the castle ruins, the 

recreation areas to the east of the castle and also private gardens contribute to the green and open 

quality of parts of the town. 

Topography has a strong influence on the way that the town has developed.   Much of the town is set 

on a gentle slope above the River Usk and the buildings step up the hillside providing an attractive 

arrangement in short and longer distance views.  The views of the town from the valley floor and from 

higher ground highlight the contrasts in the pattern of development across the town.  It is only in the 

20th century that the town began to grow more significantly up the sides of the valley. 

To get a better understanding of the distinctive characteristics of different parts of the town it is useful 

to sub-divide it into individual character areas so that future management, including development 

management can be adapted to respond to their particular characteristics. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridge Street – narrow street with 

dense development to each side 

creating strong sense of enclosure. 

Beaufort Road – wider street, with 

a contrasting spatial character to 

Bridge Street. 

Page 186



17 
 

 

6. CHARACTER AREAS 

Conservation areas are designated for their special qualities, but within the designated area there 

may be areas which have their own distinctive characteristics.   Identifying these ‘character areas’ 

and providing an understanding of the elements that make up their character is important to 

understanding the conservation area as a whole. 

 

 7 character areas have been identified in Crickhowell: 

 

 Town Centre 

 Church Lane 

 Bridge Street and Lamb Lane 

 Castle and Crickhowell East 

 Crickhowell West 

 Upper House Farm 

 Riverside 

 

These character areas are shown on the Map below.  Although each area is defined with a line, in 

reality they are more complex, overlapping with adjacent character areas and having a wider setting 

which may extend beyond the conservation area boundary.  Each area is also not necessarily wholly 

uniform in character.  An overview of the key characteristics of each area is provided in the 

following sections. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure7 – Character Areas 

Page 187



18 
 

 

 

 

 

Town Centre Character Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 188



19 
 

6.1 Town Centre 

Introduction 

The Town Centre character area focuses on the High Street and the Market Place and the western 

end of Beaufort Street, Tower Street, part of Church Lane, and a short section of Standard Street on 

the north side of the Market Place.  The town centre is defined for the most part by a high density 

pattern of development.  There is a marked contrast between the busy High Street and Market Place 

and the quieter back lanes such as Church Lane, Standard Street and Tower Street. Within the core 

of the town centre, commercial uses predominate at ground floor level with traditional shopfronts 

and public house frontages creating an interesting, vibrant street-scene.  In addition to commercial 

uses, there are also dwellings on the edge of the town centre, ranging from modest, short terraces to 

large, high status houses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Built form and layout 

The modern day street layout still reflects the 

medieval street pattern, and the narrow 

burgage plots are still evident on the west side 

of High Street and to a lesser extent on the 

east side. The High Street widens at the 

northern end to form the Market Place where 

a building once stood.    The core of the town 

centre focussing on the High Street and Market  

Place has a strong sense of enclosure with 

continuous frontages placed on the back edge  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

High Street narrowing as it heads south 

Page 189



20 
 

of the pavement. The sense of enclosure is a 

feature which unifies the area but there are 

variations in the degree of enclosure, adding to  

the variety and interest of the town centre.  

For example, Tower Street and the narrowing 

of the street between Webbs and the Bear  

Hotel have a higher degree of enclosure 

compared to the more spacious nature of the 

north end of the High Street where it opens 

out to form the triangular Market Place, or 

Beaufort Road on its approach to the Market 

Place.   

 

There is a mix of 1.5, 2 and 3-storey buildings, 

variations in the width of building frontages and 

also interest created by variations in roof 

forms. Strong corner buildings are a feature of 

the town centre, for example at the junction of 

Tower Street with High Street.    

Quality of the buildings and landmark buildings 

A high percentage of the buildings in the Town 

Centre character area are listed.  The buildings 

within the character area are an interesting 

mix, including Georgian, Victorian, Edwardian 

architecture, and vernacular buildings 

constructed in the local sandstone.  There are 

examples of planned terraces, mid-19th century 

stuccoed set architectural set pieces, and grand 

town houses. 

Many of the commercial buildings in the town 

centre have good historic shopfronts.  These 

make a significant contribution to the quality of 

the town centre.  

The grade II*Town Hall dating from 1833-4 and 

designed by T. H. Wyatt is a landmark building 

within the High Street.  On a smaller scale, the 

Memorial Fountain within the Market Place is 

also a significant landmark.  Of a similar date to 

the Town Hall, Nos. 52-53 directly opposite 

make a dramatic statement with their classical 

design and distinctive ionic pilasters.  Both of 

these buildings relate to the mid-19th century 

re-modelling of the town centre.  A more  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 storey buildings on High Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 ½ storey building, Beaufort Road 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Town Hall 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Corner building on High Street and Tower Street 

Page 190



21 
 

modest but nonetheless interesting set piece is 

the planned terrace and chapel on the north 

east side of Tower Street, built 1851-2 by Sir 

Joseph Bailey to house his workers.  

There is a strong group of high status buildings 

close to the junction of Tower Street and High 

Street: Ivy Towers, The Dragon Hotel and 

Latham House.  They are grade II* listed and 

are good examples of early Georgian buildings.   

Clarence Hall in Beaufort Street is a good 

example of a Victorian public building.  The 

Crickhowell Resources and Information 

Centre (CRIC) of 2007 is faced in local stone 

and is successful in complementing the historic 

setting.  The Castle Garage is a 20th century 

building, which evokes the early days of the 

motor car becoming more accessible. 

The town has a number of public houses which 

originated as coaching inns in the days when 

Crickhowell served as a strategic stop off point.  

The Bear Hotel which is listed at grade II* is 

thought to have 15th century origins and 

occupies a prominent position on the historic 

coaching route, opposite the Market Place.     

Ivy Tower in Tower Street is a curious 

structure as the remains of a rubble stone 

tower, originally thought to be the remains of 

an outer gateway to Crickhowell Castle but, a 

survey in the 1990s indicated that the tower is 

an 18th /19th century folly, although there are 

traces of a 15th or 16th century house to the 

rear. 

Open Spaces 

This area is predominantly characterised by 

dense urban development.  The Market Place 

is an urban space where the street widens at 

the northern end of High Street.  However, its 

function as a public space is limited since it is 

dominated by vehicles.  The bitumen road 

surface covered in road markings and the 

bollards keeping traffic away from the 

Memorial Fountain unfortunately detract from 

this important town centre space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Planned terrace on Tower Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Ivy Towers 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The Bear Hotel 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ivy Tower 

Page 191



22 
 

There is little public green space within the 

town centre; however, there are a few small 

‘pocket’ open spaces with seating and some 

soft landscaping: the garden to the side of the 

Library in Church Lane and the seating area by 

the CRIC building.  

Although in this area there a fewer private 

gardens visible from the public realm, where 

they are present, they contribute, softening the 

harder edge of the urban environment.  

Views 

The density of development on both sides of 

the street creates channelled vistas along the 

street.  Some, such as the view eastwards along 

Beaufort Street fades out into the distance, 

while others are closed vistas where buildings 

block the view continuing.  A good example of 

a closed vista is the view north along High 

Street which ends at the buildings on the north 

side of the Market Place.   

There are also examples of deflected views 

where views unfold such as the view along 

Beaufort Street appearing to end at Webbs, but 

then more is revealed as the road curves 

between the buildings. 

As with many other parts of the town, there 

are longer distance views to the surrounding 

landscape over the roof tops and in long vistas 

down the street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

‘Pocket’ open space by the library 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vista along High Street closed by the line of 

buildings beyond the Memorial Fountain. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The view unfolds as the road curves between 

buildings.  A longer distance view of the landscape 

can be seen rising above the buildings. 

 

 

 

Page 192



23 
 

 

 

 

Church Lane 

Character Area  

Page 193



24 
 

6.2 Church Lane 

Introduction 

The Church Lane character area is located a short distance to the northwest of the High Street and 

focusses on St Edmund’s Church and its churchyard.  Church Lane is a narrow thoroughfare 

connecting High Street with New Road.    

 

Built form and layout 

The former school, 2 storey cottages and 

houses overlook the churchyard and cemetery, 

with the church as the centrepiece.  The street 

frontages to the north and east side provide 

informal enclosure around these two open 

areas.  Despite this degree of enclosure there 

is still a marked contrast between this area and 

the dense, urban form within much of the town 

centre’s historic core. 

There are pedestrian only paths linking this 

area with the surroundings.  Of particular note 

is the path lined with iron railings between the 

churchyard and the cemetery and Silver Lane 

linking to the High Street.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 194



25 
 

Rubblestone boundary walls around the 

churchyard, cemetery and edging the lane are 

an important feature of the area.  

Quality of the buildings and landmark buildings 

The most significant building within this 

character area is St Edmund’s Church.  The 

church was begun in 1303 on the creation of 

the parish.  The church is designed in the 

Decorated Gothic style and constructed from 

local red sandstone, with a red clay tiled roof, 

and shingles covering the spire.  The church is 

at its most prominent as a landmark from the 

immediate vicinity but also seen in views over 

rooftops, and from higher ground surrounding 

the town.   

Brick House, a grade II listed house stands out 

from its neighbours due to its stucco front 

and classical design. 

The Lychgate over the path between the 

church and cemetery is part of the churchyard 

boundary wall which is grade II listed.  The 

Lychgate is a relatively small structure but its 

design and the quality of the dressed 

stonework contributes to the special character 

of the area, and is a local landmark.  The 

Lychgate underwent restoration in 2018.    

The Old School and attached School House 

which probably date from the second half of 

the 19th century are not listed but have a 

positive presence on the northern side of 

Church Lane, opposite the church.  Gothic 

Revival pointed arches and the small bell tower 

single out this building. 

Open green spaces 

The open space provided by the churchyard 

and cemetery provides a tranquil green space 

behind the bustle of the High Street and the 

busy vehicle route of New Road to the west.  

The trees within this area and also in private 

gardens contribute to the green quality of the 

area. Of particular note is the magnificent  

 

 

 

 

 

 

View across churchyard 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Stone boundary walls edging lane 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Brick House 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
The Old School and School House 

 

Page 195



26 
 

copper beech and the yew trees in the 

churchyard.   

Views  

There are fine panoramic views across the 

churchyard and cemetery of the landscape 

beyond the town.  At the other end of the 

scale, there are more intimate, glimpsed views 

through the churchyard gateways. 

The Lychgate on Church Lane frames a vista 

down the footpath between the church and 

cemetery. There is also an interesting vista 

along Church Lane towards the High Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Panoramic view from cemetery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Trees within St. Edmund’s churchyard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lychgate and path between the churchyard and 

cemetery 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
    View through gateway to New Road 

 
 

 

 

Page 196



27 
 

 

 

Bridge Street and Lamb Lane 

Character Area

Page 197



28 
 

6.3 Bridge Street and Lamb Lane 

Introduction 

This character area focusses on the primarily residential areas of Bridge Street and Lamb Lane, to the 

south west of the High Street.  Before the construction of New Road, Bridge Street was the old road 

down to the Usk.  The street is now a one way street to vehicles. 

Although close to the town centre’s High Street and also the busy New Road, this area is generally 

quieter and has a more tranquil character.  However, there are times when traffic using Bridge Street 

as a cut through to High Street and Castle Road intrudes into this more peaceful ambience. 

 

Built form and layout 

Bridge Street is a winding, narrow street, lined 

with cottages of C18 early C19 character.  The 

buildings are predominantly 2-storey and front 

the back edge of the pavement, giving the 

street a strong sense of enclosure and intimacy.  

Lamb Lane is equally narrow and lined with 2-

storey vernacular cottages on the south west 

side.  However, the building line on the 

opposite side of Lamb Lane is fragmented and 

interspersed by more recent development.  

The high boundary walls to Herbert Hall create 

a defined edge at the top end of Bridge  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Bridge Street from the south 

Page 198



29 
 

Street.  The junction at the meeting point of 

Bridge Street with High Street and Castle Road 

is currently a space designed for vehicles and is 

dominated by road markings but has potential 

for enhancement. 

Quality of the buildings and landmark 

buildings 

The majority of the dwellings along Bridge 

Street are listed, as are the cottages on the 

south west side of Lamb Lane.  Vernacular 

cottages form the core of this character area, 

but there are notable exceptions: Herbert Hall, 

a grand Regency house, set behind a walled 

courtyard; and Bethabera Chapel at the 

southern end of Bridge Street.  The chapel is a 

landmark and gateway feature when 

approaching Bridge Street from the south west. 

A distinctive feature of Bridge Street are the 

pretty bow-fronted windows such as the 

examples either side of the door at Number 

11.    

The Police Station is a modern single storey 

building in a prominent position at the junction 

with High Street and unfortunately does not 

make a positive contribution to the character 

area.   

Views 

Bridge Street’s gently curvilinear form as it 

drops down towards the River Usk affords 

impressive views over the rooftops to the 

landscape beyond. 

The curvilinear form of the street and the siting 

of buildings also allows views to unfold. For 

example, 36 and 39 Bridge Street almost 

terminate the view approaching from the north 

but gradually more of the street is revealed.   

A gap on the north side of Lamb Lane provides 

a pleasant view across the town cemetery 

towards St Edmunds Church.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bridge Street curving down towards the river 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lamb Lane 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
View towards 36 & 39 Bridge Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View towards Police Station 

Page 199



30 
 

Open spaces and surfaces 

There are no public, green open spaces in this 

area.   However, the grounds of Herbert Hall, 

particularly the trees contribute to the street 

scene.   

A particularly notable feature of Bridge Street 

is the survival of historic cobbles and natural 

stone flag pavement.  More survive here than 

in other part of the town.   Unfortunately some 

areas of historic surface have been replaced 

with modern materials.  The quality of this 

street and the conservation area would be 

enhanced by reinstating traditional stone 

paving and cobbles. 

An attractive, larger space surfaced with 

cobbles is created by the orientation of 36 – 39 

Bridge Street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Herbert Hall 

 

 
 
Bow windows along Bridge Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cobbles and natural stone paving 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 Mix of concrete repairs and natural stone 

 paving 

 

Page 200



31 
 

 

 

Castle and East Crickhowell 

Character Area 

  

Page 201



32 
 

6.4 Castle and East Crickhowell 

Introduction 

This character area is located on the eastern side of the town.  It focuses on the site of Alisby’s Castle 

(Crickhowell Castle) and the series of open green spaces to the east of the Castle, between Beaufort 

Street and Castle Road. Although there are significant areas of open space, the Castle character area 

also includes development along Castle Road and Beaufort Street. The Castle character area has been 

identified due to the area’s detachment from the High Street and the overall setting that it provides 

to the Castle.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Built Form and Layout 

This area marks the start of the Crickhowell 

Conservation Area on the east side of the 

town.  The attractive semi-detached cottages 

on the corner of Castle Road and Beaufort 

Street provide a visual gateway into the 

conservation area from the east.   Beaufort 

Street is a wide, major traffic route and the 

pattern of development is generally low 

density.  The land to the southern side is 

predominantly taken up by recreational open 

space.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View towards the remains of Crickhowell Castle’s 

Gatehouse 

Page 202



33 
 

Castle Road is much narrower than Beaufort 

Street and the pattern of development is 

generally more intimate, particularly on the 

northern side where there are short rows of 

terraced housing.  The narrowing of the road 

in places also contributes to this feeling and 

sense of place.  Stone boundary walls provide 

definition; however, the road is by no means 

totally enclosed.  The areas of open space 

create significant gaps on the northern side of 

Castle Road, notably the Castle grounds just 

beyond the Drill Hall.  There are also larger 

detached properties within spacious plots on 

the south side.   

Green space 

A key feature of this character area is its open, 

green spaces.  This green space is made up of a 

number of elements some of which is public 

space and some private.  The area surrounding 

the ruins of the Castle has historically remained 

open and this important open space can be 

seen on the historical maps. With the 

exception of an equipped children’s play area, 

the open space has an informal character and 

is publically accessible via a footpath connecting 

Beaufort Street and Castle Road.  The open 

space to the east of the castle grounds is more 

formal, accommodating Crickhowell’s Cricket 

Ground, Bowling Green and Tennis Court.  

Beyond the sports ground is an informal 

recreation area of lawn and amenity trees.  

These trees which include maple, silver birch, 

cypress and magnolia are individually protected 

by Tree Preservation Orders.    Private gardens 

also contribute to the green quality of the area, 

notably those on the northern side of Beaufort 

Street where the detached dwellings and also 

the nursing home are set within generous 

grounds.  Also contributing are the gardens 

associated with the detached modern houses 

and larger historic houses on the southern side 

of Castle Road.  The green quality of the open 

spaces are also enhanced by trees and there 

are a number of particularly fine individual 

trees including the sweet chestnut by the War 

Memorial on Beaufort Street and the copper 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Semi-detached cottages at the road junction 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Beaufort Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Castle Road 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Path through the park by Green Hill Villas 

Page 203



34 
 

Dan y Castell Chapel 

beech in the grounds of Dan y Castell on Castle 

Road.   Trees also feature within the Castle 

grounds, significantly contributing to the green 

character of the area.  

Quality of the buildings and landmark buildings 

The Castle character area has a mix of historic 

and modern buildings.   The remains of 

Crickhowell Castle’s rounded twin towered 

inner gatehouse is an important archaeological 

feature and landmark, as is the 8 metre high 

motte to the north west of the gatehouse.  The 

historic housing ranges from quite substantial 

historic houses to modest short terraces.  Dan 

y Castell is a fine example of an early Georgian 

gentry house with 16 pane sash windows to the 

ground and first floor and a fine central 

pedimented doorcase with a recessed 6-panel 

door and elegant traceried fanlight.  1 and 2 

Greenhill Villa on Beaufort Road are a pair of 

listed, late Georgian 19th century houses which 

have a strikingly similar frontage to the earlier 

Dan y Castell.   

Dan-y-Castell Chapel on Castle Road dates 

from the early 19th century.  The chapel is a 

gable entry type which is typical of an urban 

chapel. It is recorded on the Historic 

Environment Record as a Presbyterian chapel, 

erected in 1805 and then rebuilt in 1829.  The 

semi-detached cottages at the junction of 

Beaufort Street and Castle Road probably date 

from the early 20th century.  They are a 

landmark due to their prominent angled 

position at the road junction.  Another 

landmark is the large upright stone 

representing the town’s war memorial on 

Beaufort Street. 

At the eastern end of Castle Road modern 

housing becomes more prevalent. Apart from 

a small group on the north side of the road, the 

houses are detached and set back within 

generous gardens.     

 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
View towards the motte 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
1 & 2 Green Hill Villas 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Dan y Castell 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 204



35 
 

On the northern side of Beaufort Road there 

are a group of modern low rise houses, some 

enclosed in generous gardens.  The nursing 

home on the north east side of Beaufort Road 

is also a modern building and was the site of 

Greenfield House which became the 

Crickhowell Memorial Hospital but was 

demolished in 1970).  Many of these later 

buildings are set within generous, landscaped 

plots which contribute positively to the 

conservation area.   

Stone boundary walls are also a strong feature 

along both sides of Beaufort Street and also 

along Castle Road.  Of particular note on 

Castle Road is the high wall to the former 

kitchen garden associated with the demolished 

Glanyrafon (now the site of a housing estate).  

It is the most impressive boundary wall within 

this character area, having a strong presence 

on the road side.   

Views 

The Castle character area offers panoramic 

views to the wider landscape from many points 

but of particular note are the views from 

Beaufort Street and the Castle grounds across 

to Mynedd Llangatwg.  Another striking view is 

from the top of the Castle Mound across the 

roof tops of the adjacent High Street.  Views of 

the Castle remains are obtained from Castle 

Road and Beaufort Street.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

View across the Castle grounds to the landscape 

beyond   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View from Beaufort Road towards war memorial 

and grounds to the nursing home 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
View westwards along Castle Road 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 View from the motte over the town 

 centre roof tops 

Page 205



36 
 

 

 

Crickhowell West 

Character Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 206



37 
 

6.5 Crickhowell West 

 

Introduction 

This character area comprises the land on the west side of New Road; part of Brecon Road, heading 

westwards away from the town centre; Llanbedr Road and Rectory Road.  Much of the focus of this 

area is on the historical gateway to Porthmawr and the high boundary wall aligning New Road and 

Brecon Road.  This area is mostly residential with a mix of terraces, semi-detached houses, detached 

villas, and some modern infill.  There are also some small business premises on the west side of New 

Road and the petrol station (just outside of the conservation area) at the road junction.  New Road 

and Brecon Road are busy vehicle routes used by through traffic, unfortunately detracting from the 

area’s quality.

Built form and layout 

New Road was constructed 1828-30 to create 

easier access to the bridge, whereas previously 

the much narrower Bridge Street was the link 

between the town and the river crossing.  It is 

a wider street than many of those in the 

historic core and there is less continuity in the 

building line.   However, the high boundary wall 

around Porthmawr House and the boundary 

wall along the north east side of the Brecon 

Road provides a defined and strong edge along 

these sections. The development pattern is 

generally lower density than within the town  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

View towards New Road from the Bridge 

 

 

Page 207



38 
 

centre; however, there are denser clusters in 

the vicinity of Mill Street and parts of New 

Road.  The majority of buildings are two-

storey, although there are a few exceptions.  

The land rises steadily up New Road towards 

the Brecon Road but falls away steeply on the 

west side to Mill Street.  

Quality of the buildings and landmark buildings 

The Porthmawr Gatehouse and boundary wall 

is a key feature of this area.  Porthmawr House 

which replaced the fire damaged 15th century 

Cwrt-y-Carw in 1810, is a substantial Regency 

mansion, set within generous gardens.  

Prominent public views of the house are 

limited due to the high boundary wall but 

nonetheless the house has a presence.   

There are a number of attractive detached 

villas, although most are not  are not listed, 

Swn-yr-Afon, a small 19th century villa located 

on the south east side of New Road at the 

corner of Lamb Lane is unlisted but makes a 

notable contribution to the street scene.  

Tygwyn, an early 19th century villa on the 

Brecon Road is one of the exceptions that is 

listed.   

There are a number of buildings which are not 

included within this character area but none 

the less have a positive influence on its interest.   

St Edmund’s Church with its tall church spire 

has a strong presence, particularly within New 

Road.   

The listed Bridgend Inn is an informal ‘gateway’ 

building on the southerly approach to New 

Road.  The Six Bells is a former public House 

located part way up New Road. 

The houses on the west side of Llanbedr Road 

are part of the early-mid 19th century suburban 

expansion of Crickhowell. It is a cohesive and 

attractive row with much of their 19th century 

character retained.   

Although not included within the conservation 

area boundary, the petrol station at the 

junction of New Road and Brecon Road is a  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Eastwards view along Brecon Road  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Porthmawr Gatehouse and boundary wall 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Porthmawr House 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Llanbedr Road 

Page 208



39 
 

prominent landmark which has a negative 

impact on the conservation are due to its scale, 

modern materials and signage.  The telephone 

exchange occupying a prominent corner site at 

the junction also has a negative impact.  

 

Green spaces 

The main areas of open space within this 

character area are the garden to Porthmawr, 

and the grounds at the entrance to 

Crickhowell High School.   In the case of 

Porthmawr, the gardens are not particularly 

apparent at street level due to the high 

boundary wall.  

 

On the east side of Rectory Road, the deep 

private front gardens with their mature 

planting make an attractive contribution to this 

part of the conservation area. 

 

The adjacent green area of the Bullpit Picnic 

Site, and the trees (particularly the magnificent 

copper beech) rising above the churchyard 

walls around St. Edmunds Church contribute 

to the setting of this part of the conservation 

area.   

 

The Copper Beech within St. Edmunds 

churchyard has a significant presence on New 

Road. 

 

Views 

On the approach to the town from the south 

there is a sense of arrival crossing the bridge. 

There are attractive views of the Bridge Inn and 

Bethabera Chapel, and the town stepping up 

the slope in the background.  Travelling south 

along New Road, long distance views unfold 

towards Mynyedd Llangatwg in the distance.  In 

contrast, the glimpse through a gateway to the 

churchyard is a more intimate view.  Some of 

the best and most prominent views of St 

Edmunds Church are obtained from New 

Street.  The sharp fall of the land from New 

Road down to Mill Street afford views across  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

The Six Bells, New Road 

 

 

 

 

 

Grounds at entrance to Crickhowell School 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Rectory Road 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Vista along New Road towards Mynyedd 

Llangatwg 

 

Page 209



40 
 

the roof tops and to the meadows beyond.  

From Mill Street there are attractive views of 

the church on the higher ground above New 

Road.   A less attractive view is the petrol 

station which terminates the view from the 

south at the junction of New Road and Brecon 

Road.  There are prominent views from New 

Road to the rear of properties along Bridge 

Street and Lamb Lane.  There are also views of 

the rear of properties on the west side of New 

Road from the Bullpit Picnic Site.  Many of the 

rear elevations are quite complex and 

interesting, and contribute to the appearance 

of the conservation area. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   
 

 

Copper Beech within churchyard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
View of St. Edmunds Church spire  from  Mill 

Lane 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Glimpse through churchyard gateway 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View of the rear of Bridge Street properties from 

New Road 

Page 210



41 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Upper House Farm 

Character Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 211



42 
 

6.6 Upper House Farm  

This character area covers a small area of Standard Street as it heads eastwards and focusses on Upper 

House Farmhouse and the traditional farm buildings on each side of the street.  The area comprises 

of a mix of residential and commercial uses. 

Although only a short distance from the heart of the town centre, historically this area was focussed 

on the mansion and farm established by the Rumsey family in the 17th century.  Upper House farmstead 

was part of this estate and although the orchards and fields that historically surrounded the farmhouse 

and barns have been developed, the area has a more rural character in comparison with the town 

centre. 

 

Built form and layout 

Standard Street exits the northeast side of 

Market Place and here it is clearly still part of 

the town centre with 3-storey properties and 

a number of small retail units occupying their 

ground floors.  Progressing along Standard 

Street, the character begins to change.  The 

street still feels quite enclosed, with buildings 

set to the back edge of the pavement; however, 

the building height drops and 2-storey 

vernacular terraced stone cottages take over.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Upper House Farm 

 

Page 212



43 
 

Beyond the cottages, the street begins to have 

a more open character with buildings set back 

from the street, within larger plots.  The focus 

of this character area is Upper House 

Farmhouse and the distinctive layout of the 

courtyard of former farm buildings.  Two 

former threshing barns align the street on the 

north side with a further large stone barn on 

the south side.   

Quality of the buildings and landmark buildings 

There is an important complex of grade II* 

buildings associated with the former Rumsey 

family mansion.  This group forms a ‘U’ shaped 

complex comprising The Malt House, formerly 

the main part of the mansion known as Rumsey 

Place; Little Malt House, part of the former 

coach house to Rumsey Place; the Former 

Granary that adjoins the Malt House at rear 

and once part of a brewery established by the 

Rumsey family; and Upper House Farm House 

at right angles to and adjoining Little Malt 

House.  Both the Malt House and Little Malt 

House are set well back from the road within 

their grounds.  These two buildings therefore 

do not have a street presence, although the 

forecourt to the Little Malt House with its 

stone boundary wall, gateway and sculpted 

hedge has a strong street presence. The 17th 

century Upper House Farmhouse at the end of 

the U-plan group of buildings and the former 

threshing barns are the most prominent group 

in terms of presence within the street scene.   

The barn opposite the entrance to the former 

farmyard to Upper House Farmhouse is grade 

II listed and dates from the 17th century.   The 

barn is probably contemporary with the 

farmhouse.  

Green spaces 

There is no public green spaces within this area 

but the private garden around the modern 

bungalow on southwest side of street, and the 

garden courtyard to Little Malt House opposite  

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

West view along Standard Street 

 

 

 

 

 

Barns associated with Upper House Farm 

 

 

 

 

 

 
View from Standard Street to town centre 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Front forecourt to Little Malthouse 

 

Page 213



44 
 

are important gaps that visually contribute to 

the streetscape and soften the built form.   

Views 

The view looking back towards the busy 

Market Place is framed between the buildings 

and emphasise the contrast between the two 

areas in terms of activity.   

An intriguing glimpse through to the 1990s 

Televillage development is obtained from the 

former farmyard to Upper House Farm. 

As with most areas of the town, longer 

distance views of the surrounding landscape 

are available and of particular note is the view 

of the mountain rising above the Market Place. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View from Upper House Farm to Televillage 

development 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 214



45 
 

 

 

 

Riverside 

Character Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 215



46 
 

6.7 Riverside 

Introduction 

This character area is focussed on the River Usk corridor and also the network of open space south 

of Castle Road The area is physically defined on the far south west edge by the highway (A4077 and 

B4558).  

 

Quality of the buildings and landmark buildings 

This area is primarily open, green space; 

however it does have one significant built 

structure: Crickhowell Bridge.  The bridge is a 

grade I listed building and also a Scheduled 

Ancient Monument.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

The bridge is an early road bridge which was 

rebuilt in 1706 with later alterations, including 

widening in 1810.  It is single carriageway in 

width and constructed of coursed rubblestone.  

It is an important landmark and ‘gateway’ on 

the approach to the town from the southwest. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 216



47 
 

Character of the open space 

The River Usk is a fast flowing river and is 

joined by a number of tributary streams.  The 

banks of the river are lined with trees with 

pasture to each side.  The open amenity space 

of the Bullpit Picnic Site is a large area of 

meadow on the northeast side of the river.  

The pasture bordering the river and Bullpit 

Picnic Site are an important to the setting of 

the listed bridge. 

A public right of way follows the northern bank 

of river and there is open public access to the 

Bullpit Picnic Site.   

The rising ground between Bridge Street and 

Castle Road comprises of private gardens and 

paddocks interwoven with trees and 

hedgerows. 

The River Usk is designated as a Special Area 

of Conservation and as a Site of Special 

Scientific Interest. The River is important 

wildlife habitat, including protected species. 

Views 

This part of the conservation area provides fine 

views of Crickhowell Bridge on both sides, 

particularly of the arches and cutwaters.   

Crickhowell Bridge itself provides an 

opportunity to gain attractive views of the 

river, up and downstream and to the 

surrounding mountains.  There are attractive 

views of the town as it steps up the slope.  The 

Bridge Inn and Betharbara Chapel make a 

particular valuable contribution to this view. 

Due to the topography, the gardens and 

paddocks to the rear of the properties on 

higher ground along Castle Road are visually 

connected with the riverside corridor.  This 

part of the character area is also prominent in 

longer distance views. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Crickhowell Bridge from Bullpit meadows 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View of River Usk from Crickhowell Bridge 

 

 

 

 

 
 
View on the approach to the town from 

Crickhowell Bridge 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Paddocks on the slope above the River U 

Page 217



48 
 

 

  

Page 218



49 
 

7. ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER 

  

7.1. Building Style 

There is a diversity of architectural styles within the conservation area, including buildings of medieval 

origins and from the Georgian, Victorian and Edwardian periods.  This mix contributes significantly to 

the town’s character.  Re-development of parts of the town during the Georgian and Victorian eras 

has often replaced earlier medieval buildings.  However, there are examples of pre-Georgian buildings 

with surviving earlier fabric, including the Corn Exchange on the High Street which has a late 18th / 

early 19th century front to a structure of 17th century origins.    

 

The grander houses within the town display a strong Georgian style, a good example being the early 

Georgian Latham House in the High Street. The buildings from the mid-19th century also show the 

influence of Georgian classical style.  This classical style is particularly evident in the buildings that were 

part of the mid-19th century re-modelling of the town centre.  As the town expanded east and west 

later Victorian and Edwardian architectural styles become more prevalent, sometimes embracing 

extravagant detail such as seen on Clarence Hall.  Vernacular buildings, constructed from the local 

rubble stone are also a significant feature of the conservation area, and include modest cottages, a few 

former farm buildings, and buildings built to serve the local economy.   

 

In addition to building styles from different periods, there are also interesting contrasts between the 

planned groups and individual buildings that have evolved in a more incremental way.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
1 ½ storey vernacular building    Early Georgian gentry house 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Mid-19th century planned terrace    Detached villa

Page 219



50 
 

7.2. Building Scale and Form 

Buildings are mostly 2 or 3storeys, although 

there are a few one storey with attic rooms.  

The 3 storey buildings are concentrated within 

the core of the town centre, mostly a result of 

the19th century re-modelling of parts of the 

town centre to make efficient use of the plot. 

Buildings within the core of the town centre 

are mostly arranged in continuously built up 

frontages, and maximising use of the long, 

narrow plots (burgage plots).  Residential areas 

close to the core of the town centre also are 

arranged in terraced form, either planned 

terraces such as along Tower Street, or 

informal as along Bridge Street. 

 

All the buildings within the conservation area 

are of a human scale, particularly the vernacular 

cottages, but also the narrow fronted 3-storey 

town centre buildings.  Architectural detail is 

used to emphasise the scale and importance of 

some buildings, for example the rich detail on 

the town hall; the soaring giant pilasters on 52-

53 High Street; and the extravagant detail on 

Clarence Hall.   

 

Moving away from the historic core of the 

town centre, the pattern of development tends 

to be of a lower density with more detached 

buildings set within more spacious plots.  

However, there are still some denser pockets 

of development.   

 

7.3. Materials 

Stone and render are the two predominant 

facing materials seen on Crickhowell’s 

buildings.  The local Devonian red sandstone 

was readily available from the surrounding 

quarries and used in the construction of the 

town’s earliest buildings surviving today such as 

Aisby’sCastle and St Edmunds Church.  Usually 

randomly coursed, the local stone was used to 

construct the Gentry houses as well as the 

more modest vernacular cottages and 

boundary walls.  Dressed stone is found on 

formal buildings such as the Town Hall which  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3 storey buildings, part of C19th re-modelling 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1 ½ storey vernacular building 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

52- 53 High Street – planned architectural set 

piece 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Red sandstone used to construct vernacular 

cottages 

Page 220



51 
 

is constructed from ashlar sandstone with 

contrasting rock-faced sandstone quoins.  A 

number of buildings on Beaufort Street are 

constructed from rock-faced Pennant 

sandstone from the nearby coal measures 

which is of a grey / green colour.  Some stone 

buildings have been painted and it is likely that 

traditionally they were limewashed to protect 

the stone. 

 

Render is also found throughout the town, 

generally painted off white, cream or pastel 

shades.  There are a number of examples 

where detailing is picked out black.  Smooth 

render is typically the facing material for the 

19th century buildings in the core of the town 

centre where there are a number of good 

examples of scribed render intended to mimic 

ashlar stonework.  Smooth, painted render is 

also the facing material for many of the 

cottages and there are also examples of 

traditional roughcast render.  20th century 

alterations have resulted in the use of 

pebbledash and Tyrolean renders which 

detract from original vernacular character. 

 

Brick is found in limited quantities as the main 

building material but it is used for detailing such 

as in combination with Pennant sandstone. 

Many of the chimneys are built from brick, in 

some cases replacing a stone chimney.  There 

are also examples of Terracotta detailing. 

 

Roofing materials are predominantly natural 

Welsh slate.   There are a few examples of red 

clay tiles including the Roman tiles on the semi-

detached pair at the junction of Beaufort Street 

and Castle Road and the rosemary tiles on the 

main roof of St Edmunds Church which had its 

roof replaced in 1897.   

 

7.4. Architectural Detail 

There is a wealth of architectural detail found 

on buildings within the conservation area.  

There are buildings designed as architectural 

set pieces with repeated details; others have 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scribed render and flat stringcourses  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

String course, sills and mouldings around windows 

picked out in black  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Terracotta detailing to Edwardian window with 

rock-faced pennant sandstone above 

 

Page 221



52 
 

an individual, unique design; and some buildings 

have evolved over time with a range detailing 

from different periods.   As a consequence, the 

variety in the architectural detailing can be 

quite eclectic in places but this contributes to 

the overall character and interest of the 

conservation area.  There are however 

features which unify the buildings, including  

string courses and the sash windows found on 

many buildings, the smooth render finish of 

town centre buildings; raised banding on the 

rendered groups; and the local stone.  

 

Windows and doors 

Windows and doors are important 

architectural details and windows have often 

been described as the ‘eyes’ of the building.  

Timber sash windows are the most common 

window type found within the conservation 

area, reflecting the influence of Georgian 

architecture during the town’s growth during 

the 18th and 19th centuries.  The earlier sash 

windows tend to be multi-paned, typically 12 

pane, whereas the later ones from the 

Victorian and Edwardian period have fewer 

panes within each sash, typically 2 over 2.  

There are however some variations in the basic 

sash window style: the Venetian window on the 

Dragon Hotel and examples of bow and bay 

windows, oriel windows and semi-circular 

headed windows.  There are also examples of 

side hung casement windows on some of the 

more vernacular buildings, although many of 

these also have sash windows.   

Unfortunately, there are some examples where 

timber windows have been replaced with PVCu 

windows.  These modern PVCU windows 

usually have only a very superficial relationship 

with the character of the original timber 

windows and cannot replicate traditional 

joinery details.  

Original doors are a valuable architectural 

feature, revealing the date and style of the 

building, and possibly its social status.  6 panel 

doors are typically found on buildings, including  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
      16-pane sash window 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Venetian window, Dragon Hotel 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

        Bow window 

 

Page 222



53 
 

cottages.  There are some good examples of 6 

panel doors, with fanlights over and some with 

elaborate pedimented doorcases.  There are 

examples of more modest door surrounds 

such as on the terrace row along Tower Street.  

Original handles, door knockers and other 

door furniture also add interest. 

There are some examples of plain timber 

boarded doors on vernacular buildings. 

Shopfronts 

Shopfronts are an important element of the 

town centre’s streetscape, making a significant 

contribution to its vitality and interest.   There 

are attractive retail frontages along the High 

Street and Beaufort Street, many retaining 

traditional designs and materials.  Details 

including stall risers, pilasters, corbels, fascias 

with well-designed signage, and paint colour 

are all important shopfront features.   A 

notable feature of the town centre are the 

retail corner properties making the most of 

two street frontages. 

Roof details  

Dual pitch roofs, sometimes with gable ends to 

the street are the most common, but there are 

variations.  Hipped roofs, low profile roofs 

hidden behind parapets are also found.  

Occasionally there is quirky roof detail that 

stands out. This is true of Clarence Hall with 

its tower, and Beaufort Chambers where the 

roof addresses the curvature of the corner and 

includes leadwork detail.  Chimneys make and 

important contribution to the variety and 

interest of the roof line.  They are typically of 

brick, with some rendered and topped with 

clay pots.  There are examples of stone 

chimneys but often they have been replaced 

with brick.   

Dormer windows are not common within the 

conservation area but there a few examples 

including the catslide dormers within the roof 

of 44 High Street and the gabled dormers  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pedimented doorcase with inset 6-panel 

door and traceried fanlight above. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Traditional shopfront 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
          Roof detail 

 

Page 223



54 
 

on the Dragon Hotel. Cross gables to the 

street, some with attic windows are a feature 

in a number of locations throughout the 

conservation area. 

Deep, decorative eaves are a feature of some 

of the high status buildings.  Features such as 

dentillated cornices and brackets under the 

eaves add to the richness and quality of these 

buildings. 

Decorative bargeboards are found on the later 

villas beyond the town’s historic core.  

Decorative clay ridge tiles also feature on some 

buildings. 

7.5. Streetscape 

Boundaries 

Boundary walls built of the local rubble stone 

are a feature found throughout most of the 

conservation area but particularly along 

Beaufort Road, Castle Road, New Road and 

Brecon Road.  They provide strong definition 

around important buildings and spaces such as 

Porth Mawr, the Castle Grounds and St 

Edmund’s Church.  Garden boundary walls 

adjacent to the roadside add interest and 

consistency to the street scene.  However, in 

some locations, the boundary walls have 

become fragmented due to the creation of off-

street parking.  This is particularly noticeable 

on the east side of New Road. 

 

Although most of boundary walls are of stone, 

there are also a number of examples of metal 

railings and gates.   A particularly notable 

example are the railings and gates to each side 

of the path running between the churchyard 

and cemetery.  There are also examples of low 

stone built walls topped with cast iron or 

wrought iron railings. 

 

Surfaces 

There are examples of surviving historic paving 

or new traditional paving materials within the 

town, adding texture and interest.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Decorative bargeboards 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bracketed eaves – Dragon Hotel 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rubblestone walls 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Boundary wall topped by wrought iron railings 

Page 224



55 
 

Stone cobbles have been retained in front of 

the Bear Inn and also along parts of Bridge 

Street.  Bridge Street has also retained areas of 

original stone paving slabs.  The courtyard to 

the Upper House Farm business complex has 

been attractively paved with stone slabs.    

The pavements along the northern section of 

the High Street, Tower Street and partway 

along Beaufort Street are surfaced with 

modern block paviours.  Otherwise, 

pavements are surfaced with black bitumen, as 

are the roads, including the less trafficked side 

streets such as Church Lane and Tower Street.  

Unfortunately, some of the historic surfaces 

along Bridge Street have been patched with 

modern materials, detracting from the quality 

of the pavements.   Where modern paving 

materials have been used, they are not of a 

standard that matches the high quality of the 

town’s historic buildings and the spaces around 

them.  On some streets the kerbs are natural 

Pennant sandstone; but in places stone kerbs 

have been replaced with concrete kerbs.    

 

Street furniture 

Street lighting is significant feature within the 

street scene because of the visual impact of 

lighting columns and fittings.  Well-designed 

lighting can play a useful role in creating a 

positive night-time atmosphere.  The lighting 

columns on the main roads passing through the 

town are functional rather than attractive and 

designed to provide safe lighting for vehicles 

and pedestrians.   On High Street, Market 

Place, and partway along the Brecon Road the 

utilitarian lighting columns give way to light 

fittings of a period design featuring a striking 

decorative metal bracket holding a large 

lantern on columns or fixed to the buildings.  

Lighting columns of a period design are also 

found in Tower Street, Bridge Street and 

partway along Standard Street, although the 

approach is more mixed around the Church 

Lane area, with some standard modern lighting 

appearing.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Cobbles and stone flags – Bridge Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Street lamp with decorative bracket on 

     High Street building 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

     Post Box, High Street 

Page 225



56 
 

The traditional red post boxes are an 

attractive, positive contributor to the street  

scene, as is the traditional red telephone kiosk 

by the CRIC building.  

 

Waste bins are mostly plastic, and of the 

homogeneous ‘heritage’ design found in many 

towns and cities.  Bollards to control vehicle 

movements are of a utilitarian, modern design 

in either plastic or concrete.  While some have 

a necessary and functional role such as those 

around the Memorial Fountain, unfortunately 

they are not of sufficient quality for their 

historic setting.  The safety barrier by the bus 

stop on Beaufort Street also provides a 

necessary function but is visually unappealing.    

 

Metal finger post signs have been placed in a 

couple of locations, including by the CRIC 

building and in the Castle grounds. They are of 

a standard heritage design used in many other 

historic areas countrywide but they of are 

good quality.  There are however, a few 

directional signs that are not of the same 

quality.   

 

Well-maintained hanging baskets and planters 

add a splash of colour during the summer 

months and contribute to the visual appeal of 

the town. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Hanging baskets make a colourful display on the 

High Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  
Directional post and telephone box outside              

CRIC building 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Plastic bollards and road markings detract from the 

Memorial Fountain’s setting 

 

Page 226



57 
 

8.  DESIGNATED HISTORIC ASSETS  

Within the conservation area boundary there are 118 listed buildings.  103 are grade II; 11 grade II*; 

and 3 are grade 1.  There are also 3 Scheduled Ancient Monuments (SAMs) within the conservation 

boundary:  Crickhowell Castle; Crickhowell Bridge; and the gatehouse at Porthmawr.  Figure 15 shows 

the location of the listed buildings and SAMs within the conservation area.  Appendix 4 provides a list 

of the listed buildings and SAMS within the conservation area. Photographs below are of a selection 

of listed buildings representing some of the different building types within the conservation area.    List 

descriptions can be viewed on CofCymru:  https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/cof-cymru 

 

  

44 High Street – grade II  The Dragon Hotel – grade II* 

  

Pen-Y-Dre – grade II Town Hall grade II*; James Isaac – grade II 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Betharbara Chapel –grade II Ivy Tower – grade II* 

 

Page 227

https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/cof-cymru


58 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 228



59 
 

 

9. KEY UNDESIGNATED HISTORIC ASSETS 

There are a number of buildings and structures within the conservation area that are not listed but 

none the less make a particularly positive contribution to the character and appearance of the 

conservation area.  The buildings and structures that have been identified as making a particularly 

positive contribution are shown on figure 16 and listed within Appendix 5. 

 

Photographs and brief description is provided below of a selection of the buildings identified on the 

map.  

 

  

Clarence Hall, Beaufort Street 

Clarence Hall was built 1890-1 and named after the 

Duke of Clarence who laid the foundation stone.  

Pevsner notes that the building ‘adds a defiantly 

Victorian note, its chapel-like front with corner tower 

with steeply hipped roof’. It includes some extravagant 

detailing such as the carved stone door hood. 

Swn-yr-Afon, New Road 

Small, stone built, late 19th century villa with 

decorative bargeboards and distinctive lozenge 

pattern iron glazing. 

 

  

Boundary wall to former walled garden, 

Castle Road 

This high wall, is all that remains of kitchen garden 

wall associated with Glanyrafon (an early Victorian 

house demolished in the 20th century) 

 

 

 

 

Beaufort Chambers, Beaufort Street 

The building has some attractive detailing, picked 

out in terracotta. The roof form over the splayed 

corner with lead detail and window detailing is also 

of interest. 

Page 229



60 
 

  

Semi-detached cottages, Castle Road 

Attractive details include the scalloped red clay 

hanging tiles, and a substantial central, red brick 

chimney.   

The Old School and Old School House 

These former school buildings are constructed from 

local stone and includes Gothic Revival detailing. 

 

 

 

 

 

Dan y Castell Chapel, Castle Road 

The chapel is located on Castle Road and dates 

from the early 19th century.   It is of gable entry type 

facing the road.  Rendered walls and slate roof.   

 

Castle Garage, Beaufort Street 

This 1920s style garage is relatively rare and adds to 

the interest of the street scene as well as to the 

range of services found within the town centre. 

 

 

 

19, 20, 21 &22 High Street 

This row of 3 buildings integrate with the 

surrounding listed buildings, sharing common 

historic details such as multi-pane sash windows and 

string coursing.  

The Crickhowell Resources and Information 

Centre (CRIC) building, Beaufort Street 

This new building is faced in stone and successfully 

complements its historic setting. 

Page 230



61 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 231



62 
 

10. LANDMARK BUILDINGS 

Crickhowell has a wealth of historic buildings 

and many of these have a significant presence 

within the street scene, whether individually or 

as a group.  Buildings may have a strong street 

presence for a variety of reasons, including 

their use, position, scale, form, relationship 

with neighbouring buildings, and architectural 

detail.  However, certain buildings and 

structures stand out with a combination of 

these qualities to a greater degree than others.   

In Crickhowell the Town Hall in High Street 

stands out from its neighbours, due to its scale 

and elaborate design, reflecting its use as a 

public building.  The Memorial Fountain and 

also the gazebo on the Brecon Road are 

relatively diminutive in scale compared to the 

surrounding buildings; however, their key 

position, form and unique design give them 

presence.  At the other end of the scale, St. 

Edmunds church is the town’s tallest building 

with the spire standing out in short and long-

distance views. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.    St Edmunds Church 

This is the tallest building in the town and is 

located to the west of the High Street. The 

spire can be seen rising above the rooftops 

from locations within the town and in long-

distance views. 

For the purpose of this appraisal landmark 

buildings or structures have been identified 

that have a combination of qualities that make 

them stand out in a way that contributes 

positively to the character of the area.   The 

buildings that have been identified as landmark 

buildings are shown on Figure 17 and briefly 

described in this chapter. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

7. Town Hall, High Street 

The Town Hall occupies a prominent position 

on the High Street.  Its scale and architectural 

style helps it stand out from the adjacent 

buildings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Memorial Fountain 

 
Although a relatively small structure, the 

Fountain’s central position makes it a focal 

point and landmark within the Market Place. 

Page 232



63 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Crickhowell Castle – the open space around the 

dramatic ruins accentuate the gatehouse as 

landmark. 

5. Crickhowell Bridge – the bridge is landmark 

because of its physical presence and use as a major 

river crossing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6. Porthmawr Gatehouse, Brecon Road – the 

architecture and ochre limewash of the gatehouse 

together with the associated boundary walls 

combine to give this structure a significant presence. 

7. Gazebo, Brecon Road – this building is small but 

has a prominent position by the roadside due to its 

original use as a look-out tower for passing coaches. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

8. Bridgend Inn.  The inn occupies a prominent site 

on the approach over Crickhowell Bridge. During 

the late 19th century the west end facing the bridge 

was a toll house. 

 

9. War Memorial, Beaufort Street.  This is a small 

structure but prominently sited on a corner. 

Page 233



64 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

10. Clarence Hall, Beaufort street.  The building 

stands out due to scale and its elaborate 

architecture. 

11. Cottages in prominent location on the main  

approach road into the town from the east. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 234



65 
 

11. USES AND ACTIVITIES 

Conservation areas are designated for their 

character and appearance.   The focus is often 

on architecture but uses and activities also 

make a significant contribution to the area’s 

character. 

Within Crickhowell’s conservation area there 

are a range of services Crickhowell serving 

residents of the town and surrounding villages 

as well as visitors to the area.  Residential uses 

are also found close to the core of the town 

centre but houses and cottages become the 

more dominant use moving further towards 

the edges of the conservation area.   

Commercial activity focusses on the High 

Street but also extends down Beaufort Street.  

Historically, there were also shops along 

Bridge Street, although the street is now fully 

residential.   The majority of the shops in the 

town centre are independent, providing for 

most day to day needs as well as boutique 

shops and cafes.  Crickhowell also retains its 

coaching inns and smaller public houses which 

continue in use as hotels, bars and restaurants.  

Some of the shops and cafes spill out onto the 

pavement with tables and seating or attractive 

displays of produce such as fruit and vegetables.  

Overall, the town centre has a busy, vibrant 

quality with plenty of activity at street level, 

making an important contribution to the 

conservation area’s character.  

There is further commercial area at Upper 

House Farm, a short distance but separate 

from the High Street.  This complex comprises 

of small business units in the former farm 

buildings surrounding a courtyard.  

Crickhowell has historically provided a base for 

visitors attracted to the area for activities such 

as walking and fishing.  This continues, and in 

particular the attractive landscape draws 

ramblers to the town throughout the year. The 

town provides a range of hospitality services 

related to tourism, with the former coaching 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 235



66 
 

inns such as The Bear providing 

accommodation, as they did historically. 

Green, open space used for formal and 

informal recreation is found close to the town 

centre and also towards the edge of the 

conservation area, following the river corridor.   

The main town carpark lies just outside of the 

conservation area and is mostly hidden by the 

buildings fronting Beaufort and Standard Street.  

Short-term on-street parking is permitted 

along Beaufort Street and High Street but that 

does have a negative visual impact on the 

quality of the conservation area.   

The CRIC building and Clarence Hall on 

Beaufort Street form a community hub with 

the CRIC providing services and a meeting 

point for the local community, and Clarence 

Hall is regularly used for events and by 

community groups.  The town also hosts a 

number of events throughout the year, 

including the Walking Festival in the Spring.  

The core of the town centre has little in the 

way of outdoor public meeting spaces with 

much of the Market Place taken up by road.  In 

spite of that, the shops, cafes and pavements in 

the town centre and small areas of seating 

provide a place for social interaction. Generally 

there is a strong sense of community spirit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 236



67 
 

12.  GREEN SPACES AND BIODIVERSITY 

Green spaces, both public and private, make an important contribution to the character of the town 

and also have nature conservation value.  These spaces also contribute to the views within the town 

and are important to the setting of the town and key historic buildings. 

Key green spaces include: 

 The grounds surrounding Crickhowell Castle 

 The park adjacent to Greenhill Villas 

 Formal recreational grounds and sports fields, Beaufort Road 

 The River Usk meadows, including the Bullpit Picnic Site 

 The churchyard of St. Edmunds 

 The Town Council Cemetery 

 Private gardens including the rear gardens of the properties on Castle Road; the grounds to 

Greenhill  Nursing Home; Porthmawr’s garden together with the landscaped approach to 

Crickhowell High School 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Castle grounds      St Edmund’s Churchyard 

There are numerous examples of individual and groups of mature trees that make an important 

contribution to the character of the town. The deciduous trees also provide seasonal changes in colour 

and texture giving different perspectives of the town depending on the time of year. 

Examples include: 

 The copper beech and the Yew trees within St Edmund’s churchyard 

 The mature beech within the grounds of Dan y Castell 

 The linear group of trees within the park adjacent to Greenhill Villas 

 The Sweet Chestnut next to the War Memorial 

 Groups of trees within the Castle Grounds 

 Trees along the banks River Usk 

 Woodland on north side of River Usk and to east of Bridge Street 

A number of protected species and / or species of principal importance for conserving biodiversity in 

Wales have been recorded in the Crickhowell area.  These include the otter, bats (including Lesser 

Page 237



68 
 

Horseshoe, Pipistrelle, and Brown Long-

eared), Kingfisher, Barn Owl, Adder, Lesser 

Spotted Woodpecker and Hedgehog. The  

River Usk is an important biodiversity feature, 

along with small tributaries, including the 

Cwmbeth Brook and the Nant Onneu to the 

south.  The River Usk is designated as a Special 

Areas of Conservation (SAC) and a Site of 

Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).   The River, its 

tributaries, and the vegetation along their 

corridor provides important wildlife habitat, 

including for protected species.  For example, 

the otter is one of the qualifying features for 

the designation of the River Usk as a SAC. 

Large areas of amenity grassland are found at 

the Bullpit recreation ground and the castle 

grounds as well as smaller areas throughout the 

town. Within these two larger areas are zones 

where cutting regimes have been reduced 

allowing wild flowers to thrive.  This provides 

a benefit to wildlife, particularly insects and 

birds.   An area of semi-improved grassland on 

the north side of the river, downstream of the 

bridge also offers a more diverse range of grass 

types and flora.   

Many of the hedges within the conservation 

area are made up of garden species.  However, 

there is native hedgerow forming the boundary 

to some of the paddocks south of Castle Road. 

These hedges provide habitat and movement 

corridors for wildlife. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wildflowers within the Castle grounds 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Bullpit Picnic Site /Meadows 

 

 

 

 

 

     The River Usk and its tree- 

      lined corridor 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 238



69 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 239



70 
 

13. ROUTES AND MOVEMENT 

The town sits astride the A40 Trunk Road, a 

busy major east-west route that follows the 

historic coaching road.  Local traffic joins it 

from the south via Crickhowell Bridge and 

New Road.  At certain times of day the flow of 

traffic can be quite heavy, creating an 

uncomfortable environment for pedestrians 

and cyclists.  The volume of traffic also 

compromises the quality and character of the 

streets and buildings.   Apart from the visual 

intrusion and impact on pedestrians, there are 

the associated problems of noise and pollution.  

This of course is not a problem that is unique 

to Crickhowell.   There are quieter streets 

beyond the main thoroughfares such as Church 

Lane which connects the High Street with New 

Road and Tower Street which links the High 

Street with Beaufort Street.  Bridge Street is a 

narrow one way street but is used by vehicles 

as a short cut through to High Street and 

Castle Road which compromises one of the 

most attractive and historic streets in the 

conservation area. 

There are a few pedestrian only paths, 

providing useful connections between various 

parts of the town, including the path between 

the church and cemetery, and the path crossing 

the Castle grounds.  Sometimes the level of 

enclosure and lack of natural surveillance can 

make some of these routes less attractive to 

use at less busy times of the day.    Some of the 

pedestrian routes would benefit from 

improvements such as surfacing and lighting.   

The publically accessible open spaces close to 

the town centre provide additional routes and 

provide a haven for pedestrians away from the 

traffic.     

The linear public right of way along the River 

Usk also provides a pleasant and traffic free 

environment for pedestrians. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Path from New Road to Mill Street 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Path from St. Edmund’s Churchyard to New Road 

     
   
  

 

 

 

 
Path through park adjacent to Green Hill Villas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Pedestrian section of Church Lane through to the 

High Street

Page 240



71 
 

14. ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES 

The existing conservation area has a number of great physical assets, such as the listed buildings, an 

intricate and interesting townscape with characterful buildings, and the surrounding landscape 

setting.  The appraisal work has however identified a few negative issues, some of which have also 

been highlighted in the Crickhowell Community Plan.  A list of strengths and weaknesses is set out 

below.   

Strengths: 

 

 Crickhowell possesses a high quality historic environment with a significant number of listed 

buildings within the town centre.   

 The general condition of historic and contemporary building stock is good. 

 The listed buildings which have a high degree of protection, and other unlisted historic 

buildings with no permitted development rights, have mostly retained architectural detail. 

 The town is located within the Usk Valley and surrounded by high quality landscape.  

 The town has a strong and diverse retail offer of mostly independent shops, creating a 

vibrant and busy town centre. 

 There are few vacant buildings within the town.   

 Use of local stone as a building material which contributes to local distinctiveness. 

 There is an active community with an interest in enhancing the local environment.   

 The town has substantial areas of public green space which is an asset for local residents, 

visitors and wildlife. 

 Good pedestrian links across open areas. 

Weaknesses: 

 

 Some loss of architectural detail including the replacement of traditional timber windows 

with modern plastic windows.    

 Some stone boundary walls have been fragmented to create parking spaces, leading to some 

loss of definition to street edges. 

 There are a few negative buildings in prominent locations 

 Loss or damage to historic surfaces within the public realm 

 Pressure from development proposals to extend the settlement into the open countryside 

on rising ground, north of the town.  Potential impact on the high quality setting of the 

town. 

 Much of the town centre is dominated by moving and parked vehicles, detracting from the 

historic streetscape and creating a difficult environment for pedestrians. 

 Some of the pedestrian routes and lanes within the town suffer from poor surfaces and 

lighting. 

 Miscellaneous clutter including standardised signs, security cameras, wiring, burglar alarms 

and some poor quality street furniture. 

 There are a small number of buildings that are deteriorating and detracting from the quality 

of the town’s built environment. 

 

 

 

Page 241



72 
 

 

15. MANAGEMENT PLAN RECOMMENDATIONS  

 

In order to address the issues identified above, the list below sets out a range of proposals which are 

all aimed at the protection or enhancement of the Conservation Area with an indication of the lead 

body in most cases. Minor amendments to the conservation area boundary are also included. 

 

 
PROPOSAL LEAD BODIES 

Proposals for new development: 

Development proposals will be assessed for their 

effect on the conservation area’s character or 

appearance and also its setting as identified in this 

Appraisal, together with any other relevant 

planning polices and supplementary planning 

guidance.   

 

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority will 

encourage prospective developers and home 

owners to make use of the authority’s pre-

application service. 

 

The local community could consider producing a 

Design Statement to ensure that proposals for 

new development reflect the town’s locally 

distinctive characteristics. 

 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

(BBNPA) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

 

Crickhowell Town Council (CTC) and 

local community groups (supported by 

BBNPA). 

Loss of architectural detail and minor 

alterations to historic buildings: 

The BBNPA will encourage the restoration of 

authentic architectural features where there is 

sound evidence of original detailing. 

 

The production of a design statement for the town 

(see above) 

 

 

 

BBNPA, CTC and local residents 

 

 

 

Crickhowell Town Council (CTC) and 

local community groups (supported by 

BBNPA). 

Building maintenance and repair: 

The BBNPA will provide advice on the repair and 

maintenance of historic buildings and structures, or 

direct enquiries to sources of appropriate advice. 

 

The BBNPA will monitor the condition of all 

historic buildings within the conservation area, and 

if necessary, will take appropriate actions to secure 

their future. 

 

When funding is available, the BBNPA will offer 

grants to suitable enhancement schemes where 

these have a wider community benefit. 

 

 

BBNPA, building owners 

 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

 

BBNPA; CTC; community groups 

Negative sites and buildings: 

In appropriate circumstances, the use of legislation 

will be considered for situations where buildings, 

structures or land is significantly detracting from the 

 

BBNPA 

Page 242



73 
 

PROPOSAL LEAD BODIES 

character or appearance of the conservation area.  

If redevelopment opportunities arise in relation to 

negative sites of no historic value, the BBNPA will 

seek to enhance these sites though the planning 

process. 

Historic surfaces: 

Historic paving, stone setts and kerbs should be 

retained and repair is required this should be 

carried out using traditional techniques and 

materials.  Natural stone paving and kerbs should be 

used when there is an opportunity to replace 

modern paving materials.    

 

 

Powys County Council 

Building owners (for areas adjacent to 

buildings not within highway land)  

Public realm: 

The BBNPA will support initiatives to enhance the 

public realm.   

 

When funding is available, the BBNPA will offer 

grants to public realm enhancement schemes where 

they match criteria of the particular funding 

initiative.    

 

Where control is available through the planning 

system, the BBNPA will seek to minimise 

extraneous clutter on buildings.  

 

Building owners are encouraged to take an audit of 

modern signs; wiring, security equipment; external 

lighting etc., and remove any that are redundant. 

 

Development of a cohesive street lighting scheme as 

opportunities arise to replace standard, utilitarian 

street lighting. 

 

Improvements to urban spaces including the Market 

Place (particularly in the vicinity of the Memorial 

Fountain), and the junction of High Street, Bridge 

Street and Castle Road.  Consider ways of calming 

traffic that use alternative devices to standard road 

markings and traffic bollards. 

 

Improvements to pedestrian routes throughout and 

linking to the conservation area.  There is an 

opportunity to replace modern surfaces with 

natural paving and improve lighting (also see above) 

 

 

PCC; BBNPA; CTC 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

Building owners 

Support and advice BBNPA 

 

 

PCC; CTC 

 

 

 

PCC; CTC 

Support and advice BBNPA 

 

 

 

 

PCC: CTC 

Gateways to the conservation area: 

All development will be expected to respect the 

‘gateways’ into the conservation area: particularly 

the approach from the south across Crickhowell 

Bridge and from the east along Beaufort Street. 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

Page 243



74 
 

PROPOSAL LEAD BODIES 

Traffic and Parking: 

On-street parking is identified as a negative issue in 

terms of the historic townscape and has also been 

identified as problem in the Crickhowell Community 

Plan.  An independent study commissioned by the 

Crickhowell and District Civic Society looked at the 

level of use of the town’s carpark using ticket data 

from Powys County Council who own the carpark.  

This identified days, and times when the car park is 

full.  Although the car park is outside of the 

conservation area, there is likely to be a knock on 

effect on the historic environment with on-street 

parking when it reaches its full capacity.  Support will 

be given to any further work to augment the parking 

study already undertaken, and input into developing 

appropriate solutions to benefit the local community, 

visitors and the historic environment. 

 

The level of traffic on some of the narrow streets can 

harm their character and amenity as well as damaging 

historic surfaces.  In some areas, the signage, road 

markings and street furniture to manage vehicular 

traffic is visually intrusive.  Sympathetic solutions that 

calm traffic and signal that a driver is entering a street 

were particular care is needed will be encouraged.   

 

CTC; PCC; Crickhowell and District Civic 

Society; BBNPA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PCC 

Green spaces: 

Public open green space will be protected from 

development or insensitive public realm works. 

 

Support will be given to enhancement works to 

public green spaces such as additional planting of 

appropriate native trees; extending planting of 

native, pollinator friendly flowers; initiatives to 

improve wildlife habitat; and improvements to 

boundaries and paths. 

 

Landowners of private green space will also be 

encouraged to introduce similar initiatives. 

 

BBNPA 

 
 

CTC; community groups; support from 

BBNPA 

PCC 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Local landowners 

Trees: 

 

As part of the consultation process for the 

conservation area review, the BBNPA will consider 

whether additional Tree Preservation Orders within 

the conservation area or within it setting are 

required.    

 

 

BBNPA in consultation with stakeholders  

Boundary amendment: 

Amendments to the boundary include the west side 

of Llanbedr Road and also Rectory Road; and the 

Bullpit Picnic Site. 

Deletion of Glan Yr Afon and Llys Yr Afon estate 

off Castle Road is recommended.  See map in 

Section 16, 

 

BBNPA 

Page 244



75 
 

SOURCES OF INFORMATION 

Websites 

https://www.uksouthwest.net/powys/crickhowell-castle/ 

http://history.powys.org.uk/school1/crickhowell/cricmenu 

https://historicwales.gov.uk 

www.cpat.org.uk 

Published literature and articles 

Buildings of Wales Powys: Montgomery,   Scourfield R, Haslem R  2013 

Radnorshire, and Breconshire  

 

Landscape Character Assessment    BBNPA  2012 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development BBNPA  2013 

Plan 2007 - 2022 

 

Historical Notes of Crickhowell and District  Crickhowell and District Civic 1983 

       Society       

Biodiversity in the towns of the National Park  BBNPA    2016 

Domestic Service in a small Market Town:  Gant R     

Crickhowell 1851 – 1901                

Historic Settlement Survey – Brecon Beacons  Clwyd Powys Archaeological        

National Park      Trust 

Crickhowell Yesterday     Addis J    1992 

Crickhowell Community Plan    BBNPA    2017 

Crickhowell and District Archive 

 

National Library of Wales 

 

  

Page 245

https://www.uksouthwest.net/powys/crickhowell-castle/
http://history.powys.org.uk/school1/crickhowell/cricmenu
https://historicwales.gov.uk/
http://www.cpat.org.uk/


76 
 

GLOSSARY OF ARCHITECTURAL TERMS 

 

Ashlar- finest quality worked and carved stone 

 

Barge board - wooden board protecting ends of roof joists, usually following slope of roof  

 

 

Burgage plot -  a sub-division of a planned settlement or part thereof, usually drawn to a standard 

size 

 

Casement window -  a timber or metal window with side hinges 

 

Classical -  related to Greek, Roman and Renaissance details 

 

Console-  ornamented bracket or corbel 

 

Cornice-  a part of a Classical entablature, usually the top  

 

Coping - wall capping designed to throw off water 

 

Coursed - laid to courses stone or brick laid in regular layers, with joints lined up 

 

Dentil - a projecting square block under a Classical moulding 

 

Dormer window -  a window placed in the inclined plane of a roof, usually in attic space 

 

Dressing - window, door or corner detail formed of better quality stone or brick 

 

Drip mould -  projecting weather moulding above a door or window 

 

Fanlight – glazed light over door 

 

Fascia - panel/board top horizontal name board of a shop front 

 

Gentry house -  larger, higher status house, usually of ‘polite’ architecture 

 

Glazing bar -  wooden or metal division of a window, supporting individual glass panes 

 

Gothic Revival -  late C18-early C20 use of medieval pointed-arch architecture and details 

 

Gothick -  C18-early C19 style that uses medieval detailing playfully and incorrectly 

 

Hipped -  roof angle created by two sloping sides of a roof 

 

Ionic - Classical Order with distinctive volutes or ram’s horn capitals 

 

Marginal glazing - mid-late Victorian pattern of window or door bars where the outside panes 

nearest the frame are smaller than the central ones 

 

Motte -  a defensive earthen mound 

 

Mullion -  vertical division of a window 

 

Oriel window - window projecting upper floor window 

Page 246



77 
 

 

Pediment -  triangular gable, from classical architecture 

 

Pilaster - shallow rectangular column attached to a wall 

 

Quoin-  larger corner stone or brick, often raised or decorated 

 

Random-  rubble irregular, uncoursed stonework 

 

Reveal - the visible thickness of the wall into which a door or window is placed 

 

Rock-faced stone -  stone carefully faceted, with a textured surface 

 

Roughcast - textured render 

 

Sash window - wooden, vertically hung window, with two opening lights, one above the other 

 

Segmental arch -  part of a semicircular curve 

 

Snecked - small stones in squared rubble 

 

Stall riser – the panel below the shop window 

 

Stringcourse – decorative horizontal band on the exterior wall of a building 

 

Stucco - calcareous cement or plasterwork 

 

Transom -  horizontal glazing bar 

 

Venetian window -  arched central window flanked by narrower flat topped windows 

 

Vernacular -  local building styles using readily available materials, not influenced by national 

fashions 

 

  

Page 247



78 
 

APPENDIX 1 

 

ADDITIONAL PLANNING RESTRICTIONS WITHIN CONSERVATION AREAS 

 

In areas designated as National Parks there are some additional planning restrictions in operation 

within conservation areas: 

 

• Conservation area consent is required for the demolition of an unlisted building or part of a 

building exceeding 115 cubic metres.  The local planning authority normally requires an 

application for demolition to include full information about what is proposed for the site 

after demolition.  Applications for conservation area consent for demolition will require a 

heritage impact assessment*. 

• demolition of any gates, wall, fence or railing of I metre high or more where it abuts a 

highway (including a public footpath or bridleway), waterway or open space, or 2 metres 

elsewhere 

Also 

Local planning authorities (LPA) have the power to protect trees and woodlands by making Tree 

Preservation Orders (TPOs).  In addition, the LPA requires 6 weeks notice if a tree is to be cut 

down, lopped or topped.  The local planning authority has to decide within this time it wishes to 

make a TPO.  This requirement does not apply to trees under a certain size, or those that are 

proven to be dead, dying or dangerous. 

 

*Guidance on preparing a heritage impact assessment can be found on Cadw’s website: 

https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/heritage-impact-
assessment 
 

 

For further advice on planning restrictions within conservation areas, the development management 

team can be contacted by emailing planning.enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk or by telephone – 01874 

624437 

 

  

Page 248

https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/heritage-impact-assessment
https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/heritage-impact-assessment
mailto:planning.enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk


79 
 

APPENDIX 2 

SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN FOR THE 

CRICKHOWELL AND LLANGATTOCK CONSERVATION AREAS  

 A notice was placed in Brecon and Radnor Express in edition dated 28th November   

2019 advising of review of the Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area. 

 Information on the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority website. 

 Information shared on social media 

 Letters to properties in Crickhowell and Llangattock affected by the proposed 

changes to the boundary.  The letters advised of availability of the draft appraisal 

documents and where they could be accessed.  A map showing the proposed 

boundary changes was also enclosed. 

 Letters to stakeholders including : Crickhowell Town Council; Llangattock 

Community Council; Powys County Council (Highways, Education, Property 

Services, Landcharges); Cadw; Crickhowell and District Civic Society; Brecon 

Beacons National Park Society; Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust; Green Valleys 

Initiative;  Crickhowell High School; Crickhowell Resource and Information Centre; 

Crickhowell Totally Local.   

 Second letter sent to properties in Crickhowell and Llangattock affected by the 

proposed changes to the boundary advising of forthcoming exhibitions on the 

conservation area. 

 Email sent to Crickhowell Town Council and Llangattock Community Council 

advising of forthcoming conservation area exhibitions.  Copy of poster advertising 

exhibitions attached with request for this information to be displayed.   

 Additional posters advertising the exhibition were placed with the Crickhowell 

Resource and Information Centre in Crickhowell, the Library, and a local shop 

window. 

 Exhibitions were held in Clarence Hall, Crickhowell on 11.01.2020 and in 

Llangattock Community Hall on 19.01.2020. Exhibition boards with information 

about the conservation areas were provided and officers from the BBNPA were 

available to answer questions.  Maps, leaflets and comments forms were available for 

visitors to the exhibitions to take away.  45 people attending the exhibition in 

Crickhowell and 30 attended the exhibition in Llangattock. 

  

Page 249



80 
 

APPENDIX 3 - AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSERVATION AREA BOUNDARY 

 

 

  

P
age 250



81 
 

APPENDIX 4 

 

LISTED BUILDINGS AND SCHEDULED ANCIENT MONUMENTS IN THE 

CRICKHOWELL CONSERVATION AREA 

 

Building Grade 

Crickhowell Bridge, New Road I 

St Edmunds King & Marthyr Parish Church, New Road / 

Church Lane 

II* 

Churhyard Boundary Wall running from Gwyn yr Afon to 

entrance into the later churchyard 

II 

The Bear Hotel, High Street II* 

The Bear Hotel (Bar to Bear Hotel), High Street II 

1 (Crickhowell Adventure. Gear), High Street II 

2 (D N Stores), High Street II 

2 (McGrath Pearce & Co), High Street II 

Keith Miles & Co, 3 High Street II 

5 High Street II 

6 High Street II 

11-13 (consecutive nos.) (H. J & D Webb & Sons), High 

Street 

II 

14, High Street II 

15, High Street II 

16, High Street II 

17 High Street II 

18 (Cheese Press), High Street II 

Latham House, 24 High Street II* 

25 High Street II 

29 High Street II 

30 High Street II 

Page 251



82 
 

44 High Street II 

45 (Corn Exchange Public House), High Street II 

49 High Street (corner with Tower Street) II 

50 (Lloyds Bank), High Street II 

51 (Garrod’s Newsagents), High Street II 

52 (Jubilee House), High Street II 

53 (Jubilee House), High Street II 

55 (FE Richards/Floriana), High Street II 

Dragon Hotel, High Street II* 

Town Hall, High Street II* 

Cambrian Arms Hotel, High Street II 

Queen's Coffee Tavern, High Street II 

Memorial Fountain, High Street II 

Six Bells, New Road II 

Brick House, Church Lane II 

Bethabara Chapel, Bridge Street II 

Bridgend Inn, Bridge Street II 

Salmon Flat, Bridge Street II 

Salmon’s House, Bridge Street II 

Talbot House, 2 Bridge Street II 

3 Bridge Street II 

5 Bridge Street II 

6 Bridge Street II 

8 Bridge Street II 

9 Bridge Street II 

10 Bridge Street II 

Page 252



83 
 

11 Bridge Street II 

13 Bridge Street II 

14 Bridge Street II 

15 Bridge Street II 

16 Bridge Street II 

18 Bridge Street II 

19, Bridge Street II 

28 Bridge Street II 

29 & 30 (Talbot House), Bridge Street II 

31 Bridge Street II 

32 Bridge Street II 

33 Bridge Street II 

36 Bridge Street II 

39 (Penaster), Bridge Street II 

Herbert Hall, Bridge Street II 

Addis Builder &Contractor (former school), Bridge Street II 

3 Lamb Lane II 

4 Lamb Lane II 

5 Lamb Lane II 

6 Lamb Lane II 

7 Lamb Lane II 

8 Lamb Lane II 

Crickhowell Castle I 

Dan y Castell, Castle Road II 

Ivy Towers, Tower Street II* 

Former hall house to Ivy Towers, Tower Street II 

Page 253



84 
 

The Ivy Tower, Tower Street II* 

1, Tower Street II 

2 Tower Street II 

3 Tower Street II 

4 Tower Street II 

5 Tower Street II 

6 Tower Street II 

7 Tower Street II 

8 Tower Street II 

Beaufort Arms Hotel, Beaufort Street II 

Bank Buildings, 1 Beaufort Street II 

Bank Buildings, 2 Beaufort Street II 

Bank Buildings, 3 Beaufort Street II 

National Westminster Bank, Beaufort Street II 

Gwar-y-castell, Beaufort Street II 

1 Beaufort Street II 

1a (Floriana), Beaufort Street II 

Telephone Call Box 810901, Beaufort Street II 

1 Greenhill Villa, The Green, Beaufort Street II 

2 Greenhill Villa, The Green, Beaufort Street II 

1, Standard Street II 

2, Standard Street II 

3, Standard Street II 

Webb’s Yard Warehouse, Standard Street II 

Upper House Farmhouse, Standard Street II* 

Little Malthouse, Standard Street II* 

Page 254



85 
 

The Malthouse, Standard Street II* 

Grahame Amey Ltd Workshop (former granary), Standard 

Street 

II* 

Pigsty, Upper House Farm, Standard Street II 

Granary, Upper House Farm, Standard Street II 

Gazebo at The Malt House II* 

Porthmawr House, Brecon Road II 

Porthmawr Gatehouse, Brecon Road I 

Coach House at Porthmawr and adjoining boundary wall, 

Brecon Road 

II 

Gazebo, Brecon Road II 

Tygwyn, Brecon Road II 

Pen-y-dre Cottage, Brecon Road II 

1, Llanbedr Road II 

2, Llanbedr Road II 

3, Llanbedr Road II 

4, Llanbedr Road II 

5, Llanbedr Road II 

6, Llanbedr Road II 

St. Davids House, Rectory Road II 

Ashfield, Rectory Road II 

  

SCHEULED ANCIENT MONUMENTS 

  

Crickhowell Bridge  

Crickhowell Castle  

Porthmawr Gatehouse  

Page 255



86 
 

APPENDIX 5 

 

KEY UNDESIGNATED HISTORIC ASSETS 

 

 

Dan y Castell Chapel, Castle Road 

30, New Road 

24, New Road 

Swn-yr Afon, New Road 

9 – 15 New Road 

1 Mill Street 

The Old Police Station New Road 

The Old School House, New Road 

The Old School, Church Lane 

Bryn Rhos, New Road 

1 High Street 

3 High Street 

6 – 11 Pen y Dre, Brecon Road 

Pen y Dre House, No. 8, Brecon Road 

Porthmawr Lodge, Brecon Road * 

6 & 7 High Street 

10, 11 & 12 Standard Street 

Stone outbuilding to west side of 10 Standard Street 

5, 6 & 7 Standard Street 

Melrose Standard Street 

Lychgate (between cemetery and St Edmund’s Church) * 

Stone barns on north side of Standard Street *  

Castle Garage, Beaufort Street 

Crickhowell Resource Centre 

Clarence Hall, Beaufort Street 

Page 256



87 
 

Post Office, 9 Beaufort Street 

21 Castle Road 

22 Castle Road 

Former Kitchen Garden Wall to Glanyafon (demolished), Castle Road 

Glanydwr, Llanbedr Road 

7 – 35 Llanbedr Road (consecutive numbers) 

*   Potentially curtilage listed due to association with the principle listed building. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 257



88 
 

 

Page 258



1 
 

 
Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

Llangattock Character Assessment 
 

National Park Authority Meeting 

7th August 2020 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 

Llangattock 

Conservation Area Review 
 

Enclosure 2 

Page 259



2 
 

CONTENTS 

 

LLANGATTOCK CHARACTER ASSESSMENT 
 

1 Introduction 3 

1.1 Background 3 

1.2 The appraisal process 3 

1.3 Consultation 4 

1.4 Review of the Conservation Area boundary 4 

1.5 The planning policy context 4 

2 Summary of Special Interest 7 

3 Location and Setting 8 

4 Historic Development and Archaeology 9 

5 Spatial Analysis 12 

6 Architectural Character 13 

6.1 Building Style, Scale and Form 13 

6.2 Materials 13 

6.3 Architectural Detail 14 

6.4 Streetscape 15 

7 Designated Historic Assets 16 

8 Key Undesignated Heritage Assets 20 

9 Landmark Buildings 23 

10 
Views 

24 

11 Green Spaces and Biodiversity 26 

12  Uses and Activities 29 

13 Routes and Movement 30 

14 Issues and Opportunities 31 

15 Management Recommendations 32 

 

 

 

 

Page 260



3 
 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 

Conservation areas are areas recognised for their special architectural or historic interest.  Section 

69 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 places a duty on Local Planning 

Authorities to determine which parts of their area are ‘areas of special architectural or historic 

interest, the character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve or enhance’ and to designate 

them as conservation areas.  

Conservation areas are designated for their overall quality rather than just focussing on individual 

buildings. They are an amalgamation of the areas positive historic features, including the grouping of 

buildings; the spaces between buildings; materials, boundaries; views; routes; open spaces; and past 

and present land uses.  These features combine to form the special interest worthy of conservation 

area status.   

Planning authorities have a duty to protect Conservation Areas from development which would harm 

their special historic or architectural character and this is reflected in the policies contained in the 

National Park’s Local Development Plan. The regular review of Conservation Areas can ensure that 

the designated area continues to demonstrate clear architectural and historic interest, and also 

establish whether boundaries need amendment; and identify potential measures for enhancing and 

protecting the Area.  

The Llangattock Conservation Area is one of five conservation areas within the Brecon Beacons and 

was designated in the early 1970s.  Prior to this review, the conservation area covered Crickhowell 

and Llangattock.  As a result of the review, each settlement has a conservation area in its own right. 

A conservation area appraisal will define the quality of an area and what justifies its status as a 

conservation area. A clear, comprehensive appraisal of its character also provides a sound basis for 

development control decisions and for developing initiatives to improve the area. It enables the 

development of a robust policy framework for the future management of the area, with which planning 

applications and other proposals for change can be considered.  An appraisal can be an educational 

tool and also help to support applications for funding initiatives.  Currently the Llangattock 

Conservation Area does not have an up to date appraisal. 

Designation as a conservation area brings some additional controls and duties for the Planning 

Authority.  Further information is provided in Appendix 1. 

The Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area is the last to be reviewed in the National Park, 

and follows a review of Brecon, Hay on Wye and Talgarth. 

1.2 The Appraisal Process 

This review of the Llangattock Conservation Area will: 

 Reviewed the existing conservation area boundary and assessed whether the boundary 

needed to be amended. 

 Considered how Crickhowell and Llangattock should be split into two conservation areas. 

 Identified those elements of Llangattock contributing to or detracting from the conservation 

area’s character or appearance. 

 Propose measures to maintain or improve the positive character, local distinctiveness and 

sense of place of Llangattock. 

Page 261



4 
 

This appraisal document will follow advice set out in TAN 24: The Historic Environment and the 

accompanying guidance ‘Managing Conservation Areas in Wales’.  

1.3 Consultation 

A 12 week consultation for the draft appraisals for Crickhowell and Llangattock and proposed 

amendments to the conservation area boundaries commenced on 28th November 2019.   A 

summary of the public consultation carried out is set out in Appendix 2. 

Where possible, feedback from the consultation has been incorporated into the final version of the 

conservation area appraisal.  

 

1.4 Review of the conservation area boundary 

A key outcome of this review is proposed to divide the conservation area so that Crickhowell and 

Llangattock their own conservation area, rather than sharing the boundary.  Each settlement has its 

own distinctive characteristics which deserve to be considered in more detail.  Splitting the 

conservation area allows more scope for the conservation area appraisal to provide a detailed 

assessment, tailored to each settlement’s characteristics. 

The review also identified additional changes to the boundary in Llangattock.  The 1st Edition OS map 

shows the historic layout of the former Rectory and Llangattock Court and their enclosing landscape.   

The boundary has therefore been amended to include the attractive stone built Ty Gardd, the stabling 

to the rear of Llangattock Court on the northwestern edge of the village, and also more of the grounds 

to the rear of the Old Rectory Hotel which include the orchard.  This amendment to the boundary 

provides a more accurate reflection of the special character at the conservation area’s core.   

The boundary has been amended to remove the bungalows on Park Drive from the conservation area.  

The bungalows were built during the latter half of the 20th century and although they have been in the 

conservation area since its designation, they are of a national house building style and do not reflect 

the locally distinctive characteristics of the village.  Their removal from the conservation area was 

recommended so that its boundary is a more accurate reflection of the special character designation 

requires. 

A map of the changes to the conservation area boundary is provided in Appendix 3 

 

The amended conservation area boundary is shown on Figure 1. 

 

1.5 The planning Policy Context 

There are several relevant planning documents that relate to Llangatock and its built environment:  

 

National planning policy is set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW).  PPW provides strategic planning 

guidance and Chapter 9: Conserving the Historic Environment which sets out the overarching policy 

on: listed buildings; conservation areas; historic parks and gardens; historic landscapes; Scheduled 

Ancient Monuments; and archaeological remains.  

Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: the Act places a duty of well-being on public 

bodies.  Properly protected and enhanced conservation areas can improve the quality of life and well-

being for everyone. 

Cadw Best Practice Guidance: Managing Conservation Area in Wales (2017) sets out guidance on best 

practice to conservation area designation, appraisal and management.   

Page 262



5 
 

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan – Adopted in December 2013. The plan sets 

out policies and proposals to guide development in the National Park from 2007 to 2022. The policy 

that relates to conservation areas is Policy 19. 

The Local Development Plan (LDP) identifies Llangattock as one of the ‘Limited Growth Settlements’ 

within the National Park.  Policy LGS LP2 which applies to limited growth settlements requires that 

proposals for development contribute positively to their setting and enhance the quality of the 

landscape without adverse impact on the wildlife, natural beauty, cultural heritage, environmental 

assets or biodiversity of the area.   

The Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape Character Assessment 2012 identifies landscape types 

across the National Park and looks at the various components that contribute to the characteristics 

of each landscape type, including the built environment.  Each Landscape Character Area profile 

includes a management strategy and recommended management guidelines to protect and strengthen 

its landscape character. 

For its review of Llangattock, The National Park Authority (NPA) has been fortunate in benefitting 

from work undertaken by the Community Council in 1997 when a ‘Village Design Statement’ was 

prepared, with help from the NPA and the former Countryside Commission for Wales. Its adoption 

has provided a local understanding of the area’s character and has been a successful basis for 

Supplementary Planning Guidance to promote and protect the character of the village in new 

development. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 263



6 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 264



7 
 

 

2. SUMMARY OF SPECIAL INTEREST 

 

 Llangattock is a historic village clustered around a substantial church of medieval origins. 

 The layout of its historic core has been influenced by the Nant Onneu brook whose 

wooded path winds past clusters of houses, gardens and service yards on its way to the river 

Usk. 

 A gentle but rising topography contributes to the character of the conservation area, 

particularly from aspects looking north.  Here parkland, allotments and woodland frame and 

enhance views of the settlement. 

 Boundary walls and hedges are a key feature of the village. 

 The landscape surrounding the village is closely associated with a number of historic Gentry 

Houses which reflect the settlement’s strategic location in the Usk Valley. Their planned 

landscapes and gardens along with defining walls, gates and wooded enclosures are a strong 

feature of the village, and its rural context. 

 The majority of the buildings in the conservation area date from the early 19th century 

onwards. Their location scale and layout reflect the importance of the village as a service and 

housing location for those working on the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal or in the 

landed Estates referred to above. 

 Render and stone are the dominant walling materials, along with slate roof coverings and 

stone chimneys. Many buildings are clustered as intimate housing groups, served only by 

informal footpaths and service yards. 

 The proximity of Crickhowell has forged strong pedestrian links throughout the village into 

surrounding farm or parkland. They offer attractive glimpses of historic houses, and building 

groups, and make the village popular for tourists and walkers alike.  

 More recently, the strategic location of the village close to the Heads of the Valleys road has 

led to its expansion as a commuter settlement. 

 

  

Page 265



8 
 

3. LOCATION AND SETTING 

Llangattock is located within the Usk Valley on the east side of the Brecon Beacons National Park, 

The village lies to the south of the river opposite the town of Crickhowell.  The settlements are 

linked by the historic Crickhowell Bridge.  The village is surrounded by a high quality landscape and 

is dominated to the south by the Mynydd Llangatwg. As with Crickhowell, the village is identified in 

the Brecon Beacons National Park Landscape Character Assessment [August 2012] as the ‘Eastern 

Usk Valley’ : a designation which extends from Pencelli to Abergavenny.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  View from the south west towards Llangattock with Crickhowell in the distance  

Location of Llangattock 

Page 266



9 
 

4. HISTORIC DEVELOPMENT AND ARCHAEOLOGY 

The village derives its name from the church of St Catwg, and is identified in its earliest form as 

‘Llangadawc’ in about 1180, and as ‘Llancadock’ in 1291. Over a century later in 1412, a document 

refers to ‘Llangattock’ [see the CPAT reference below] 

The origins of the village are not clear but are likely to be associated with an ecclesiastical settlement 

which clustered itself around the church. The Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust explains that the 

settlement which is visible on early 19th Century maps between the church and the bridge over the 

Nant Onneu may have had its origins in the Middle Ages and points out that on the opposite side of 

the stream further housing grew up along the road back into Crickhowell. This is depicted on the 

1587 Badminton Manorial atlas which shows houses on the road adjoining the medieval park of Cillelan, 

now Llangattock Park.  

The dramatic setting of the mountains and the river Usk flowing along the verdant valley floor attracted 

the landed gentry to the area to build substantial houses set in parkland.  Llangattock Park is one of 

these estates and the house was built in about 1838 for the Duke of Beaufort as a summer / hunting 

residence.  The family had owned vast tracts of land in south-east Wales since the Tudor period and 

in the mid-17th century brought the discovery of valuable minerals on their land holdings.   The Usk 

Valley was an attractive place for a residence given the proximity of the family’s mining interests.  The 

park associated with the house lies to the north and east of the house and historically ran to the lane 

to the village to the west and extended to the road to the southern edge.  There has been some loss 

to development but the main area of the park survives intact and has influenced the form of the village 

as well as making a major contribution to its setting. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 3: 

Map from 1587 showing the 

medieval park of Cillelan, now 

Llangattock Park. 

The village road heading 

towards Crickhowell Bridge 

can be seen on the right side 

of the map. 

Source: National Library of 

Wales 

 

Page 267



10 
 

Winding streets with their packed cottages leading from the church to the Nant Onneu form the 

earliest recognisable focus of the settlement. However, The Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust finds 

that although few of the buildings retain fabric to confirm this, the Six Bells, a former inn has internal 

17th Century features, and Village Farm dates from the late 17th Century. West of the Church the Old 

Rectory is thought to have originated in the 16th Century. Plas Llangatwg has an early 18th Century 

front but retains Tudor details within. The layout of its gardens in the early 19th Century has caused 

the diversion of the road around its eastern edge, and this remains a distinctive part of the village form. 

The village grew rapidly in the early 19th Century when the Monmouthshire and Brecon Canal played 

an important part in the expansion of South Wales. It also opened the rural hinterland around the 

village to more distant markets and trades, and led to strengthened links with Crickhowell and its 

commercial centre. Its importance is evident throughout the village but concentrated on Hillside Road 

and around Canal bridges.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 4: Tithe Map – Plan of the Parish of Llangattock, 1847 

Source: National Library of Wales 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 268



11 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 5: 1st edition Ordnance Survey Map 1888 

 

Modern growth has fundamentally changed the appearance of the village, extending it southwards, and 

to the east. 1960’s housing, the Church in Wales Primary School and housing along Park Drive now 

form a well- established settlement boundary along the edge of the historic Llangattock Park. More 

recently, new housing faced in stone has been successfully integrated into the centre of the village.  

A more detailed account of the development of the village can be found in the Clwyd-Powys Historic 

Environment Record and in the archives of the Crickhowell Resource and Information Centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Postcard showing Swan Lane in the 1930s (Source: Peoples’ Collection) 

Page 269



12 
 

5. SPATIAL ANALYSIS 

Historic village streets are narrow and 

buildings are often terraced or set close 

together. There are a few clusters of estate 

houses built together in the mid-19th century, 

but more are individual houses built to create 

a terrace.  Though altered later, they read as a 

continuous building line and give an intimate 

and enclosed feel to the village at its core.  

On Hillside Road, the clusters are more 

scattered, with gardens, yards and bridges 

separating groups of differing style and scale.  

Variety is also evident in the orientation of 

roofs and ridge lines. Some houses have gables 

set to the road, others face it: their aspect, 

height and composition creating a complex and 

pleasing built form.  

The spatial character of the village is influenced 

by the location of a number of substantial 

Estate Houses which lie within or on the edge 

of it. Their managed landscaped grounds and 

parkland provide a historic backdrop to the 

conservation area.  

Walls and hedges enhance this context, and 

define historic routes and property boundaries. 

They are particularly evident to the north of 

the conservation area where distinctive 

parkland walls with angular stone copings line 

the B4558 and Hillside Road. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 270



13 
 

 

6. ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER 

6.1 Building style scale and form 

Housed are in the main two storeys with 

simple ridges and building frontages. There is a 

mix of architectural style in the conservation 

area, though the predominant style appears 

driven by fashion and the availability of building 

materials at the time of each building’s 

construction. The distinctive Tudor Gothic 

building style adopted by T H Wyatt in the 

building of Llangattock Park has influenced a 

number of 19th century buildings and groups in 

the conservation area. The Miles Memorial 

Hall, the Old Rectory and former School, 

together with numerous terraced housing 

groups mimic the style, using decorative eaves, 

drip moulds and dressed window openings.  

6.2 Materials 

The oldest buildings in the village are of local 

stone, many with a rendered or lime washed 

finish. More recent and substantial houses set 

within their own grounds are built with dressed 

stone or faced in stucco. With the 

development of the canal, and the expansion of 

the village, brick became more popular, either 

as a building material or to frame windows and 

doors. 

The local Devonian Red sandstone is common 

throughout the village and can be seen at the 

Miles Memorial Hall, Ty Gardd and on houses 

in Owen’s Row. It is also used for headstones 

to windows and doors on other houses. The 

massive St Catwg church tower offers the best 

example of its use. Here it is packed tightly in 

thin bands, with decorative quoins, bands and 

crenellated parapets to complete. Elsewhere, 

rock face pennant with pennant or bathstone 

dressings is used, for example at Park Farm 

Lodge, and the Old Rectory. 

There has been a growing and successful use of 

pennant stone facing to contemporary 

development in the village, notably at Trem y 

View which lies just outside the conservation 

area.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Miles Memorial Hall – example ofTudor Gothic 

style 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Vernacular cottages built from local red sandstone 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

St. Catwg’s church tower  

 

 

 

 

 

 
Village Farmhouse finished with a rough cast 
render 
 

Page 271



14 
 

Finally, more recent detached houses and 

bungalows are constructed in brick or render. 

Often set within expansive gardens and behind 

hedges, they have minimal impact on the 

character of the conservation area.  

6.3 Architectural detail 

Decorative fascia boards and fretwork on 

gables are a common addition to buildings.  The 

approach is evident at the converted school, 

where buildings of good quality rock-faced 

sandstone with stone dressings create a 

pleasing group with decorative bargeboards 

and drip moulds over windows and doors.  

Elsewhere, some architectural detail has been 

lost through the replacement of traditional 

window joinery. Building scale and proportion 

has been lost as a result. This has also occurred 

where render has been removed from stone.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Tudor gothic detailing on porch of Miles Memorial 

Hall 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Former shop front retaining some original detail 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Bargeboards with decorative fretwork 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Round headed doors with fanlights over 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Windows with drip moulds above 

 

 

Page 272



15 
 

6.4  Streetscape  

Solid stone walls in random rubble or of semi 

coursed stone are an important part of the 

village. The most significant walls can be found 

on Hillside Road and around Plas Llangatwg and 

Cwrt Llangatwg. They form a pleasing 

backdrop to building groups where they are 

often partnered by mature hedges or garden 

vegetation. Beech hedges are a particular 

feature of the village,  

Although there are pavements and verges on 

Hillside Road, the inner streets at the village 

core have no pavements but are instead faced 

by houses leading directly onto narrow strips 

of setts. A number of houses are served by 

narrow passageways, some still paved by setts 

or gravel with grassy edges.   

Signage is inconspicuous.  Directional signs and 

interpretation boards provided by Community 

Council and Church lend depth and local 

interest to village life. 

Highway lighting is varied. Some is of a 

‘heritage’ type, but of a scale which does not 

relate well to local buildings. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cobbled setts on footpath serving group of 

cottages off Swan Lane 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Rubble stone walls surround the grounds of Plas 

Llangatwg 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Low, stone boundary wall topped with metal 

railings 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Two examples of street lighting  

Page 273



16 
 

7. DESIGNATED HISTORIC ASSETS 

Listed Buildings 

 

Figure 6   shows the location of Listed Buildings in the Conservation Area. The photographs below 

are a selection of listed buildings representing some of the different building types in the conservation 

area. List descriptions can be found on Cadw’s website: CofCymru: https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-

support/cof-cymru 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Listed buildings: 

 

Cwrt Llangatwg, Grade 11*, 

Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11* 

Glass and Boiler House within the grounds of Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11* 

Gate and Gate piers to Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11 

Barn to the rear of Plas Llangatwg, Grade 11 

St Catwg’s Church, Grade 11*, 

Churchyard Cross within the churchyard at St Catwg’s Grade 11 

The Horseshoe Pub, Grade 11 

The Old Six Bells, Grade 11, 

The Village Farm House, Grade 11 

Glannoney, Grade 11, including its entrance gates and walls, 

Beech View Grade 11 

Page 274



17 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

St Catwg’s Church – grade II* 

A church is first recorded here in C6, 

dedicated to St Cattwg (497 - 577 

AD). There is said to have been a C12 

tower, but no evidence for it survives. 

It was probably on the site of the 

present C16 tower. The C14 arcade 

suggests that the church may belong to 

this date.  Largely late-Perpendicular in 

style and built of local red stone.  The 

church is dominated by the massive 3-

stage tower with quoins, band courses 

and crenellated parapet.  

Old Six Bells – grade II 

Former Public House in the centre of 

the village, possibly of 17th century 

origins. Built in three phases, the oldest 

part is at the southern end with the 

middle part probably 18th to early 19th 

century.  The northern section is 

Victorian.  The middle section is 

characterised by hoodmoulds over the 

windows to the front.  Built of rubble 

stone which is painted, and a slated 

roof.    

  

 

Plas Llangatwg – II* 

Early C18 gentry house, constructed 

on the site of a former Tudor house, 

features of which still survive.  The 

main part of the house is 3-storey 

under a hipped roof. Flanking this are 

two-storey side wings with parapets. 

Slate roofs and painted roughcast 

elevations. The front elevation has a 

moulded dentilled eaves cornice. 

There is a fine decorative wrought 

iron veranda of 2-storeys to the 

front. 

 

Page 275



18 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Horseshoe Inn – grade II 

Listed as an early C19 coaching inn 

retaining its historic character.  

Symmetrical, two-storey inn with 

central entrance flanked by 16-pane 

sash windows.  Lower coach house 

range attached to right with a 

carriage entrance.  The walls are 

rendered under a slate covered roof.  

Long rear wing behind the   inn, 

constructed of rubble masonry. 

Barn at Plas Llangatwg 

including pigsties – grade II 

Late 18th century threshing barn built 

of rubble masonry with a stone tile 

roof. The barn is prominently sited, 

abutting the highway running through 

the village.  A central full height 

opening with planked double doors 

fronts the road and there is a 

matching opening to the rear.    

Against the north gable end are 3 pig 

sties of rubble stone with red pantile 

lean-to roofs. 

Village Farmhouse – grade II 

The Village Farmhouse dates from 

the late 17th to early 18th century. It 

is located in a prominent position 

next to the church and set back 

behind a low, stone wall. 

The house is 2 storeys, with a 

distinctive hipped roof with 2 large 

end stacks and 3 hipped roof 

dormers. To the rear is a full-height 

staircase projection. The walls of the 

house are finished with a rough cast 

render 

 

Page 276



19 
 

Scheduled Ancient Monuments: 

 

Garn Goch within the grounds of the Recreation Ground is a Scheduled Long Barrow dating from 

4000 to 3000 BC. It was investigated in 1874 and found to be a burial chamber showing evidence of 

significant burial and ritual practices. A more detailed account can be found in the Clwyd-Powys 

Historic Environment Record.  

 

Registered Parks and Gardens: 

 

Statutory Protection has been afforded to the following Cadw Registered Parks and Gardens: 

 

 Plas Llangatwg: Grade 11* 

 Llangattock Park: Grade 11 

 

Figure 7 shows the location of the Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM) and the Registered Parks 

and Gardens. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
     View northern section of Llangattock Park 

Garn Goch Long Barrow Scheduled Ancient Monument 

Page 277



20 
 

 8.  KEY UNDESIGNATED HERITAGE ASSETS 

The following unlisted buildings are considered to make a positive contribution to local character: 

 

Park View and Dinas Place: A prominent 

grouping at the junction of Owen’s Row and 

Hillside Road. The terrace has some attractive 

detailing picked out in cream and red brick, 

which is repeated on chimneys and gate posts. 

The whole is enhanced by well-preserved cast 

iron railings. Its rear face overlooks the Nant 

Onneu . 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Old School House and the Miles 

Memorial Hall: This is shown on the 1880 

OS maps as a school but is now converted to 

an attractive residential group. The buildings 

retain handsome stonework with slate roofs 

set over decorative bargeboards. The whole 

group is surrounded by a stone boundary wall 

and well maintained railings. The Miles 

Memorial Hall to the rear of the school is faced 

in well-cut local stone with dressings and 

decorative crest set over its arched entrance 

porch. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Owen’s Row: this group leads to the historic 

core of the village. It comprises 2 storey 

terraces either facing the road or set back in 

hidden passageways [Swan Lane] or 

courtyards. Materials are local stone with slate 

roofs over. Some terraces were formerly faced 

in render, though this has often been removed. 

A number of distinctive round headed 

doorways with fanlights endure within some 

terraces. A former shop, now converted lies 

within the group. Its former shopfront with 

cornice and pilasters remains.  The former 

Crown Inn lies within the group as well. On the 

south side of the Row, a number of houses 

retain sandstone hood moulds and string 

courses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 278



21 
 

Golden Square: lies between Owen’s Row 

and the Nant Onneu . Its houses overlook an 

attractive square laid in stone slabs. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cartref : An attractive pair of houses set back 

from the road, sharing a common central gable 

and decorative barge boards. Its side elevation 

forms an attractive backdrop to the edge of the 

Nant Onneu. 

 

 

 

 

 

The Old Rectory: The Old Rectory and its 

stable block remain as a late 19th century stone 

house built in a robust Victorian Gothic style. 

It is enclosed by high stone boundary walls, and 

a number of more recent outbuildings. The 

impressive 3 storey mansion with outbuildings 

are built in coursed local stone with distinctive 

fretted barge boards and freestone dressings. 

A substantial ‘porte cochere’ lies to the front 

and is complemented by a gracious entrance 

drive. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The walls and water fountain enclosing 

the village car park. Boundary walls are a 

distinctive feature of the village. These walls are 

the best example and follow a pleasing curve 

around the historic road alignment shown on 

early maps. They hold within them a decorative 

water fountain given to the village in 1881 by 

its benefactor GFW Miles.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 279



22 
 

Plas Cottages: A terrace of 3 cottages faced 

in local stone with brick window openings and 

sandstone lintels. They form a strong building 

group with the adjoining listed barn, and lie 

within the curtilage of the Registered Plas 

LLangatwg. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Park Farm Lodge: Lies at the former 

entrance to Llangattock Park and adjacent to 

the Ladies Avenue, a former drive which leads 

through the plantation. The Lodge is enclosed 

by high stone gates piers and railings. Footpath 

access to the woods is now gained to the east 

beside Knightswood. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 280



23 
 

9. LANDMARK BUILDINGS 

For the purpose of this appraisal, Landmark Buildings or structures have been identified for a 

combination of qualities that make them stand out in a way that contributes positively to the 

character of the conservation area. They are shown on Figure 9 and briefly described here: 

 

St Catwg’s Church, 

This substantial medieval church with massive 

West tower dominates the centre of the village 

and views from every direction. 

 

 

Plas Llangatwg, 

This unusual 18th Century Gentry House 

stands behind its high stone boundary wall and 

outbuildings. Though half hidden, its pink 

square block with central pediment, high pitch 

roof and end stacks still gives the house a 

strong presence within the village.  The shrubs 

and trees within its ornamental gardens also 

help to emphasise its status. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Wall with Water Fountain 

enclosing the village car park, 

The fountain with Gothic arched canopy in 

stone and brick was bequeathed to the village 

by its benefactor GFW Miles in 1881. Although 

the fountain is relatively small, it is considered 

to be a landmark because it is a unique feature 

within the village and has a prominent position 

opposite the church. 

 

 

The Lychgate and walls enclosing the 

churchyard.  

The gates create a focal point at the centre of 

the village, and marks the cross roads of paths 

and roads. With the churchyard wall, they 

enjoy the same ecclesiastical protection as the 

listed Church and Preaching Cross.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 281



24 
 

 

 

10.  VIEWS 

Key views can be identified in four ways: 

i) Views and glimpses gained as roads and building groups are revealed within the village 

core. The well- defined footpaths which skirt the churchyard and Plas Llangatwg offer 

many such glimpses from numerous points as the walker moves north or south. The paths 

include early stone footbridges, 19th century railings and gates, and well maintained stone 

walls.  All add to the area’s historic significance.  

ii) The Nant Onneu offers glimpses of the back of houses rising above stone garden walls 

and hedging. Views from the bridge leading into the village offer the best example 

iii) Longer vistas can be enjoyed across more expansive planned landscapes or fields around 

the settlement. Two Cadw Registered  ‘Historic Parks and Gardens’ lie within the 

conservation area and are important parts of the area’s historic landscape. ‘Plas Llangatwg’, 

and ‘Llangattock Park’ offer pastoral views across the parkland and fields encircling the 

village.   

iv) Views towards the hills to the north and south of the Usk valley define and confirm the 

strategic location of the village between river and canal. To the south, the village is 

dominated by the limestone crags of Mynydd Llangatwg, and to the north, by the Table 

Mountain, Crug Hywel. 

 

 

 

  

Figure 9: 

Location of Landmark Buildings 

 

Page 282



25 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Panoramic View from the canal looking 

northwards over the rooftops of Llangattock 

towards Crickhowell. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The curve of the street allows the view to unfold 

as progress is made along the street. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

View along Nant Onneu, flanked by the backs of 

houses. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Vista along Swan Lane towards St. Catwg’s 

Church. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
View channelled along the walled path towards 

the church. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Glimpse from Swan Lane along narrow footway. 

Page 283



26 
 

11. GREEN SPACES AND 

BIODIVERSITY 

The woodland around Llangattock is 

important, and defines the eastern boundary of 

the conservation area. Woodland which is part 

of the former Llangattock Park retains a 

significant number of its original beech tees, 

together with other ornamental species 

including Monkey puzzles, Cedars and Douglas 

Firs. The plantation includes a drive called 

‘Ladies Avenue’ which runs north towards Park 

Farm Lodge on the boundary of the 

conservation area.  It offers attractive walks 

through mixed deciduous woodland.  

The Community Council manages the 

allotments, and recreation ground and is 

successful in managing the playing field and play 

areas within it, its trees and ornamental 

planting.  

More informal woodland areas and hedgerows 

encircle Plas Llangatwg and follow the banks of 

the Nant Onneu . These, with the trees 

bounding the cemetery, give Llangattock its 

soft green woodland character.  

This attractive combination of greenery and 

pennant stone has been successfully 

interpreted in the layout of roadside verges on 

Hillside Road and the inclusion of stone 

gateway features within them. 

The final landscape ‘type’ is that found within 

enclosed gardens and orchards. These, 

particularly at Llangatwg Cwrt, Plas Llangatwg 

and Glannoney hold many substantial 

ornamental species, which have a positive 

impact on the public domain when glimpsed 

above stone boundary wall or hedges. The 

location of the cemetery at the entrance to the 

village is defined by a border of tall conifers. It 

lies beside the more informal grazed meadows 

behind Plas Llangatwg. A number of 

ornamental trees including Spanish Chestnuts 

frame the adjoining brook. 

The inclusion of Plas Llangatwg and Llangattock 

Park in the Cadw Register of Historic Parks and 

Gardens confirms the area’s significance as a 

location for historic planned landscapes.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recreation Ground 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Churchyard 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Open grassed area and woodland within 

Llangattock Park 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nant Onneu brook 

Page 284



27 
 

Key green spaces include: 

 The recreation ground and allotment 

Gardens, 

 Meadows between the churchyard and 

B4558, through which the Nant Onneu 

runs, 

 The churchyard and woodland 

adjoining the brook, 

 Llangattock Park mature woodland and 

plantations, 

 The grounds to the Old Rectory Hotel 

 Private gardens including Glanonney, 

Plas Llangatwg, and Llangatwg Cwrt.  

There are numerous examples of individual 

trees that make an important contribution to 

the character of the conservation area 

throughout the year. Examples include: 

 The towering Oak at the entrance to 

the Old Rectory, 

 The Monkey puzzle lying on the edge 

of the Recreation Ground, 

 The Spanish chestnut and orchard 

trees lying in the meadow behind Plas 

Llangatwg, 

There are both garden and native hedges in the 

conservation area. They provide habitat and 

movement corridors for wildlife. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
     

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
      Meadow to south west of Plas Llangatwg 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
    Monkey Puzzle tree within recreation ground 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
    Woodland within Llangattock Park 

 

 

 

 

 

Left:  trees and shrubs within gardens and 

grass verges contribute to the green character 

of the village. 

Grounds to the rear of the Old Rectory 

Page 285



28 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 286



29 
 

12. USES AND ACTIVITIES 

The conservation area is almost entirely residential in character. The busy trades and workshops of 

the 19th and early 20th century are all gone, and the only pubs remaining are the Horse Shoes Inn and 

the Vine Tree at the entrance to the village. The Old Rectory Hotel offers a more substantial hotel 

and restaurant facility. Other local activity is generated by public facilities, notably the allotments on 

Hillside Road, the recreation ground on Park Drive and the Church, graveyard and Cemetery. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Childrens’ play area within the recreation ground      One of the two public houses within the village 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Allotments off Hillside Road 

 

 

 

Page 287



30 
 

13.  ROUTES AND MOVEMENT 

There is vehicle access to most of the village with informal on street parking available. The attractive 

pattern of narrow windings streets has given rise to parking demands in the village core, despite the 

development of a successful and well used car park in the centre of the village.  

 

There is a well-used footpath around the church which passes over a footbridge to join the path 

running through the yard at the rear of the Horseshoe Inn. It then passes through the historic 

meadows lying behind Plas Llangatwg before heading towards the B4558 and the Crickhowell Bridge.  

Other popular footpaths follow historic routes and tracks pass through Llangattock Park and its estate 

woodlands. 

 

Most through traffic is evident on Hillside Road which is the main access to housing on its east and 

west, and to the school. Beyond, the mountain road to Beaufort offers a useful route for local traffic. 

However, at busy times of day the level of traffic can impact on pedestrians, particularly at the vehicle 

management pinch point on Hillside Road where the pavement narrows.  

 

   

 

 

 

 

        
        
 

Above and below: well used path linking the                           Public footpath winding past stone cottages 

village with Crickhowell       

 

 

 

 

 

 

        
            

          Traffic calming Hillside Road 

 

 

 

 

 

 

           Village Carpark 

     

Page 288



31 
 

 

14. ISSUES AND OPPORTUNITIES 

The appraisal has identified a number of strengths and weaknesses for consultation:  

 

Strengths: 

 

 The conservation area lies at the heart of a well maintained predominantly residential 

settlement, and is its recognizable and distinctive core. 

 The village has well defined and historic connections to Crickhowell and the Canal.  

 Its strategic location in the historic Usk Valley has resulted in the establishment of a 

number of important gentry houses and Estates: notably, Llangatwg Cwrt, Llangatwg Plas 

and Llangattock Park. 

 Each Estate has retained significant historic landscapes which play an important part in 

forming the wooded backdrop to the Conservation Area. 

 The condition of historic and contemporary building stock is good.  

 Recent development is well integrated in the village and has benefited from local input to 

the Village Design Statement adopted in 1997. 

 The village is enhanced by a number of informal footpaths which run through the village 

and establish attractive connections to adjoining rural farm and woodland, and links 

towards the Canal and the River Usk. 

 The recreation ground, allotments and woodland endure  as well maintained community 

assets within the conservation area’s boundary, 

 There is an active community with an interest in enhancing the local environment, 

 

Weaknesses: 

 

 The loss of shops, pubs and workshops over the years has led to a change in the character 

of the village, 

 There is occasionally traffic congestion where cars struggle to pass on the main village 

street, 

 There is some damage to the distinctive pavement setts where cars have difficulty passing, 

 There has been some loss of historic landscapes to residential development, 

 There is some loss of architectural detail to houses. This is particularly evident in the loss of 

historic renders and plasters, or in the replacement of traditional joinery, 

 As trees within gardens and orchards mature, there is a loss to the scale and stature of tree 

cover, 

 Some stone boundary walls are poorly maintained or have been fragmented by replacement 

fencing, leading to some loss in the definition of building groups. 

 Generally properties are well maintained; however, there are a few that are poorly 

maintained. 

 Although there is a village car park, parking can be a problem when the car park is full at 

busy times. 

  

Page 289



32 
 

 

15.  MANAGEMENT PLAN 

 

1. MANAGEMENT PLAN / RECOMMENDATIONS – setting out a framework for 

action 

 

In order to address the issues identified above, the list below sets out a range of proposals 

which are all aimed at the protection or enhancement of the Conservation Area with an 

indication of the lead body in most cases. Minor amendments to the conservation area 

boundary are also included. 

 

 

 

New Development: 

Development proposals will be assessed 

for their effect on the conservation area’s 

character and appearance as identified in 

this Appraisal, together with other 

relevant planning policies and 

supplementary planning guidance. 

 

The BBNPA will encourage prospective 

developers and home owners to make 

use of the Authority’s pre-application 

service. 

 

The local community could consider 

updating the Village Design statement 

prepared in 1996 

 
 

 

 

BBNPA, through the Appraisal’s adoption 

and SPG 

 

 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

BBNPA, Community Council and local 

community groups supported by BBNPA 

Loss of architectural detail and minor 

alterations to historic buildings : 

The NPA will encourage the restoration of 

authentic architectural features where there 

is sound evidence of original detailing  

Building Maintenance and Repair:  

The BBNPA will provide guidance or direct 

enquiries to sources of appropriate advice 

that could assist in the retention and 

enhancement of the conservation area’s 

historic character and appearance. 

 

The BBNPA will monitor the condition of 

all designated historic assets in the 

conservation area and if necessary will take 

appropriate action to secure their future, 

 

When funding is available, the BBNPA will 

offer grants to suitable enhancement 

schemes where these have wider 

community benefit 

 

 

NPA, Community Council and local 

community groups [supported by BBNPA] 

 

 

 

BBNPA, building owners 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

BBNPA, CC and local community groups 

 

 

 

 

Page 290



33 
 

Historic Surfaces:  

Historic paving, kerbs and setts should be 

protected and repaired, if necessary, using 

traditional techniques and materials  

 

 

Powys CC and home owners [for areas 

adjacent to buildings not within highway 

land] 

Traffic and parking 

At busy times the level of traffic within the 

village can be high which can present a 

problem on the narrow roads in terms of 

pedestrian movement and damage to 

historic surfaces (see above).  Parking 

demands can also be high at certain times, 

exceeding the capacity of the village 

carpark. 

 

Support will be given to an audit of the 

current situation so that a fuller 

understanding of the issues can be gained. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Community Council; Powys County 

Council (Highways); support from BBNPA 

Tree management and enhancement: 

The NPA will consider preparing advice 

about care and maintenance of trees within 

the conservation area. 

 

Support will be given to initiatives for new 

planting of appropriate native species, 

particularly in green spaces and at the edges 

and gateways to the conservation area.  

 

As part of the consultation process for the 

Conservation area review, the BBNPA will 

consider whether additional Tree 

Preservation Orders are required. 

 

 

NPA, Llangattock Community 

Council;Powys County Council and local 

Landowners, Llangattock Green Valleys 

Initiative, Llangattock Community 

Woodlands Group. 

 

BBNPA in consultation with the 

stakeholders above. 

 

 

 

BBNPA 

Footpaths and Links 

The NPA will work with the County 

Council to maintain and promote the 

historic network of footpaths which run 

through the conservation area, 

 

BBNPA; Powys CC; and Community 

Council, St Catwg’s Parish  

Canal Links and Interpretation 

The NPA will work with partners to 

enhance and promote the significance of the 

village’s connection to the Canal and its 

trading and industrial past 

 

NPA, Community Council, Canals and 

Rivers Trust, Cadw and Powys CC, 

Crickhowell District Archive Centre 

Langattock Green Valleys Initiative 

Boundary Amendment:  

An amendment to include Ty Gardd and 

adjoining landscape enclosing The Old 

Rectory is recommended, together with the 

deletion of new development on Park 

Drive. See map:  

 

 

BBNPA 

 

 

 

Page 291



34 
 

SOURCES OF INFORMATION 

Websites 

 

http://history.powys.org.uk/history 

https://historicwales.gov.uk 

www.cpat.org.uk 

National Library of Wales – www.library.wales 

 

Published literature and articles 

Buildings of Wales Powys: Montgomery,   Scourfield R, Haslem R  2013 

Radnorshire, and Breconshire  

 

Landscape Character Assessment    BBNPA  2012 

 

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development BBNPA  2013 

Plan 2007 - 2022 

 

Llangattock Park in 1587, A Guide and History  Crickhowell & District 

        Archive Centre  2018 

         

Historic Settlement Survey – Brecon Beacons  Clwyd Powys Archaeological        

National Park      Trust 

Register of Parks and Gardens in Wales (Powys) Cadw 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 292

https://historicwales.gov.uk/
http://www.cpat.org.uk/


35 
 

 

 

GLOSSARY OF ARCHITECTURAL TERMS 

 

Ashlar- finest quality worked and carved stone 

 

Barge board - wooden board protecting ends of roof joists, usually following slope of roof  

 

 

Burgage plot -  a sub-division of a planned settlement or part thereof, usually drawn to a standard 

size 

 

Casement window -  a timber or metal window with side hinges 

 

Classical -  related to Greek, Roman and Renaissance details 

 

Console-  ornamented bracket or corbel 

 

Cornice-  a part of a Classical entablature, usually the top  

 

Coping - wall capping designed to throw off water 

 

Coursed - laid to courses stone or brick laid in regular layers, with joints lined up 

 

Dentil - a projecting square block under a Classical moulding 

 

Dormer window -  a window placed in the inclined plane of a roof, usually in attic space 

 

Dressing - window, door or corner detail formed of better quality stone or brick 

 

Drip mould -  projecting weather moulding above a door or window 

 

Fanlight – glazed light over door 

 

Fascia - panel/board top horizontal name board of a shop front 

 

Gentry house -  larger, higher status house, usually of ‘polite’ architecture 

 

Glazing bar -  wooden or metal division of a window, supporting individual glass panes 

 

Gothic Revival -  late C18-early C20 use of medieval pointed-arch architecture and details 

 

Gothick -  C18-early C19 style that uses medieval detailing playfully and incorrectly 

 

Hipped -  roof angle created by two sloping sides of a roof 

 

Ionic - Classical Order with distinctive volutes or ram’s horn capitals 

 

Marginal glazing - mid-late Victorian pattern of window or door bars where the outside panes 

nearest the frame are smaller than the central ones 

 

Motte -  a defensive earthen mound 

 

Page 293



36 
 

Mullion -  vertical division of a window 

 

Oriel window - window projecting upper floor window 

 

Pediment -  triangular gable, from classical architecture 

 

Pilaster - shallow rectangular column attached to a wall 

 

Quoin-  larger corner stone or brick, often raised or decorated 

 

Random-  rubble irregular, uncoursed stonework 

 

Reveal - the visible thickness of the wall into which a door or window is placed 

 

Rock-faced stone -  stone carefully faceted, with a textured surface 

 

Roughcast - textured render 

 

Sash window - wooden, vertically hung window, with two opening lights, one above the other 

 

Segmental arch -  part of a semicircular curve 

 

Snecked - small stones in squared rubble 

 

Stall riser – the panel below the shop window 

 

Stringcourse – decorative horizontal band on the exterior wall of a building 

 

Stucco - calcareous cement or plasterwork 

 

Transom -  horizontal glazing bar 

 

Venetian window -  arched central window flanked by narrower flat topped windows 

 

Vernacular -  local building styles using readily available materials, not influenced by national 

fashions 

  

Page 294



37 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDICES 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 295



38 
 

 

APPENDIX 1 

 

ADDITIONAL PLANNING RESTRICTIONS WITHIN CONSERVATION AREAS 

 

In areas designated as National Parks there are some additional planning restrictions in operation 

within conservation areas: 

 

• Conservation area consent is required for the demolition of an unlisted building or part of a 

building exceeding 115 cubic metres.  The local planning authority normally requires an 

application for demolition to include full information about what is proposed for the site 

after demolition.  Applications for conservation area consent for demolition will require a 

heritage impact assessment*. 

• demolition of any gates, wall, fence or railing of I metre high or more where it abuts a 

highway (including a public footpath or bridleway), waterway or open space, or 2 metres 

elsewhere 

Also 

Local planning authorities (LPA) have the power to protect trees and woodlands by making Tree 

Preservation Orders (TPOs).  In addition, the LPA requires 6 weeks notice if a tree is to be cut 

down, lopped or topped.  The local planning authority has to decide within this time it wishes to 

make a TPO.  This requirement does not apply to trees under a certain size, or those that are 

proven to be dead, dying or dangerous. 

 

*Guidance on preparing a heritage impact assessment can be found on Cadw’s website: 

https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/heritage-impact-
assessment 
 

 

For further advice on planning restrictions within conservation areas, the development management 

team can be contacted by emailing planning.enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk or by telephone – 01874 

624437 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 296

https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/heritage-impact-assessment
https://cadw.gov.wales/advice-support/placemaking/heritage-impact-assessment/heritage-impact-assessment
mailto:planning.enquiries@beacons-npa.gov.uk


39 
 

 

APPENDIX 2 

SUMMARY OF THE PUBLIC CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN FOR THE 

CRICKHOWELL AND LLANGATTOCK CONSERVATION AREAS  

 A notice was placed in Brecon and Radnor Express in edition dated 28th November   

2019 advising of review of the Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area. 

 Information on the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority website. 

 Information shared on social media 

 Letters to properties in Crickhowell and Llangattock affected by the proposed 

changes to the boundary.  The letters advised of availability of the draft appraisal 

documents and where they could be accessed.  A map showing the proposed 

boundary changes was also enclosed. 

 Letters to stakeholders including : Crickhowell Town Council; Llangattock 

Community Council; Powys County Council (Highways, Education, Property 

Services, Landcharges); Cadw; Crickhowell and District Civic Society; Brecon 

Beacons National Park Society; Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust; Green Valleys 

Initiative;  Crickhowell High School; Crickhowell Resource and Information Centre; 

Crickhowell Totally Local.   

 Second letter sent to properties in Crickhowell and Llangattock affected by the 

proposed changes to the boundary advising of forthcoming exhibitions on the 

conservation area. 

 Email sent to Crickhowell Town Council and Llangattock Community Council 

advising of forthcoming conservation area exhibitions.  Copy of poster advertising 

exhibitions attached with request for this information to be displayed.   

 Additional posters advertising the exhibition were placed with the Crickhowell 

Resource and Information Centre in Crickhowell, the Library, and a local shop 

window. 

 Exhibitions were held in Clarence Hall, Crickhowell on 11.01.2020 and in 

Llangattock Community Hall on 19.01.2020. Exhibition boards with information 

about the conservation areas were provided and officers from the BBNPA were 

available to answer questions.  Maps, leaflets and comments forms were available for 

visitors to the exhibitions to take away.  45 people attending the exhibition in 

Crickhowell and 30 attended the exhibition in Llangattock. 

  

Page 297



40 
 

 

P
age 298



 © Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys,

LD3 7HP

 © Crown copyright and database rights 2020

Ordnance Survey 100019322.  You are not

permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form.

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2020

Arolwg Ordnans 100019322.  Ni chaniateir i chwi

gopio, tan-drwyddedu, dosbarthu neu werthu y data

yma i unrhyw drydydd barti mewn unrhyw ffurf.

 © Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau Brycheiniog,

Plas y Ffynnon, Ffordd Cambrian, Aberhonddu, Powys,

LD3 7HP

23/07/2020Date: Scale:

Enclosure 3

Crickhowell

Proposed Conservation Area Boundary

Conservation Area boundary

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 © Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Plas y Ffynnon, Cambrian Way, Brecon, Powys,

LD3 7HP

 © Crown copyright and database rights 2020

Ordnance Survey 100019322.  You are not

permitted to copy, sub-licence, distribute or sell

any of this data to third parties in any form.

© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2020

Arolwg Ordnans 100019322.  Ni chaniateir i chwi

gopio, tan-drwyddedu, dosbarthu neu werthu y data

yma i unrhyw drydydd barti mewn unrhyw ffurf.

 © Awdurdod Parc Cenedlaethol Bannau Brycheiniog,

Plas y Ffynnon, Ffordd Cambrian, Aberhonddu, Powys,

LD3 7HP

23/07/2020Date: Scale:

Enclosure 4

Llangattock

Proposed Conservation Area Boundary

Conservation Area boundary

P
age 301



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ENCLOSURE 5

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC CONSULTATION UNDERTAKEN FOR THE 
CRICKHOWELL AND LLANGATTOCK CONSERVATION AREAS 

 A notice was placed in Brecon and Radnor Express in edition dated 28th November   
2019 advising of review of the Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area.

 Information on the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority website.

 Information shared on social media

 Letters to properties in Crickhowell and Llangattock affected by the proposed 
changes to the boundary.  The letters advised of availability of the draft appraisal 
documents and where they could be accessed.  A map showing the proposed 
boundary changes was also enclosed.

 Letters to stakeholders including : Crickhowell Town Council; Llangattock 
Community Council; Powys County Council (Highways, Education, Property 
Services, Landcharges); Cadw; Crickhowell and District Civic Society; Brecon 
Beacons National Park Society; Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust; Green Valleys 
Initiative;  Crickhowell High School; Crickhowell Resource and Information Centre; 
Crickhowell Totally Local.  

 Second letter sent to properties in Crickhowell and Llangattock affected by the 
proposed changes to the boundary advising of forthcoming exhibitions on the 
conservation area.

 Email sent to Crickhowell Town Council and Llangattock Community Council 
advising of forthcoming conservation area exhibitions.  Copy of poster advertising 
exhibitions attached with request for this information to be displayed.  

 Additional posters advertising the exhibition were placed with the Crickhowell 
Resource and Information Centre in Crickhowell, the Library, and a local shop 
window.

 Exhibitions were held in Clarence Hall, Crickhowell on 11.01.2020 and in 
Llangattock Community Hall on 19.01.2020. Exhibition boards with information 
about the conservation areas were provided and officers from the BBNPA were 
available to answer questions.  Maps, leaflets and comments forms were available for 
visitors to the exhibitions to take away.  45 people attending the exhibition in 
Crickhowell and 30 attended the exhibition in Llangattock.

Page 303



This page is intentionally left blank



ENCLOSURE 6 - SCHEDULE OF CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Object/
Support/ 
Neutral                    

Comments BBNPA Response Recommendation

C J Lee Object I have received your letter of 29th November.  
I live near the top//northern end of Rectory 
Road.  The house was only built in 1976.  I find 
it strange that mine, along with several others, 
above and below of not great age compared to 
those in the centre of Crickhowell, should be 
considered to be of heritage value.  I would 
question why there needs to be any change to 
the existing situation which I assume has been 
in operation for some time.

The inclusion of the houses on the southeast side of 
Rectory Road within the conservation area along 
with the properties on the west side is proposed 
for a number of reasons.  The majority of the 
houses on the southeast side Rectory Road appear 
on historic mapping from the late 19th century, and 
although unlisted, they have some local historic 
interest.  The deep set back of the houses from 
Rectory Road behind their mature front gardens, 
together with the stone boundary walls adjacent to 
the road makes an attractive ensemble.   It is agreed 
that the two houses at the northern end are much 
later but they are sited in a similar way and the 
gardens, trees and boundaries form an attractive 
foreground.  Overall this is a cohesive line of houses 
which have a unity in their siting and landscaping to 
the front.  Not all buildings in conservation areas 
are historic and there will be some, such as those 
referred to in the appraisal that have a negative 
impact.  Others have a neutral impact.  Generally a 
conservation area boundary would not be extended 
to include a negative building but it is legitimate to 
include a building assessed as not harmful if there 
are other factors such as those referred to above.  

No change 

The 
Crickhowell 
and District 
Civic Society

Neutral The attached drafts were briefly discussed last 
night at our Dec meeting of The Crickhowell 
and District Civic Society. There will be 
significance Civic presence at the Consultation 
in Jan 2020.

The issue of on-street parking was raised in the 
Crickhowell Community Plan which is one of the 
documents used to help inform this review of the 
conservation area.   On-street parking was also 
observed by the Senior Heritage Officer during the 

Amend chapter on 
Management Plan 
Recommendations 
to acknowledge the 
work carried out by 

P
age 305



As a background we've been doing a lot of 
work on "parking" in and around Crickhowell.  
We're therefore very interested in a more 
comprehensive explanation of the section
Parking:
On-street parking is identified as a negative 
issue in terms of the historic townscape and 
has also been identified as problem in the 
Crickhowell Community Plan.  Support will be 
given to an audit of the current situation so 
that a fuller understanding can feed into 
developing appropriate solutions to benefit the 
local community, visitors and the historic 
environment.  CTC; PCC
Who specifically can we contact for a 
discussion and data sharing on the analysis we, 
The Civic Society have already carried out?

numerous visits to Crickhowell for the purpose of 
preparing the conservation area appraisal.  This is 
why the issue is identified in Section 14, 
Management Plan Recommendations.  It is 
recommended that the section on parking in the 
Management Plan Recommendations will be 
amended to include The Crickhowell and District 
Civic Society in the 'Lead Bodies' columns.

the Crickhowell and 
District Civic 
Society.

Cllr J 
Charlton

Support Thank you for the opportunity comment on 
the above changes.
I have no concerns and welcome these 
changes.

Support for changes noted No change 

R & E Morris Support Thank you for the letter of 29th November 
from Ms Janet Poole, the Senior Heritage 
Officer.  We have looked at the conservation 
area appraisal document, and its proposals for 
modifying the boundaries on the Crickhowell 
side of the Usk.  It does seem sensible for the 
two parts of the present area to be separately 
designated, and this will make any further 
reviews and modifications easier in due course.
We welcome the inclusion of this property, 
and the terrace of which no. 31 is part, in the 
newly defined conservation boundaries.  
Indeed, we consider that it would be 
advantageous also to include both the 

Support for the division of the conservation area 
and the amended boundary in Crickhowell is noted.   

The recreation ground beyond Rectory Road has 
been assessed.  While it is valuable recreation space 
it does not contribute to the quality of the 
conservation area in the way that the Castle 
grounds or the Bullpit Meadow do.  In terms of the 
protection of his open space the adopted Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority Local 
Development Plan identifies it as 'Existing 
Community Use'. As such it covered by Policy 50 
Retention of Existing Community Facilities.  

P
age 306



recreation ground to the rear of the Llanbedr 
Road houses, as well as the grass bank amenity 
strip in front of them.
Both these are integral to the character of the 
Llanbedr Road terrace, which we understand 
to have been built in, or maybe before, the 
1890s.  The recreation ground, and its 
adjoining play area are much enjoyed, and 
should be protected from any speculative 
development - just as the recreation area next 
to Alisby's Castle has already long been 
included for no doubt similar reasons.  The 
grass bank opposite to this house - down the 
centre of the total width of Llanbedr Road - is 
a unique feature in the town.  It requires 
constant protection from the unlawful parking, 
tree damage and the like, and is a key feature 
in the attractive street scene.  Slight extension 
of the boundaries to include these two areas 
will include no further properties, but will 
strengthen the tree preservation powers in 
particular in both cases.
Other than these points, we have few further 
significant observations on the Crickhowell 
proposals, except to say that there seems little 
point in excluding the two small areas that 
have long been designated already at Castle 
Road and Orchard Avenue.  We also welcome 
the inclusion of the riverbank path area 
upstream from and beyond Bullpit Meadows; 
this is very important for bird life in particular, 
in addition to its landscape and amenity value.

The grass bank on Llanbedr Road is related to the 
20th century development on the east side of 
Llanbedr Rd but it does also provide a setting for 
the 19th century terrace on the west side.  
Conservation Areas are now reviewed on a 5 year 
cycle and it is recommended that the grass bank is 
looked at for possible inclusion within the 
conservation area as part of the next review.   If 
there is an issue of unlawful parking and damage to 
trees as highlighted in the consultation comment, 
this is something that is the responsibility of the 
landowner to address.

The use of tree preservation orders are not just 
confined to conservation areas.   The Management 
Plan Recommendations refers to a review to 
consider whether additional TPOs are required 
within the conservation area.  It is recommended 
that a review includes the consideration of trees 
within the setting of the conservation area.

Further review of Orchard Lane has been carried 
out as a result of this consultation and it is 
concluded that the existing boundary should 
remain.  Important views of St Edmunds Church are 
obtained from this part of Orchard Lane and the 
area is relevant to the church's setting.

When the conservation area was first designated, 
Glanyrafon, an early 19th century, small country 
house was still present at the easternmost end of 
Castle Road.  By the 1980s modern social housing 
had been built in its grounds to the east and 
northwest.  Glanyrafon was divided into flats at that 
time.  In 1989 an application to demolish Glanyrafon 

Amend Management 
Plan 
RecommendationsP

age 307



was granted conservation area consent.  In 1993 a 
planning application to demolish Glanyrafon and 
replace it with 10 dwellings was granted permission.  
It is likely that this area was included within the 
conservation area when first designated because of 
historic house.  Unfortunately this part of the 
conservation area changed irrevocably prior to the 
formation of the National Park Authority.   Other 
than the high, former garden wall once associated 
with the demolished Glanyrafon, the estate does 
not contribute to the quality of the conservation 
area.  The proposal to remove the housing estate 
from the conservation area is therefore considered 
to be an appropriate course of action.

Support for the inclusion of additional land at Bullpit 
Meadows is noted.

P Roberts & 
C Heath

On behalf of:
Mr &Mrs R 
Franklin: 
J Mould;
V Jones; 
M White 
D Roberts 
A Sheldon
P Ashby  
C Goodwin 
Mr &Mrs A 
Jones 
R Pinkerton 
C Hill 
H James

Support I write on behalf of the residents of Bridge 
Street in Crickhowell, names and addresses of 
whom are listed at the bottom of this letter 
(17 households in total).
The draft consultation document makes good 
reading, and we note with approval that there 
is much comment about the special character 
of Crickhowell, and specific comments about 
the special character of Bridge Street.
There are some specific points that we would 
like to be altered:-
The report says that the traffic in New Road 
spoils the character, but it should say the same 
for Bridge Street.  It also says that Bridge 
Street is one-way, but it fails to say that it is 
designated as "Access Only".
The report talks about walkers and pedestrians 
in general terms, and makes much of 

It is acknowledged that through traffic compromises 
the character of Bridge Street, residential amenity 
and potentially conflicts with pedestrian movement.  
The character area chapter covering Bridge Street 
will be amended to reflect this.  The Chapters on 
Routes and Movement, Management Plan 
Recommendations and sections that refer to 
damage to historic street surfaces will also be 
amended.  

It is agreed that road markings, structures to 
manage traffic and road signage detracts from the 
town’s character in a number of locations.  This has 
been mentioned as an issue in areas other than by 
the fountain.  The points made about this issue can 
be highlighted more strongly in the Routes and 
Movement chapter and in the Management Plan 
recommendations.

Amend  the 
following chapters: 
Bridge Street and 
Lamb Lane 
character area; 
Routes and 
Movement; 
Management Plan 
recommendations

P
age 308



Mr & Mrs A 
Coggins 
M Biss 
S Marr-
Johnson 
Mr & Mrs G 
Jarman 
K King
S Cartlidge 
M Darknell

Crickhowell Bridge as a feature, but should 
also say that many locals and visitors walk 
down Bridge Street to see it, and to visit 
Bullpit Meadow.  The pavements are uneven 
and narrow, non-existent in places, so there is 
a confilict between pedestrians desiring quiet 
enjoyment of the oldest street in Crickhowell, 
and the impact of traffic using the street, much 
of the time in contravention of the "Access 
Only" restriction.
The report makes comment about the 
problem of noise and pollution - a particular 
problem for Bridge Street with its "strong 
sense of enclosure".  Vehicle noise resounds 
around the street, and window ledges are 
often black with dust and grime from the 
traffic, both of which detract from the desired 
tranquil space.
The report mentions street furniture and 
markings as detrimental to the fountain in the 
High Street, but this issue is more widespread, 
and the proliferation of road signs is a 
detraction in many places, including 
Crickhowell Bridge.  Also, wide yellow road 
markings are used throughout most of the 
town, when they could be narrower ones as 
used in Bridge Street.
We would like to see more emphasis on these 
issues in the report.
We proposed the following measures which, 
either separately or in combination, could 
"maintain or improve the positive character, 
local distinctiveness and sense of place of 
Crickhowell and Llangattock."

 It is Powys County Council rather than the Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority (BBNPA) who are 
responsible for the highways and traffic 
management.  The final version of the conservation 
area appraisal will be sent to them.   The BBNPA 
will investigate opportunities to work with Powys 
County Council, regarding repairs to historic 
pavement surfaces, signage, and the potential to 
introduce traffic calming measures that integrate 
sympathetically into the historic environment.

Amend Management 
Plan 
recommendations

P
age 309



BBNPA to provide resources to police and 
reduce the illegal use of Bridge Street as a 
through road.
Road signs on the bridge could be reduced and 
improved to make it clear that only traffic 
stopping in Bridge Street should use the road.  
Such signs should be placed so that they are 
clearly seen before the junction - at present 
drivers are almost committed to turning right 
before the signs are clearly visible.  Perhaps 
this means a more detailed sign at the traffic 
lights on either side of the bridge?
Bridge Street (and other parts of Crickhowell?) 
could be made pedestrian priority areas.  Signs 
should clearly show that there are pedestrians 
using the road (there is one such sign in Castle 
Road).  There have been accidents where 
pedestrians have been hit by vehicles, 
thankfully no fatalities yet, but is only a matter 
of time.
The entrance to Bridge Street could be clearly 
marked by a strip of cobbles or similar, and the 
corners of the entrances slightly narrowed so 
that drivers have to slow down significantly in 
order to make the turn.
The same could be done at the top of Bridge 
Street.  It is a frequent occurence that cars 
drive down the wrong way, so a similar strip of 
cobbles, and improved signage, would make it 
less easy to make this mistake.
A 20mph speed limit (or even 10mph?) could 
be applied to the street, or indeed to much of 
the town centre, from the fountain in the High 
Street down to the bridge, and also along 
Castle Road?  This could be applied to 

P
age 310



Beaufort Street, where pedestrians abound, 
and extended to the whole of New Road 
where traffic tends to race to "beat the lights" 
at the bridge.
During school term time, New Road is jammed 
from top to bottom at peak hours.  Anything 
that can be done to alleviate this problem 
would improve Crickhowell.  A roundabout at 
the top of New Road would be good, if space 
could be taken from the (now disused) 
telephone exchange.
Flower tubs could be placed at strategic points 
in Bridge Street, slightly narrowing the road so 
that again, drivers have to slow down 
significantly at these points.
It would be great if funding could be found to 
help restore cobbled and flag-stoned 
pavements.
If you would like further explanation of 
clarification of any of the above, please do not 
hesitate to contact us.
 

Canal and 
River Trust

Neutral The Canal and River Trust have no comment 
to make on the proposal to split the 
Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation 
Area, or on the proposed amendments to 
their boundaries.  However, we ask whether 
the Planning Authority would consider the 
creation of a Canal Conservation Area to tie in 
with other sectiosn areas already designated as 
such elsewhere on the canal?  The Trust would 
welcome further discussions on this matter.

No comment on the proposal to split the 
Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area is 
noted. 

It is in the current work programme to assess the 
section of canal that passes through the National 
Park with view to designating it as a conservation 
area.

No change required

J Steadman Support Thank you for providing an opportunity to 
view your proposed changes to the 
Conservation Area.

Support noted. No change.

P
age 311



I am supportive of the Area being extended to 
include my own property and the western side 
of Llanbedr Road.  I am also supportive of the 
other proposals contained in the document.
However, I would draw your attention the 
consideration of the inclusion of the Upper 
House Farm housing development.  In your 
own words:
"One modern development of the note is the 
1990s Televillage at Upper House Farm.  This 
was a pioneering project for its time which 
catered for people to work from home.  As 
technology advanced this type of housing 
project is no longer unique but at the time it 
was ground breaking."
The protection of this charming modern 
development, which adjoins the Conservation 
Area and contributes positively to the 
townscape of the town, would be welcome.  It 
is an exemplar of what can be achieved in 
terms of layout, building materials and highway 
design.  As such, it should be preserved and 
enhanced.

It is agreed that the Televillage at Upper House 
Farm is an interesting and attractive development 
which was ground breaking for the time it was built.  
Conservation Areas are reviewed on a 5 year cycle 
and it is recommended that the Televillage is looked 
at for possible inclusion within the conservation 
area as part of the next review.

Mr & Mrs C 
Lewis

L & R Webb

Object

Object

We strongly disagree with the proposed 
change.

We object to the revised boundaries of the 
conservation area.

The review of the conservation area in Crickhowell 
has proposed the inclusion of the Bullpit Meadows 
within the conservation area boundary because it is 
an important open space in the foreground of the 
town and also in relation to the bridge.  The 
inclusion of the properties on Llanbedr Road, and 
Rectory Road is primarily because of their 
architectural interest and connection with the 19th 
century suburban growth of Crickhowell.  It is 
therefore considered that the change proposed to 
incorporate both of these areas within the 
conservation area is justified.   

No change

No change

P
age 312



Further review of Orchard Lane has been carried 
out as a result of responses to the public 
consultation and it is concluded that the existing 
boundary should remain.  Important views of St 
Edmunds Church are obtained from this part of 
Orchard Lane and the area is relevant to the 
church's setting.  

Other than the high, former garden wall once 
associated with the demolished Glanyrafon, the 
modern estate off Castle Road does not contribute 
to the quality of the conservation area.  The 
proposal to remove the housing estate from the 
conservation area is therefore considered to be an 
appropriate course of action.

In Llangattock, the group modern bungalows on 
Park Drive do not reflect the materials or style of 
the traditional buildings in Llangattock and therefore 
do not contribute to the character of the 
conservation area.  The proposal to delete this area 
from conservation area is therefore considered to 
be justified.  The line of the boundary around the 
Old Rectory was previously quite arbitrary and 
therefore a small extension has been proposed.  
The boundary has been amended to follow a more 
coherent line and also acknowledge the significance 
of the grounds to the setting of the Old Rectory 
and the conservation area.  

Dividing Crickhowell and Llangattock so that each 
has its own conservation area is considered to be 
an appropriate course of action.  Each settlement 
has its own distinctive characteristics which deserve 

P
age 313



the space to be considered in more detail.  The 
character appraisals for each conservation area can 
then provide a detailed assessment tailored to each 
settlement’s characteristics.

C & K 
Summers

We were very interested to visit the exhibition 
concerning the review of the Crickhowell 
Conservation Area at the Clarence Hall.
We agree wholeheartedly with the extensions 
to the current conservation area.
However, we can see no benefit from 
removing this area from the conservation area 
and indeed, the review document doesn't put 
forward any reason for its deletion.
We are concerned that the removal of part of 
Orchard Lane will remove restrictions on 
development in this and neighbouring areas.  
Although there may not be much of historical 
interest merit in the lane, we feel that it still 
deserves protection as part of a famous old 
town within a national park.  We have recently 
seen the passing of plans to introduce flood 
lighting, together with screening, both in solid 
wooden fencing and 'artificial foliage' at the end 
of Orchard Lane and are very concerned that 
removal of the lane from the conservation area 
could well facilitate further inappropriate 
development to disfigure the lane which is 
frequently used by Crickhowell residents and 
visitors to the National Park alike as a means 
to reach the banks of the Usk.
Rather than deleting parts of Mill Street and 
Orchard Lane, it would be better to extend 
the Conservation Area to include the whole of 
these roads.

The support for the extensions to the Crickhowell 
Conservation Area are noted.  Further review of 
Orchard Lane has been carried out as a result of 
this objection and it considered that the existing 
boundary should remain.  Important views of St 
Edmunds Church are obtained from this part of 
Orchard Lane and the area is relevant to the 
church's setting.

Retain the existing 
conservation area 
boundary in relation 
to Orchard Lane.

P
age 314



As no benefit would come from the deletion of 
this area from the Conservation Area, we 
would ask that it remains within its boundary.

Mr P 
Williams

I consider that BBNPA have sufficient existing 
powers as National Park Authority to protect 
both the natural and built environment.
Hence there is no requirement to extend the 
existing boundaries of the Crickhowell 
Conservation Area.

Conservation area designation is not just about 
imposing additional planning controls.  Conservation 
area designation is a recognition of the quality of an 
area and they are an amalgamation of elements that 
include the architectural quality of buildings; 
materials; boundaries; spaces; trees; routes; views 
and uses.  The review of the conservation area has 
proposed the inclusion of the Bullpit Meadows 
within the conservation area boundary because it is 
an important open space in the foreground of the 
town and also in relation to the bridge.  The 
inclusion of the properties on Llanbedr Road, and 
Rectory Road is primarily because of their 
architectural interest and connection with the 19th 
century suburban growth of Crickhowell.  It is 
therefore considered that the change proposed to 
incorporate both of these areas within the 
conservation area is justified.   

No change

A Smith Neutral Housing extended the area around Llanbedr 
Road and Rectory Road why has the 
Recreation Ground not been included?

The recreation ground beyond Rectory Road has 
been visited to assess its suitability for inclusion 
within the conservation area.   While it is valuable 
recreation space, it does not have a visually strong 
connection to the built heritage compared to the 
Castle grounds and Bullpit Meadow.  In terms of the 
protection of his open space the adopted Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority Local 
Development Plan identifies it as 'Existing 
Community Use'. As such it covered by Policy 50 
Retention of Existing Community Facilities.

No change

B David Neutral Concerns The Castle grounds and the recreation areas 
between Beaufort Street and Castle Lane are 

P
age 315



- Recreated areas are not included in 
conservation areas as if material objects are 
more important to an areas beauty than the 
space that it exists in/around.
- That developers are not being made to 
include green spaces, or footpaths to link 
up/connect the community.
Two examples
1. The new development near the sewage 
works has no play area for any children from 
that area.
2. The new area of homes between Llanbedr 
Road and Great Oak Road has no interlinking 
footpaths to Llanbedr Road and the school, 
recreation ground.
I propose an inclusion of the recreational areas 
in conservation area and immediate action to 
be taken to encourage footpaths to link all 
areas of community.
Happy to help with any surveys.

included within the conservation area.  This review 
of the conservation area proposes to include Bullpit 
Meadows.  The recreation ground beyond Rectory 
Road has been visited to assess its suitability for 
inclusion within the conservation area.   While it is 
valuable recreation space, it does not have a visually 
strong connection to the built heritage compared to 
the Castle grounds and Bullpit Meadow.

Existing links within the conservation area are 
referred to in the chapter on Routes and 
Movement.  The chapter on Management Plan 
Recommendations will be amended to refer to 
opportunities to improve existing links within the 
conservation area.  

Amend chapter 
Management Plan 
Recommendations

B Harrison Very positive ideas, realistic approach. Support noted. No change required
C Jenkins 1. Car parking on the edge of the 

Conservation area is a real problem, when the 
Church Services are on and the Rectory has an 
even (That is nearly every weekend).  Builders 
also park their vans in the Church car park, 
making very difficult for local people to park.
2. Flooding of the R Unnan can also be a 
problem if the Unnan is blocked through the 
village.
3. Pot Holes - Swan Lane needs to be 
maintained.

1. Issue of car parking is noted in Chapter 12 of the 
Llangattock Character Appraisal.  The Management 
Plan Recommendations section will be amended to 
include a section on traffic and parking and will 
refer to support given to an audit to gain a fuller 
understanding of the existing situation.
2. Flooding is an issue for Natural Resources Wales.
3. Powys is the Highways Authority covering 
Llangattock and they are responsible for highway 
maintenance.

Amend Management 
Plan 
Recommendations

D Jeremiah When BBNPA began, there was no need for a 
conservation area, There is still no need.

The first conservation areas were designated in 
1967 under the Civic Amenities Act.  The 
Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area 

No change

P
age 316



was an early designation resulting from the Act and 
it has been a conservation area for over 45 years.  
Under the 1990 Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act, Local Authorities have a 
duty to review the conservation area and its 
boundaries and formulate and publish proposals for 
the preservation and enhancement of the area.  This 
is why this current review has been undertaken.  
The purpose of the review is to assess whether the 
designated area continues to demonstrate clear 
architectural and / or historic interest, and also to 
establish whether the boundary of the conservation 
area needs amending.  It is also an opportunity to 
identify potential measures for protecting the area 
and opportunities for enhancement.  The draft 
appraisal for Crickhowell and Llangattock has 
demonstrated that both settlements still have a high 
quality historic environment.  There are a few 
additional planning restrictions in addition to those 
imposed by National Park Status; however the 
purpose of a conservation area is much broader and 
not only planning restrictions.    Conservation Area 
designation is part of the management tool kit to 
help identify and retain what is important, and 
where appropriate, develop proposals to enhance.

H Burns Neutral Diddorol iawn, diolch.  Dyn ni'n byw ym 
Llangatwg ers 6 blywedd a mae'r lle yn hyfryd - 
mae'n bwysig iawn n gadw fe
Very interesting, thank you.  We have lived in 
Llangattock for years and the place is lovely - 
it's important to keep it that way.

Comments noted. No change 
required.

O Williams Both 
object 
and 
support

I object to Rectory Road and Llanbedr Road 
being included in the conservation area.
Why now? Nothing has changed planning 
permission should suffice.

The inclusion of the properties on Llanbedr Road, 
and Rectory Road is primarily because of their 
architectural interest and connection with the 19th 
century suburban growth of Crickhowell.  On 

No change

P
age 317



BBNPA does not have a great track record in 
taking notice of the public opinion (the Green 
is a prime example).
Why do we need another level of bureaucracy?
I am in favour of deletion re the two areas 
marked in Crickhowell

Llanbedr Road Numbers 1 – 6 are listed and the 
unlisted houses retain much of their 19th century 
character.  On Rectory Road St. David’s House is 
listed and most of the unlisted houses on the east 
side are present by the time of the 1st edition 
Ordnance Survey map and have architectural value.  
In addition their stone boundary walls, deep front 
gardens and mature trees and shrubs also 
contribute to the quality of Rectory Road.  The two 
houses at the northern end of Rectory Road are 
much later; however, they are sited in a similar way 
and the gardens, trees and boundaries form an 
attractive foreground.   It is therefore considered 
that the change proposed to incorporate both of 
these areas within the conservation area is justified.   
  
The comment on the deletion of two areas from 
the conservation boundary in Crickhowell is noted.  
Further review of Orchard Lane has been carried 
out as a result of this consultation and it considered 
that the existing boundary should remain.  
Important views of St Edmunds Church are 
obtained from this part of Orchard Lane and the 
area is relevant to the church's setting.

P Webb This does seem to me a bit of a paper exercise.  
I note buildings are sited as of historical 
interest but are falling apart.  A plan should 
encourage/enforce these to be maintained to 
keep the town character, stone walls noted as 
being lost, has any owner been approached 
into renovating these.  The one in Standard 
Street above the roundabout is disappearing 
fast.  Church wall ivy is deteriorating the listed 
church wall in Church Street.

Planning control over the demolition of boundary 
walls in conservation areas is limited to those 
fronting a highway and under 1 metre in height.  
We hope by highlighting the value of stone 
boundary walls to the quality of the conservation 
area and the negative impact of removing them, this 
may encourage property owners to retain and care 
for them.

Where there is serious deterioration of buildings 
within the conservation area, the BBNPA has some 

Conservation area 
boundary to remain 
as existing in 
relation to Orchard 
Lane.

P
age 318



(Other issue pressure needs putting on C 
Town Council to do some things stated in the 
LDP)
Parking for walkers, visitors and shoppers is a 
problem at peak and holiday times and is 
affecting the vibrancy of Crickhowell.  There 
have been many meetings on this and a survey 
is needed of the whole town on the whole 
issue.  Some muted solutions were parking 
provided near table mountain for walkers to 
prevent the verge breakdown by substantial 
alleviate parking blocked in farm. (C Town 
Council are in denial of helping this issue even 
though its in the LDP)
There are other ideas for solutions but help is 
needed to get this moved on.
Question why take some houses in Mill Street 
off the Conservation Plan.
Street lighting mentioned as much of it is 
broken or missing is there anything that can be 
aided in getting these fixed - pressure on PCC 
etc.
Not sure why split the 2 areas Llangattock 
allocated as the 2 committees should work 
together to jointly resolve our community 
problems.

powers available to take action.   Primarily this is by 
serving a Section 215 Notice or Urgent Works 
Notice.  However, an Urgent Works Notice is 
limited to works urgently necessary for the 
preservation of a listed building or building within a 
conservation area and may only be temporary 
measures. It is good practice to encourage the 
building owner to undertake the repair work 
voluntarily rather than start by serving a notice.  
The BBNPA has been working on a number of 
cases in Crickhowell; however, it can take some 
time to achieve a positive outcome.  Members of 
the community and local organisations are 
encouraged to highlight cases of particular concern.

Further review of Orchard Lane has been carried 
out as a result of this consultation and it considered 
that the existing boundary should remain.  
Important views of St Edmunds Church are 
obtained from this part of Orchard Lane and the 
area is relevant to the church's setting.

Street lighting is referred to in the chapter on 
Management Plan Recommendations.  The final 
version of the conservation area appraisal will be 
sent to Powys County Council and the BBNPA will 
investigate opportunities to engage with Powys 
County Council and the Town Council to repair 
the attractive lighting in the High Street and 
generally improve the street lighting throughout the 
conservation area.  

Splitting Crickhowell and Llangattock into 2 
conservation areas does not stop the 2 
communities working together.  .  Each settlement 

P
age 319



has its own distinctive characteristics which deserve 
the space to be considered in more detail.  The 
character appraisals for each conservation area can 
then provide a detailed assessment tailored to each 
settlement’s characteristics.

Mrs P Blood Support Was this event advertised in Llangattock?  I 
only heard of it by accident last week.  There 
were not many people looking at the review a 
1:30 to 2:15pm.
I agree with the proposed extension and the 
proposed deletion in Llangattock.

Support for the boundary changes in Llangattock 
are noted.

The Llangattock Community Council were provided 
with posters advertising the consultation to display 
in the village.  Posters were also displayed around 
Crickhowell.  Letters advising of the consultation 
event were sent directly to occupiers of properties 
affected by the changes to the conservation area 
boundary.  Information was also posted on the 
BBNPA website and social media.

No change required

Mr P Blood Support Support the proposed changes to the 
conservation area in Llangattock.  PB
Have a Passive House certified retrofit should 
encourage PH new builds.

Support for changes to the conservation area in 
Llangattock is noted.  

New development in conservation areas is 
expected to integrate sympathetically into the 
historic context; however, this does not rule out 
Passive House new build.  

No change required

P Thomas Support No specific comments, but appreciate that 
Llangattock is to be a conservation area in its 
own right, and the proposals seem very 
sensible.

Support for a separate conservation area for 
Llangattock is noted.

No change required

R Jeremiah Objection See no need for more bureaucracy The first conservation areas were designated in 
1967 under the Civic Amenities Act.  The 
Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area 
was one of the early conservation areas resulting 
from the Act and it has been a conservation area 
for over 45 years.  Under the 1990 Planning (Listed 

No change

P
age 320



Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act, Local 
Authorities have a duty to review the conservation 
area and its boundaries and formulate and publish 
proposals for the preservation and enhancement of 
the area.  This is why this current review has been 
undertaken.  The purpose of the review is to assess 
whether the designated area continues to 
demonstrate clear architectural and / or historic 
interest, and also to establish whether the 
conservation area boundary needs amending.  It is 
also an opportunity to identify potential measures 
for protecting the area and opportunities for 
enhancement.  The draft appraisal for Crickhowell 
and Llangattock has demonstrated that both 
settlements still have a high quality historic 
environment.  There are a few additional planning 
restrictions in addition to those imposed by 
National Park Status.  The additional planning 
restrictions primarily relate to demolition or part 
demolition of an unlisted building or structure, and 
felling or works to trees.

S Smith Object My feeling is this is too late as all the houses on 
Llanbedr Road, both front and back are no 
different to each other in shapes and sizes and 
colours that I welcome a plan that will let us 
keep our uniqueness!

Most of the houses on the west side of Llanbedr 
Road are shown on the 1844 Tithe map for 
Crickhowell indicating that they at least date from 
the early 19th century.  They represent the early 
suburban expansion of Crickhowell, away from the 
denser core of the town.  Numbers 1 – 6 are listed 
and the unlisted houses retain much of their 19th 
century character. There are variations between 
properties and some have less original detail than 
others but overall it is a cohesive row which 
demonstrates a good level of architectural quality 
making the row worthy of inclusion within the 
conservation area.  

No change

P
age 321



T Jones & 
G Jones

Support T Jones: Sensible proposals.  It is good to see 
the impact of traffic on the historic character 
of Llangattock is being recognised as it is a 
point of concern.
G Jones: We would also like to see the 
proposals to take in the surrounding areas in 
close proximity to the canal and historic 
Llangattock Lime Kilns.  Canal House is Grade 
II listed and Wharf Cottage dates from 1821 
and retains some original features.  Two sets of 
limekilns at Brdige 114 and 115 which belong 
to the Canals and Rivers Trust but surrounding 
fields belong to local landowners.  We would 
like to protect the industrial heritage of the 
limekilns as well.

Support for conservation area appraisal is noted.

It is agreed that the canal and the cluster of 
buildings and structures associated with it are of 
historic value.  The process of reviewing the 
conservation area considered whether the 
boundary could be extended to include section of 
canal and buildings.  However the assessment 
concluded that this would mean including a block of 
modern development.  As such it would not be 
possible to create a coherent extension to the 
conservation area.   However, it is in the current 
work programme to assess the section of the 
Monmouthshire and Brecon canal that passes 
through the National Park with view to designating 
it as a conservation area.  This is considered a 
better solution to recognising the quality of the 
buildings and structures clustered along the canal.

No change 

P
age 322


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	Audit and Scrutiny minutes 31 March 2020

	7 2020/21 Borrowing limit approval and prudential code indicators
	2020/21 Borrowing limit approval and prudential code indicators Single Integrated Assessment

	8 Employer's Discretions - Powys Pension Fund
	Employer's Discretions - Powys Pension Fund Single Integrated Assessment
	Enc. 1 for Employer's Discretions - Powys Pension Fund

	9 Appointment of suppliers
	10 State of the Park Report 2020
	Enc. 2 for State of the Park Report 2020

	11 Well-being objectives 2020/21
	12 Welsh Language Promotion Strategy
	Welsh Language Promotion Strategy

	13 Crickhowell and Llangattock Conservation Area
	Enclosure 1 Crickhowell Character Appraisal
	Enclosure 2 - Llangattock Character Appraisal
	Enclosure 3 - Crickhowell CA boundary
	Enclosure 4 - Llangattock CA boundary
	Enclosure 5 - Summary of public consultation
	Enclosure 6 - consultation responses


